Background material to THE ACTION PLAN for **HEALTHY DIETARY HABITS** and **INCREASED PHYSICAL** ACTIVITY

NATIONAL FOOD ADMINISTRATION • NATIONAL INSTITUTE of PUBLIC HEALTH Uppsala and Stockholm, Sweden, July 2005

Contents

Fo	prword	
1	Summary	5
2	Assignment and methodology	
3	Background and problem description	
	Public health problems related to unhealthy dietary habits and	
	physical inactivity	
	Dietary habits and physical activity in different population groups	
	Physical activity	
	Inequalities in health	
	Societal changes impacting dietary habits, physical activity	
	and body weight	
	International action plans for healthy dietary habits, increased physica	al
	activity and the prevention of overweight and obesity	
	Lessons from the current Swedish strategy for nutrition	
	Efforts regarding dietary habits and physical activity on the regional	
	and local level	
	Perspectives to be considered in the assignment	
	Health economics and obesity	
4	Objectives and targets	
	Objectives for societal measures regarding healthy dietary habits	
	and increased physical activity	51
	Targets for healthy dietary habits	
	Targets for physical activity	53
	Targets for body weight	55
5	Strategies to achieve the objectives	59
	The WHOs Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health	59
	A model for public health work	59
	Strategy for achieving healthy dietary habits and increased physical a	ctivity60
6	Measures and motivations	
	Working life policy	64
	Housing policy	
	Public health policy	76
	Research policy	
	Health care policy	
	Sports policy	107
	Consumer policy	117
	Food policy	128
	Environmental policy	143
	Tax policy	150
	Transport policy	156
	Education policy	164
	Policy for the elderly	179

2 Assignment and methodology

The overarching aim of Swedish public health policy is to create societal conditions that will ensure good health on equal terms for the entire population. This also includes creating conditions for healthy dietary habits and sufficient levels of physical activity as these factors are fundamental to good health. The Swedish Government intends to put forward an action plan for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity. To help design the action plan, the Swedish Government commissioned the National Food Administration and the National Institute of Public Health in November 2003 to jointly develop the basis for such a plan. The purpose of a national action plan is to help fulfil the overarching public health aim by implementing measures that improve the conditions for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity in the population.

The basis of the action plan should contain proposals for:

- Targets, including a target for societal measures regarding healthy dietary habits.
- Strategies for achieving these targets.

• Measures aimed at the local, regional and national level, having proved effects to encourage healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity in the population. Innovative measures that have yet to indicated any effect may also be included in the proposals, however.

- Financing and cost estimates for the proposed measures.
- Responsible actor for implementation of each measure.

The living conditions of children and young people should be taken into account as well as how health messages can be disseminated without promoting unhealthy slenderness ideals and excessive dieting. Inequalities in living conditions should constantly be taken into account: between women and men, girls and boys, between socio-economic groups and individuals with differing ethnic and cultural backgrounds. Implementation of the action plan should contribute to the Government's sustainable development efforts.

According to the assignment remit, the National Food Administration and the National Institute of Public Health should consult a number of actors including government agencies, researchers, representatives of municipalities and county councils, clubs and associations and the food industry.

The work began with the collection of as many ideas and experiences as possible from people and organisations with experience and expertise in the field. An inventory of scientific literature and of different types of reports, enquiries and action plans in other countries was also carried out. More light was then shed on certain aspects through t seminars and roundtable discussion with experts as well as via various other enquiries. Reports and abstracts have been regularly posted on the websites of the two agencies throughout the course of the year. Status reports on the drafting of the basis have been presented by the project group at a number of conferences and seminars. Finally, concrete proposals for measures were circulated to various actors for comments.

21

Foreword

On 6 November 2003, the Swedish Government commissioned the National Food Administration and the National Institute of Public Health to develop the basis for an action plan to promote healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity in the Swedish population.

The two agencies each appointed a steering group, under the chairmanship of the directors-general, and a project group. Inger Andersson (chair) and Jerker Sörenson constituted the National Food Administration's steering group and the National Institute of Public Health's steering group comprised Gunnar Ågren (chair), Pia Milton and Bosse Pettersson. The project leaders were Annica Sohlström from the National Food Administration and Liselotte Schäfer Elinder from the National Institute of Public Health.

The project groups of the respective agencies comprised (for the National Food Administration): Lena Björck, Åke Bruce, Elisabet Hay, Jan Movitz and Monika Pearson; and (for the National Institute of Public Health): Carin Bokedal, Johan Faskunger, Filippa von Haartman and Peter Lamming. Johan Tranqvist was also a member of the project group up until 31 May 2004. Maj Sölvesdotter joined the project group in October 2004.

Elisabet Aldenberg, Mats Bjurvald, Jonas Frykman, Anita Linell and Sara Sjölund from the National Institute of Public Health have all contributed texts. Ulf Gertham from Lund University and Matti Leijon from the County Council of Östergötland have also provided valuable input. Furthermore, several experts from within the two agencies have contributed useful advice and comments.

Background material regarding certain factual matters has been submitted by Per Haglind, Martin Jansson, Magnus Ljung, Ylva Mattsson Sydner, Maria Rosén and Inga Swanberg. Merethe Andersen has been responsible for layout and editing.

We would also like to extend our gratitude to all those who have contributed to the project at hearings, seminars, round-table discussion and in expert groups.

Uppsala and Stockholm, February 2005

Inger Andersson Director-general National Food Administration *Gunnar Ågren* Director-general National Institute of Public Health

1 Summary

Assignment and methodology

The Swedish Government intends to put forward an action plan for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity. The aim of such an action plan is to introduce measures to improve the prerequisites for healthy dietary habits and physical activity in order to contribute to the overall public health aim: To create societal conditions which ensure good health, on equal terms, for the entire population.

The Swedish National Food Administration and the Swedish National Institute of Public Health were commissioned to draw up background material for an action plan containing proposals for measurable targets (including a target for societal measures regarding healthy dietary habits), strategies for achieving such targets, measures to be implemented by the relevant actors, funding and cost estimates of the proposed measures. Particular attention had to be paid to the living conditions of children and young people. Gender, socio-economic status and ethnicity were also to be considered. The background material will help the Government in its quest towards sustainable development.

During the course of the project, the ideas and experiences of representatives of municipalities, county councils, schools, the food industry, the media, central agencies, universities, NGOs and international experts were considered. This was achieved through hearings, round-table discussions and seminars. In addition, some evaluations and reviews on relevant topics were carried out. Current scientific evidence was obtained from literature, reports, investigations and action plans in other countries. Progress reports on the drafting of the background material have been presented by the project group at a number of conferences and seminars. Reports have also been regularly posted on the websites of both agencies. Concrete measures have been finalised after consultation with a number of key stakeholders. The costs of proposed government measures actions have been calculated, but it has not been possible to give detailed estimates due to a lack of time.

Background and problem description

Public health issues related to dietary habits and physical inactivity

Dietary habits and physical inactivity contribute to mortality and several common non-communicable diseases. WHO estimates that 80 per cent of cardiovascular disease, 90 per cent of type 2 diabetes and 30 per cent of all cancers could be prevented by a healthy diet, adequate amounts of physical activity and by people not smoking. Too high an energy intake and physical inactivity are also the direct causes of the increasing prevalence of overweight and obesity.

5

In Sweden, the proportion of obese adults has doubled since 1980, while the prevalence of overweight men and women has increased by 20 and 30 per cent respectively during the same period. Today, over half of all Swedish men and a third of women are overweight or obese. Eleven per cent of men are obese, while the corresponding figure for women is 9 per cent. In Sweden, there is currently no national representative or all-inclusive data on children's weight and height. Various studies show that 15 to 20 per cent of children are overweight, and 1 to 5 per cent of these are obese. The results of various studies indicate that the prevalence of overweight and obesity among children has increased between two- and five-fold since the mid-1980s, mirroring the international trend. Obesity in children and adults gives rise to great human suffering.

Obesity and related diseases are among the most unevenly distributed health conditions and the trend is towards an increase in social differences. There is also a social difference as regards cardiovascular diseases. Mortality is 1.5 times higher among the working class and poorly educated compared with the rest of the population.

Dietary habits and physical activity

Swedes are unlikely to suffer from vitamin, mineral or protein deficiency, but 90 per cent of the adult population eats less than the recommended amount of fibre. The increased prevalence of overweight shows that total food consumption is higher than the requirement. Eighty per cent of the population eat too much fat, 96 per cent eat too much saturated fat and half eat too much sugar. Studies on children show similar figures. Young, poorly educated men generally eat a less healthy diet than other groups. Children whose parents have only a short education have a worse diet, and are often more overweight, than those whose parents have a longer education.

Around half of all adults exercise less than the recommended amount and 14 per cent of the population lead a more or less sedentary lifestyle in their spare time. Among 15-year-olds, 36 per cent of the girls and 22 per cent of the boys do not take the recommended amount of exercise. A sedentary lifestyle is more common for the lower educated, those with an immigrant background and among low-income groups.

Societal changes impacting dietary habits and physical activity

Technological changes and an increasing global food production in combination with economic growth have had a positive effect on health, but these factors have also contributed to reduced physical activity levels and altered dietary habits.

The growth of motoring, the invasion of TV and computers and an evermore automised workplace in recent decades have led to a decrease in human energy expenditure. Even though the effects of each single technological innovation may be small, together they contribute to a considerably lower energy requirement. Compared with earlier times, physical activity is now performed to a higher degree in leisure time than at work. The increasing interest in exercise during the past decade has not compensated for the decrease in physical activity at work and active transport (walking or cycling). A sedentary lifestyle is a strong contributory factor in the development of overweight and obesity. In today's society, therefore, individuals must avail of every opportunity for physical activity, e.g. by using the stairs instead of the lift and walking or cycling instead of taking the bus or car. This requires an active and conscious action on the part of the individual. However, it also requires conscious action on the part of society to create an environment that promotes and facilitates everyday physical activity in all population groups.

In the EU, average energy availability from food is around 3,500 kcal per day, while the requirement is on average just over 2,000 kcal per day. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), energy availability from food is expected to continue to increase in the next 25 years. Historically, food prices relative to income have never been as low as they are today. This has been achieved through higher productivity in agriculture and has naturally provided the basis for people to improve their diet. However, increased access to food in combination with decreasing prices and increasing consumer income has also led to an over-consumption of food. The measurable increase in energy intake in Sweden has been around 100 kcal per day over a period of 8 years. This may seem little, but an extra daily intake of this size for one year corresponds to the energy contained in 4-5 kg of adipose tissue.

For the individual consumer, these changes mean that food is now more available throughout society. Portion or package sizes of e.g. fast food, soft drinks, sweets, ice cream, crisps, cakes and biscuits have also grown. Marketing of food, especially of the products mentioned, has increased in scope and sophistication (e.g. by exploiting lifestyle, group affinity and emotions), in turn contributing to increased consumption.

Foods that have been particularly implicated as contributory factors to obesity include energy-dense and low-nutrient items, soft drinks and probably even alcohol.

Today's society requires a very active and knowledgeable consumer who can resist the constant temptation to eat and drink. Apart from better information and awareness by consumers, action is needed on the part of society to reduce the availability and demand for soft drinks, sweets, ice cream, crisps, cakes and biscuits and to increase those for healthy foods.

There is no scientific evidence to show that measures to reduce obesity lead to an increased prevalence of eating disorders in the population. However, uncontrolled dieting by children and young people may lead to eating disorders. Prevention of obesity among children and young people and qualified treatment of obesity should therefore lead to a decreased incidence of eating disorders in the long term.

A review of health promotion activities at the municipal level in Sweden showed that 26 out of a total of 290 municipalities had an action plan for physical activity and only 13 had one for healthy dietary habits. This highlights the great need for the development of community-based measures to promote healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity.

7

Lessons from the current Swedish strategy for nutrition

An action plan for nutrition was adopted by the Swedish Government in 1995. A strategy was then devised at the central agency level including concrete measures to achieve the targets established as part of the action plan. The document is entitled 'Swedish National Aims and Strategies for Nutrition, 1999-2004'. An evaluation of this document showed that despite being considered useful, it has not fulfilled its intended function. A number of concrete suggestions were given for how a proposed action plan could be successfully implemented:

- The action plan should originate from the government and/or parliament.
- Health promotion concerning healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity should be institutionalised at the local and regional level in order to ensure coordination and continuity.
- All those affected by the action plan should have a participatory role.
- An action plan should not be designed as a wish list. It must also be possible to put the plan into practice. It is insufficient to merely suggest what is to be achieved, e.g. healthy school meals, there must also be a description of how this can be achieved.
- Adequate resources should be guaranteed for advocacy, development and implementation. The implementation of an action plan requires continuity, structure, farsightedness and resources.
- Methods should be created for monitoring and evaluation during the implementation phase. Quantifiable targets should be continually evaluated.

Health economics and obesity

The direct costs of obesity and obesity-related diseases in Sweden are currently around 2 per cent of the total healthcare budget, i.e. approximately SEK 3 billion (EUR 332 million) per year. The indirect costs of sick leave and early retirement caused by obesity are not known, but they are probably several times that amount. If the prevalence of obesity continues to increase at the same rate as in the 1990s, it is estimated that 60 per cent of Swedes will be overweight or obese by 2030, which would mean that the costs of obesity to the Swedish health care system would increase by 120 per cent between 2003 and 2030. Such development would be unsustainable in both health and economic terms.

To identify the most cost-effective measures for society, we must invest in cost effectiveness analyses. Such analyses investigate the relationship between the possible health effects of a certain measure and the costs of implementing that measure. However, the knowledge base for carrying out such analyses is currently inadequate, which means caution must be exercised in choosing among available options. Central government, county councils and municipalities can probably save costs in both the short and long term by promoting healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity in the population and thus decreasing the incidence of overweight and obesity and other lifestyle-related diseases.

Objectives and targets

Objectives and targets for societal measures regarding healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity

1. Society should be organised in such a way as to make it easy for all groups in the population to have healthy dietary habits.

2. Society should be organised in such a way as to provide the conditions for increased physical activity for all groups in the population.

Targets for healthy dietary habits

- 1. Increase consumption of fruit and vegetables.
- 2. Increase consumption of keyhole-labelled food.
- 3. Reduce consumption of foods such as soft drinks, sweets, crisps, cakes, biscuits, ice cream and alcoholic drinks.

The Nordic Nutrition Recommendations are published by the Nordic Council of Ministers after consultation with Nordic researchers and representatives of national authorities. The recommendations are based on evaluation of the scientific literature available at the time of each revision. Dietary advice is drawn up based on the nutrition recommendations. In other words, the nutrition recommendations are 'converted' into food. A comparison of a diet fulfilling all the nutrition recommendations for the average Swedish diet shows that the most significant changes in diet from a public health perspective would be:

- Doubled consumption of fruit and vegetables (recommended consumption is at least 500 grams per day for adults and approximately 400 grams per day for children 4-10 years).
- Doubled consumption of bread, particularly wholegrain bread (recommended consumption is 150–200 grams of bread per day).
- Change to liquid cooking fats and oils.
- Choose keyhole-labelled dairy and processed meat products.
- Doubled consumption of fish (recommended consumption is 2–3 times per week).
- Halved intake of salt (recommended intake is 5–6 grams per day).
- Halved consumption of soft drinks, sweets, ice cream, crisps, cakes, biscuits and alcoholic drinks (max. 15 per cent of energy intake should come from such products, including alcohol, which should not exceed 5 per cent of energy intake).

Targets for physical activity

- 1. Increase the proportion of healthy adults who take at least 30 minutes of moderate physical activity every day, or a total of least 3.5 hours per week.
- 2. Increase the proportion of healthy children who are physically active for at least 60 minutes of moderate exercise every day, or a total of least 7 hours per week.
- 3. Decrease the proportion of children and adults with a sedentary lifestyle.

The current recommendation for at least 30 minutes of moderately intensive physical activity daily (for example brisk walks) is primarily based on its impact on cardio vascular health. This recommendation has a strong, scientific connection with functional effects such as a reduction in blood pressure and blood sugar levels and improved heart function. The recommended level of activity facilitates weight control, especially in people with a relatively sedentary lifestyle. However, with increasing energy intake in the population, as is the case today, 45-60 minutes per day of at least moderate exercise are required to maintain a stable body weight. People who have been overweight or obese, but who have lost weight, require 60-90 minutes of at least moderate physical activity per day to maintain their current weight. The public health effects are particularly significant if the elderly and people with a sedentary lifestyle can be stimulated to become physically active.

Physical activity in children contributes to physical development, maintenance of energy balance, well-being, bone strength and mobility. At the same time, physical activity is important for play and recreation, in learning motor and social skills and in the development of creativity. It is recommended that children are physically active 60 minutes per day at a moderately intensive level, of which two sessions per week should contain activities that develop skeletal strength, endurance and mobility.

Targets for body weight

- 1. Prevent weight gain from normal to overweight in adults.
- 2. Promote normal weight gain in children.

Health promotion and disease prevention aims to ensure that fewer people become overweight, especially children. For children who are still growing, and gain weight for that reason, the main aim is to ensure that their weight does not deviate from established weight curves. Overweight children do not need to achieve weight loss. Their BMI can be normalised if they maintain a fixed weight while still growing in height.

There are already objectives and aims formulated within each policy area some of which lend excellent support to the promotion of healthy dietary habits and physical activity

Strategy for achieving the targets

Changes in society have had a considerable effect on dietary habits and physical activity. To improve people's dietary habits and increase their physical activity, changes must first be directed at the societal level, where the prerequisites for healthy dietary habits and physical activity are created, so that it becomes easy to lead healthy lifestyles. It is particularly important to influence the supply, availability and/or demand for food and physical activity in combination with consistent messages about healthy dietary habits and physical activity. Experience shows that people more often make healthy choices if the surrounding environment is supportive. On the basis of the Swedish public health policy, the WHO global strategy and current research in public

health, the strategy for achieving the targets set for healthy dietary habits, physical activity and body weight is as follows:

- Measures must be directed at both the societal and individual level.
- Measures must be long-term.
- Resources must be made available for implementation.
- Measures must be implemented and coordinated at the national, regional and local level.
- Measures must build on partnerships between the public, private and nonprofit sectors.
- Measures at the national level are incorporated into those government policy areas which have the greatest influence on people's dietary habits and physical activity.
- Interventions must take local conditions into consideration and be based on public participation.
- Evaluation and monitoring must be continuously integrated into the process.

Proposals for measures to improve the prerequisites for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity

A systematic review carried out by the Swedish Council on Technology Assessment in Health Care (SBU) in 2004 revealed that it is possible to prevent obesity in children and young people through limited school-based programmes stimulating children to improve their dietary habits often in combination with more physical activity. However, the effects are rather weak and difficult to measure without simultaneous interventions being carried out in the home environment, leisure time and society as a whole. There is a lack of published studies on broad multisectoral interventions of the type recommended here.

The evidence for prevention of obesity in healthy adults is somewhat weaker than for children, although intervention studies concerning patients with several risk factors for cardiovascular disease have successfully identified weight loss. The conclusion is that it is difficult to achieve lifestyle changes in healthy adults without considerable societal changes. Large sections of the population cannot be

without considerable societal changes. Large sections of the population cannot be reached using health education alone.

The background material for the action plan contains a total of 79 different proposals for measures. An actor is allocated specific responsibility for each measure. Frequently it is specified that an action be introduced in collaboration or consultation with other specified actors. The costs to central government actors are specified when the proposed measure requires state funding in excess of the ordinary budget of the agency in question. The costs to municipalities and county councils are not specified. However, implementation of a number of the proposed measures will require additional funding.

The measures are listed by policy area in accordance with the Swedish governmental administrative system. The policy areas described are felt to be highly important in influencing social conditions for healthy dietary habits and physical activity. Measures to be performed by actors other than national agencies have been listed under the most appropriate policy area.

Of the 79 proposed measures, 50 are to be carried out by the government or central agency, 14 by municipalities, 7 by county councils, 4 by NGOs, 2 by universities/ university colleges and 2 by county administrative boards. Eleven different central agencies are given as lead actors.

The proposed measures are mainly based on evidence in the scientific literature and/or experience described in various types of reports. Many are in line with what is proposed in other countries' action plans for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity. A particular characteristic of the Swedish background material is that measures are proposed within such a large number of policy areas, marking a new and broader approach. This is in line with the Swedish public health policy and underlines the need for health impact assessments within policy areas not previously considered as having an impact on public health. In addition, there are proposals for government enquiries into the possible taxation of unhealthy foods and subsidies to healthy foods. It is also proposed that diet and health issues be included in national food inspection and enforcement activities.

Measures that promote the creation of supportive environments for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity for children and young people should be given priority in the first phase, along with research into these issues. To implement the action plan, measures regarding its coordination and monitoring must also be prioritised. The measures affect many sectors in society and there are synergy effects to be gained from measures being implemented within the different policy areas.

How the <u>local environment</u> is designed is crucial to people's ability and desire to engage in physical activity. The supply of food available locally can affect food habits. Within this area, there are measures relating to active transport, housing environments, outdoor recreation, sports, activities for the elderly and food supplied in publicly-funded premises.

<u>Schools and pre-schools</u> reach all children. Health education concerns food, physical activity and health. The school environment is also very important for a health-promoting lifestyle. Proposed actions involve amendments to school legislation, reinforcement of health education concerning food and physical activity, school meals, the physical and social school environment, leisure activities at school and school healthcare.

<u>The health and medical service</u> reaches a very large proportion of the population via its maternal healthcare, child healthcare and dental care activities, often in a life situation where the individual is strongly motivated to live a healthier life. This provides the potential for methods such as motivational interviewing and preventive programmes, which can be very significant for socio-economically disadvantaged groups. Within this sector, there are also measures regarding the supply of foods available within the health and medical service.

<u>Professional training and communication</u>: A prerequisite for schools and the health and medical service to able to exploit their health-promoting potential as regards food and physical activity is that the staff is well trained and that training is given priority by decision-makers. It is therefore proposed that courses on food and physical activity be included in secondary school and university/college programmes leading to a profession in healthcare and teaching, in addition to comprehensive training of these professional groups. A strategy for health communication concerning healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity to the public must be developed.

<u>The workplace</u> reaches the greatest proportion of the adult population and has good potential to promote healthy dietary habits and physical activity during the working day. Proposed actions include certification of health-promoting workplaces and guidelines for food available in the workplace.

<u>The food industry</u> through its supply management, pricing, and marketing strategies represents both part of the problem and part of the solution for better dietary habits. The proposed measures concern agricultural policy, marketing, food labelling, food inspection and enforcement and public inquiries on taxes and meal subsidies.

All the proposed measures are summarised in the table on the following pages.

14 SUMMARY – Background material to the action plan for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity

Proposed measures of the action plan for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity

Mea- sure no.	Description of measure	Lead actor	Cost to govern- ment	Policy area	Domain
1	Criteria should be developed for the certification of health-promoting workplaces including policies for food and physical activity.	National Institute for Working Life and Swedish Work Environment Authority		Working life	Workplace
2	Proposals should be developed for how knowledge and skills on food and physical activity can be included as a recurring feature in the reemployment policy programme.	Swedish National Labour Market Administration		Working life	Workplace
3	The multisectoral group of agencies working on 'Landscape Appre- ciation Values' should receive continued support. Aspects of security and safety should be particularly considered to improve the prerequisi- tes for physical activity for all.	National Board of Housing, Building and Planning		Housing	Local environ- ment
4	A intersectoral development project on the importance of the housing environment for physical activity among children and adults should be initiated.	National Board of Housing, Building and Planning		Housing	Local environ- ment
5	The Government's Council for Architecture, Form and Design should develop ideas relating to how architecture can contribute to physical activity, e.g. developing methods to encourage people to regularly use the stairs.	Government		Housing	Local environ- ment
6	Government should introduce a specific programme and devote resources to make an inventory of, refurbish and renovate school and pre-school playgrounds so that they inspire play, movement, sport and outdoor education.	Government	EUR 5.3 m/yr	Housing	Local environ- ment
7	A national committee should be created to coordinate, implement and monitor the forthcoming action plan for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity focusing on obesity issues. In addition to the relevant agencies, scientists and NGOs should be included. The group should report annually to the National Public Health Executive Committee.	National Institute of Public Health	EUR 53.000/yr	Public health	Implemen- tation and evaluation
8	Each municipality will be encouraged to establish a public health board or equivalent. This board should include experts in the area of diet and physical activity who should integrate these issues into community-based health promotion.	Municipalities		Public health	Implemen- tation and evaluation
9	Health impact assessment methods should be developed further with particular emphasis on dietary habits and physical activity. The health impacts of changes in marketing, price, availability and consumption of energy-dense and low-nutrient foods should be assessed.	National Institute of Public Health		Public health	Implemen- tation and evaluation
10	An index should be developed for surveying food availability (supply and price of keyhole-labelled food, fruit, vegetables, and energy-dense foods). The index should be used for local planning.	National Institute of Public Health		Public health	Implemen- tation and evaluation
11	A national database should be set up for reporting and monitoring children's height and weight. This work should be carried out in collaboration with child healthcare and the school healthcare service. Data on breastfeeding from child healthcare records should be included in the database.	National Board of Health and Welfare	EUR 53.000/yr	Public health	Implemen- tation and evaluation
12	Methods should be developed for monitoring children's dietary habits and physical activity, body weight and aspects of mental health in combination with socio-economic factors.	National Institute of Public Health	EUR 680.000	Public health	Implemen- tation and evaluation

Mea- sure no.	Description of measure	Lead actor	Cost to govern- ment	Policy area	Domain
13	A health communication strategy for healthy dietary habits, increased physical activity and prevention of overweight directed at the public should be developed. This strategy should describe implementation at the national, regional and local level. Health communication should be target group-specific and utilise the tools and potential provided by modern technology. The strategy should also include evaluation methodology.	National Institute of Public Health		Public health	Vocational training and communi- cation
14	Every municipality should adopt a policy regarding the food provided in municipal establishments.	Municipalities		Public health	Local environ- ment
15	A consortium should be set up with representatives from various research councils with the aim of initiating a number of long-term research projects, mainly intervention research concerning diet and physical activity.	Government	EUR 8.5 m/yr over 7 yrs	Research	Implemen- tation and evaluation
16	Contracts or commissions should contain requirements for health- related parameters and health effects to be included in reports from the various healthcare units. In addition, these healthcare units, including dental care services, should to a greater extent be called on to develop and implement health promotion and disease prevention programmes, particularly relating to healthy dietary habits and physical activity.	County councils		Health and Medical care	Health and medical care
17	When procuring food for patients, staff and visitors to restaurants, cafes, vending machines, kiosks, etc. in health care premises, purchasers should require that healthy snacks and keyhole-labelled meals dominate the total supply.	County councils		Health and medical care	Health and medical care
18	Health communication should be improved within the maternity and child healthcare services as part of health promotion efforts with all pregnant women and parents aimed at promoting healthy lifestyles, especially dietary habits and physical activity. Specific health communication can e.g. form part of a parent support programme.	County councils		Health and medical care	Health and medical care
19	The school healthcare service should promote healthy lifestyles among children and parents. Health education should be further developed as part of health promotion activities to promote healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity. Pupil height and weight should be routinely recorded.	Municipalities		Health and medical care	Schools
20	Preventive programmes for lifestyle-related diseases should be further developed and implemented, e.g. for overweight individuals and others with risk factors for diseases associated with dietary habits and physical inactivity.	County councils		Health and medical care	Health and medical care
21	Training in motivational interviewing techniques for changing lifestyle in general, and diet and physical activity in particular, should be provided for healthcare professionals in the maternity, child, dental, primary, secondary and school healthcare services. A training package should be developed and disseminated in cooperation with universities/ university colleges, relevant professional organisations, etc.	County councils		Health and medical care	Vocational training and communi- cation
22	Relevant national agencies should actively participate in the develop- ment and dissemination of evidence-based methodology concerning health promotion and disease prevention programmes, including motivational interviewing techniques for healthier lifestyles.	National Board of Health and Welfare and/or National Institute of Public Health		Health and medical care	Health and medical care
23	Systems should be developed for applying, monitoring and evaluating 'physical activity on prescription' initiatives as part of health promo- tion and disease prevention in the health service.	National Consultation Group for Physical Activity on Prescription	EUR 105.000	Health and medical care	Health and medical care

Mea- sure no.	Description of measure	Lead actor	Cost to govern- ment	Policy area	Domain
24	Cultural competence should be improved in health promotion and disease prevention concerning healthy lifestyles, particularly with regard to diet and physical activity.	County councils		Health and medical care	Health and medical care
25	Health discussions on dietary habits of children and the family should routinely be carried out as a part of dental health checks/visits to the dentist's.	County councils		Health and medical care	Health and medical care
26	A health economics evaluation should be carried out on the 'Hand- slaget med idrotten' (Handshake with Sport) initiative.	Government		Sport	Local environ- ment
27	The Swedish Sports Confederation should develop its policy docu- ment 'Sports will, aims and guidelines for the sports movement in the twentieth century' to include more public health issues in general and relationships between food and health in particular, and draw up recommendations for sponsorship in sport. Participation by women and girls in sport should be reinforced at all levels.	Swedish Sports Confederation		Sport	Local environ- ment
28	Municipalities should carry out an inventory of their current facilities for exercise and spontaneous sport from the point of view of gender equality and equal opportunities and expand them where necessary. Municipalities should ensure that all those living in urban areas have access to local sports facilities within 2.5 km of home and more basic facilities within 1 km of home. It should also be possible and safe to get there by active or public transport.	Municipalities		Sport	Local environ- ment
29	Sports and leisure clubs in collaboration with county councils should train leaders in 'physical activity on prescription' according to methods developed by SISU Sports Education and organise local activities.	Swedish Sports Confederation		Sport	Local environ- ment
30	The sports movement should develop its activities so as to attract people with a sedentary lifestyle, people with an immigrant back- ground and those with disabilities who wish to participate in amateur sports. The Sports for All Council should be given more resources to open doors for more people.	Swedish Sports Confederation		Sport	Local environ- ment
31	Education programmes for sports leaders/coaches should contain courses about the importance of dietary habits for health and about eating disorders and sports anorexia.	Swedish Sports Confederation		Sport	Local environ- ment
32	Sweden should work at the EU level to ensure that TV food advertising targeted at children is banned throughout the EU.	Government		Consu- mer	Food sector
33	The prerequisites for restricting food marketing activities targeted at children should be examined, e.g. in respect of existing legislation. Trends in marketing should be continually monitored. A collaborative group for responsible marketing should be created.	Swedish Consumer Agency		Consu- mer	Food sector
34	Consumer organisations should be able to apply for funding from the Swedish Consumer Agency for monitoring and publicising developments in the marketing of soft drinks, sweets, crisps, cakes and biscuits and ice cream directed at children, and to initiate a debate on such marketing.	Swedish Consumer Agency	EUR 530.000 /y	Consu- mer	Food sector
35	Material directed at young people about food marketing in relation to health should be produced.	Swedish Consumer Agency	EUR 53.000	Consu- mer	Schools
36	Municipalities and schools should adopt a food sponsorship policy. The guide developed by the Swedish Consumer Agency, the Swedish National Agency for Education and the Swedish Association of Local Authorities should be used as a starting point.	Municipalities		Consu- mer	Schools
37	The Government should develop a form of dialogue with the food sector's various trade organisations in the areas of food production, distribution, retail and catering, in order to discuss how the food sector can contribute to healthy dietary habits. The result may be a voluntary agreement, such as an ethical code.	Government		Consu- mer	Food sector

Mea: sure	Description of measure	Lead actor	Cost to	Policy area	Domain
no.			govern- ment		
38	Public health impacts should be assessed and considered in relevant international negotiations and in particular regarding reforms to the EU Common Agricultural Policy. The effects of product support should be given particular consideration.	Government		Food	Food sector
39	In the EU Commission's impending review of the directive on nutrition labelling, Sweden should work to ensure that nutrition labelling be made compulsory for all pre-packaged foods and that all such labelling also contain details about fat quality, sugar and salt (for relevant products).	Government		Food	Food sector
40	An enquiry should be carried out on how diet and health issues can be included in the national food safety work and on how food inspection and enforcement activities can be expanded to include nutritional aspects. Such measures could be linked to companies' self- inspection programmes.	Government		Food	Food sector
41	The prerequisites should be investigated for requiring the relevant employers in the food sector to ensure their employees have the necessary training in basic diet and health issues.	National Food Administration		Food	Food sector
42	Data on food supply, food prices and marketing of certain food groups (fruit, vegetables, keyhole-labelled foods, sweets, crisps, soft drinks, cakes, biscuits and ice cream) should be compiled annually and pub- lished in the Statistical Yearbook of Sweden.	Swedish Board of Agriculture		Food	Food sector
43	The work of applying keyhole-labelling should be intensified, parti- cularly regarding labelling of meals and inspection/enforcement of this within the restaurant and large-scale catering sector.	National Food Administration		Food	Food sector
44	Nationally representative dietary surveys should be carried out so that different age groups are monitored every 10 years. These surveys should also contain validated questions on physical activity and body weight. The surveys should be supplemented with targeted studies on different population groups (in terms of ethnicity, socio-economics, gender), and specific studies on certain food groups.	National Food Administration	EUR 320.000 /yr	Food	Implemen- tation and evaluation
45	Information on healthy dietary habits and physical activity should be developed, expanded and made more accessible to different vocational groups (information disseminators).	National Food Administration and National Institute of Public Health	EUR 2.1 m over 3 yrs, then EUR 165.000/ yr	Food	Vocational training and communi- cation
46	A national programme should be developed for training of relevant staff within different professional areas such as healthcare, education, elderly care and the food sector. This programme should include both a common knowledge base as regards diet – physical activity – health and a number of target group-specific applications directed at particular vocational groups.	National Food Administration	SEK 210.000 /yr for 3 yrs, then EUR 53.000 /yr for 5 yrs	Food	Vocational training and communi- cation
47	Guidelines for food in the workplace should be developed, dissemina- ted and evaluated.	National Food Administration	EUR 53.000/yr for 3 yrs	Food	Workplace
48	Guidelines for all meals provided in pre-school, pre-school class, compulsory school and upper secondary school should be developed, disseminated and evaluated.	National Food Administration	EUR 53.000/yr for 2 yrs	Food	Education
49	The National Council for Outdoor Recreation should be given further scope to assist the Environmental Protection Agency in developing access to outdoor recreation, to advise agencies and others on such issues and to strengthen its own research expertise.	Government		Environ- ment	Local environ- ment

Mea- sure no.	Description of measure	Lead actor	Cost to govern- ment	Policy area	Domain
50	Non-governmental outdoor recreation organisations should, similarly to the sports movements, be given increased economic funding to encourage more people to become physically active. Particular efforts should be made to encourage children and young people, people with immigrant backgrounds, the elderly, the unemployed and the chroni- cally ill to be more physically active outdoors. The National Council for Outdoor Recreation should be responsible for distributing and evaluating such funding.	Government		Environ- ment	Local environ- ment
51	Outdoor recreation should be actively encouraged to attract new groups and hence reduce inactivity. County administrative boards should be actively involved and be given extra resources for this.	County administrative boards	EUR 2.2 m/yr	Environ- ment	Local environ- ment
52	A health impact assessment should be included as a criterion when allocating funding to the Government's local nature conservation programmes. The projects should be evaluated from a public health perspective.	Government		Environ- ment	Local environ- ment
53	As a foundation for their overall plans, municipalities should develop nature conservation programmes, e.g. with the aim of preserving and developing outdoor recreation and the scope for physical activity. Health impact assessments should be carried out in parallel with, or as part of, the environmental impact assessments of planned projects.	Municipalities		Environ- ment	Local environ- ment
54	An enquiry should investigate the potential for reducing consumption of chocolate, confectionery and soft drinks using taxation or other economic instruments, and the scope for reducing fat and sugar intake in general through taxation.	Government		Tax	Food sector
55	A European conference should be convened on the scope for tax policy measures within the area of diet and health.	Government	EUR 105.000	Tax	Food sector
56	The scope for tax-subsidised keyhole-labelled meals should be investi- gated. Such an investigation should also determine the prerequisites for a satisfactory level of supervision of the keyhole-label, perhaps via an autonomous certification system.	Government		Tax	Food sector
57	The National Cycle Strategy should be expanded and implemented. Cycling should be included in the National Road Database to allow resource inputs to be evaluated. Planning of public roads should include a good infrastructure for safe cycleways and footpaths. The background material for decisions should include social impact assessments. A manual/handbook should be produced to reinforce assessment of the economic benefits for society of investments in the local cycling infrastructure.	Swedish Road Administration	EUR 220.000	Tran- sport	Local environ- ment
58	Measures for pedestrians and cycle traffic should be included in county transport plans and contain social impact assessments.	County administrative boards		Tran- sport	Local environ- ment
59	A state programme for co-funding local footpaths and cycleways should be established.	Government	EUR I I m/yr	Tran- sport	Local environ- ment
60	To increase the scope for active transport, speed restriction measures should be adopted in residential areas. Different categories of road- users should be separated as far as possible. Local infrastructure should be adapted to the needs of pedestrians, cyclists and persons with disabilities.	Municipalities		Tran- sport	Local environ- ment
61	The work of the Swedish Road Administration with children and young people in traffic should be given a high priority.	Swedish Road Administration		Tran- sport	Local environ- ment
62	The new Education Act should include the concept of 'health' in its opening paragraph. Under the Act, meals served in pre-school, compulsory school and upper secondary school should be in line with national nutrition recommendations.	Government		Educa- tion	Schools
63	Domestic and Consumer Science should be introduced as a core subject in upper secondary schools.	Government		Educa- tion	Schools

Mea· sure no.	Description of measure	Lead actor	Cost to govern-	Policy area	Domain
64	Funding should be distributed by the Swedish National Agency for School Improvement to schools wishing to develop pilot projects on	Government	EUR 2.2 m/yr	Educa- tion	Schools
65	healthy dietary habits and physical activity. Issues of diet and physical activity should be integrated with, and occupy a central role in sustainable development education in schools and higher education	Government		Educa- tion	Schools
66	Continued funding and an extended mandate should be given to the National Centre for the Promotion of Physical Activity in schools so that it can work towards the integration of healthy dietary habits and physical activity and also include pre-schools.	Government	EUR 630.000 /yr	Educa- tion	Schools
67	The school subject Sport and Health (physical education) should be further developed and quality-assured. The needs of low-activity children should be given particular consideration, as should the gender perspective in education.	Swedish National Agency for Education		Educa- tion	Schools
68	Quality indicators for education as regards healthy dietary habits, physical activity and health and for health-promoting environments with respect to diet and physical activity in pre-schools and schools should be developed and included in inspection, assessment and evaluation activities.	Swedish National Agency for Education		Educa- tion	School
69	The quality audits of the work of pre-schools and schools performed by municipalities should include a report on how the environment promotes diet and physical activity. Teaching diet habits and health should also form one of the indicator domains.	Municipalities		Educa- tion	Schools
70	The subject Domestic and Consumer Science should be reinforced. Particular emphasis should be placed on the importance of diet and health and knowledge of food marketing. The gender perspective in teaching should be considered.	Municipalities		Educa- tion	Schools
71	After-school care that includes physical activity should be developed and quality-assured within the education system.	Municipalities		Educa- tion	School
72	Work on healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity in schools should be integrated with the efforts to strengthen social relationships and mental health.	Municipalities		Educa- tion	Schools
73	Vocational upper secondary school programmes leading to jobs in healthcare, preschool, the food sector and social services, such as nursing assistants, catering staff and child carers, should contain the core subjects of diet, physical activity and health.	Government		Educa- tion	Schools
74	University/university college programmes on healthy dietary habits, physical activity and health education should be developed. These could be included as optional or compulsory components of vocational programmes aimed at jobs within education, social services, healthcare and food inspection.	University/ university college		Educa- tion	Schools
75	The number of places on teacher-training programmes in Domestic and Consumer Science should be increased, as should the scope for students on teacher training programmes at other universities/ university colleges to supplement their studies with such courses.	University/ university college		Educa- tion	School
76	An enquiry should be set up to analyse how meals/mealtimes are organised within the elderly care service.	National Board of Health and Welfare	EUR 53.000	Elderly care	Local environ- ment
77	Guidelines and quality indicators for food and physical activity should be developed within elderly care.	Municipalities		Elderly care	Local environ- ment
78	Elderly people should have the option of daily physical activity that is appropriate with respect to their age and health status and daily out-door activity to improve strength, mobility, fitness, coordination and balance. Exercise programmes adapted to the needs of the elderly should be developed. Elderly people living at home should receive preventive home visits including advice on appropriate diet and physical activity.	Municipalities		Elderly care	Local environ- ment
79	Municipalities should create meeting places in the local environment that promote physical activity and healthy dietary habits among the elderly and that reduce isolation and inactivity.	Municipalities		Elderly care	Local environ- ment

2 Assignment and methodology

The overarching aim of Swedish public health policy is to create societal conditions that will ensure good health on equal terms for the entire population. This also includes creating conditions for healthy dietary habits and sufficient levels of physical activity as these factors are fundamental to good health. The Swedish Government intends to put forward an action plan for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity. To help design the action plan, the Swedish Government commissioned the National Food Administration and the National Institute of Public Health in November 2003 to jointly develop the basis for such a plan. The purpose of a national action plan is to help fulfil the overarching public health aim by implementing measures that improve the conditions for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity in the population.

The basis of the action plan should contain proposals for:

- Targets, including a target for societal measures regarding healthy dietary habits.
- Strategies for achieving these targets.

• Measures aimed at the local, regional and national level, having proved effects to encourage healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity in the population. Innovative measures that have yet to indicated any effect may also be included in the proposals, however.

- Financing and cost estimates for the proposed measures.
- Responsible actor for implementation of each measure.

The living conditions of children and young people should be taken into account as well as how health messages can be disseminated without promoting unhealthy slenderness ideals and excessive dieting. Inequalities in living conditions should constantly be taken into account: between women and men, girls and boys, between socio-economic groups and individuals with differing ethnic and cultural backgrounds. Implementation of the action plan should contribute to the Government's sustainable development efforts.

According to the assignment remit, the National Food Administration and the National Institute of Public Health should consult a number of actors including government agencies, researchers, representatives of municipalities and county councils, clubs and associations and the food industry.

The work began with the collection of as many ideas and experiences as possible from people and organisations with experience and expertise in the field. An inventory of scientific literature and of different types of reports, enquiries and action plans in other countries was also carried out. More light was then shed on certain aspects through t seminars and roundtable discussion with experts as well as via various other enquiries. Reports and abstracts have been regularly posted on the websites of the two agencies throughout the course of the year. Status reports on the drafting of the basis have been presented by the project group at a number of conferences and seminars. Finally, concrete proposals for measures were circulated to various actors for comments.

21

Knowledge gathering and consultation have been carried out during the year in a number of different ways:

Four hearings were held at the beginning of the enquiry with a total of 400 participants representing many different levels and sectors. Proposals for measures were generated.
Discussions on measures have been held on several occasions during the year with expert groups from the National Food Administration on diet and health and paediatric nutrition. The same has been done with the Administration's Reference Group for the Prevention of Overweight and with the Consumer Panel. The National Institute of Public Health has held discussions about possible measures with its expert group for the health of children and youth and with the expert group for health-promoting health services.

• Meetings have been held with researchers in obesity and social epidemiology on research priorities.

• Discussions have been held with people responsible for other strategies and action plans in Sweden, from other countries, the International Obesity Task Force and the World Health Organization (WHO).

• Seminars have been held on tax policy concerning food pricing and on how the consumption of energy-dense and low-nutrient food can be reduced. In addition, the ongoing work was presented at the National Public Health Conference 2004.

• A number of enquiries, investigations, evaluations and literature reviews have also been carried out. For example, the current Swedish strategy on nutrition has been evaluated and the criteria for key-hole labelling of food have been revised.

• Scientific literature and reports have been reviewed and compiled. The Swedish Council on Technology Assessment in Health Care (SBU) has updated its systematic review entitled "Preventive measures against obesity".

• The National Food Administration and the National Institute of Public Health have had 15 joint meetings.

• Finally, the Swedish Federation of County Councils and the Swedish Association of Local Authorities as well as representatives of various professional groups and organisations have been consulted concerning the proposed measures.

3 Background and problem description

Public health problems related to unhealthy dietary habits and physical inactivity

Life expectancy in Sweden has increased but not people's healthy life expectancy (the number of healthy life-years a person has). About three-quarters of the population feel they enjoy good health; men to a greater extent than women. The number who felt they enjoyed good health gradually increased during the 1980s, but the rate of increase has since slowed especially among younger people (1).

Despite this basically favourable health trend, there are some disease groups on the increase. The most worrying of these is the increase in obesity and associated medical complications, not least the metabolic syndrome and type-2 diabetes (non insulindependent diabetes), which in turn are contributory causes of cardio-vascular diseases. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), 80 per cent of cardio-vascular diseases, 90 per cent of type-2 diabetes and 30 per cent of all cancers can be prevented by better dietary habits, smoking cessation and sufficient levels of physical activity (2). The ten single most significant risk factors for morbidity and mortality in industrial countries are tobacco, high blood pressure, alcohol, high serum cholesterol, overweight, low intake of fruit and vegetables, physical inactivity, drugs, unsafe sex and iron deficiency (2). Five of these are directly related to unhealthy dietary habits.

Several epidemiological studies have indicated a positive relationship between the amount of fruit and vegetable consumed and a reduced risk of contracting various diseases. Low consumption of fruit and vegetables is estimated to cause 3-4 per cent of the total disease burden (loss of healthy life-years due to disease or death) or 18 per cent of all gastrointestinal cancer, 28 per cent of heart disease, 17 per cent of oesophagus cancer and 18 per cent of strokes in Europe (2). Regarding how much fruit and vegetable one should eat, there seems not to be a threshold value for when a desired health effect is achieved but it is rather a question of: the more, the better. Even a slight increase in fruit and vegetable intake by low consumers leads to positive effects.

A high intake of dietary fibre and a reduced intake of fat, saturated fat, refined sugar and salt are the most important dietary factors when it comes to reducing the risk of diseases such as obesity, diabetes, cardio-vascular disease, dental caries and certain types of cancer (3). For example, it is estimated that the risk of cardio-vascular diseases can be reduced by up to 30 per cent if the intake of saturated fat is reduced by a third, i.e. from its current level of 15 per cent to the recommended level of 10 per cent of energy intake (4).

There are currently several scientifically well-founded consensus reports indicating a clear relationship between the amount of physical activity a person obtains and her/his state of health. These reports ascertain that regularly physical activity has beneficial effects on both physical and mental health and quality of life (5–6). Regular physical activity prevents ill-health by:

• Reducing the risk of cardio-vascular diseases. Sedentary individuals run approximately double the risk of cardio-vascular disease compared to people who have a physically active lifestyle.

• Preventing or combating the development of high blood pressure and lowering the blood pressure of hypertensive individuals.

• Making it easier to control weight and increasing energy expenditure by increasing muscle mass and reducing the proportion of body fat in a dose-response relationship.

• Preventing and making it easier to control type-2 diabetes.

• Specific forms of physical activity can reduce the risk of fall accidents by improving bone health and maintaining strength, coordination, cognitive skills and balance.

• Reducing the risk of colon cancer. Evidence of a preventive effect on breast cancer is growing.

• Strengthening the immune system.

• Reducing the risk of depression and anxiety as well as improving mood and selfesteem.

• Playing an important role in the prevention and treatment of chronic unspecified low back pain.

• Improving fitness and muscle strength, making it easier for older people in particular to cope with everyday life.

Sedentary lifestyle is a serious and growing public health problem. In 2002, WHO estimated the disease burden (lost healthy life-years due to disease or death) related to physical inactivity (a sedentary lifestyle) in western industrialised countries (2). Physical inactivity was estimated to cause 6-7 per cent of all premature deaths or 3–4 per cent of the total disease burden. The report also pointed out that physical inactivity caused 23 per cent of all ischemic heart disease, 13 per cent of ischemic stroke, 11 per cent of breast cancer cases, 17 per cent of colon/rectum cancer cases and 15 per cent of diabetes cases.

The diseases to which unhealthy dietary habits and physical inactivity contribute can therefore be said to be major public health problems that explain a considerable amount of the morbidity and premature death both in Sweden and the rest of the world. It is true that deaths from cardio-vascular disease have decreased in Sweden over the last decades but it still constitutes by far the single biggest cause of morbidity and mortality (see Figure 1), (1). It is feared that the decrease seen in cardio-vascular disease may well diminish due to the increasing prevalence of obesity (2).

Overweight and obesity among adults

Over half the men and 36 per cent of women in Sweden between the ages of 16 and 74 are overweight or obese (Public Health Report 2005). Eleven per cent of men and 9 per cent of women are obese. In other words, about 2.1 million people are overweight and about 630,000 are obese.

The number of obese adults has doubled since 1980 and the number of overweight people has increased by 30 per cent among men and 20 per cent among women (Public Health Report 2005).





Source: Public Health Report 2001, National Board of Health and Welfare

BMI increases up to the age of 64 years only to then level out and eventually decrease slightly in very old age. This applies to both men and women. A man's BMI is approximately 1.5 units higher than a woman's before the age of 55. This difference between the sexes decreases in old age. On the other hand, the number of obese people is increasing in all age groups but most of all among young women between 16 and 34 years old, where it has risen six fold since 1980/81. In absolute terms, the increase is similar among men of the same age - approximately 5 percent. It is interesting to note that the number of obese women aged between 35 and 54 stopped rising after 1998/99 and has held relatively stable at 9 per cent since then (Public Health Report 2005). It is also important to mention that self-reported BMI (Figure 2) underestimates the true value by 2-4 per cent on the population level (Public Health Report 2005).

Over one billion adults and children worldwide are now either overweight or obese (7). In 2002, WHO estimated that overweight and obesity was causing 7 and 8 per cent of the total disease burden (i.e. the loss of healthy life-years) among men and women respectively in Europe (2). This disease burden consists of the diseases listed in Table 1. In addition to this, overweight and obesity reduce fertility and are risk factors regarding pregnancy and childbirth (10-11).

American studies indicate that the number of lost life-years due to obesity varies with age, sex and ethnicity. The higher the BMI, the greater the negative effects, especially when BMI exceeds 35. The younger the person is, the greater the number of lost life-years. The life of a white man or women with a BMI of 35 is 3 years shorter than a person with a BMI of less than 25. Young men with a BMI of over 45, i.e. extreme obesity, lose on average 13 life-years (12).

25



Figure 2. Mean BMI (kg/m²) in different age groups among men and women, 16–74 year, 1980/81-2002/3. *Source: Survey of Living Conditions, Statistics Sweden (SCB).*

Studies have indicated that the self-reported, health-related quality of life of extremely obese people is similar to that of patients with spinal injuries and severe chronic pain and those in the advanced stages of cancer (8). A national Finnish study indicates that obesity is associated with a 30-per cent lower salary among high-educated women, though not among their low-educated counterparts (13). There is much to indicate that obese women find it more difficult to find employment than slim women with the same level of education, a fact that also points to the discrimination of obese women in working life. The effect was not the same for men. Among the elderly, obesity is linked with increased mortality only if it is accompanied by diabetes and cardio-vascular disease, with or without hypertension (8). Treating obesity is expensive and not particularly effective (8). But bearing in mind the major health risks obesity involves, the health service is forced to act. Despite its obligation by law to prevent and treat disease, the health service's resources are limited and everyone seems to agree that preventing obesity is the only sustainable way to tackle the problem (8, 14-15). A new calculation from the Swedish Federation of County Councils shows that the direct costs for treating obesity and diseases caused by such as type-2 diabetes, hypertension, angina and acute myocardial infarction amount to SEK 3 billion (about EUR 327 million) (16). The total cost to society (i.e. the sum of costs for healthcare and productivity loss) is however unknown.

Diagnosis	Men	Women
Diabetes	40	40
Myocardial infarction	5	3
Stroke	2-3	2-3
Hypertension	3	3
Gallstone diseases	3-4	3-4
Breast cancer, post-menopausal	-	1-2
Colorectal cancer	1-3	1-2
Uterine cancer	-	2-6
Musculo-skeletal diseases	2-3	2-3
Respiratory diseases	>3	>3

Table 1. Relative risks of diseases related to obesity(BMI>35) compared to normal body weight (BMI<25) (8–9)

Overweight and obesity among children

BMI varies among children and young people depending on their age and gender. The limits for overweight and obesity are therefore both age- and gender-specific. These limits have been set by Cole et al (17) who analysed the issue on behalf of WHO and the International Obesity Tack Force (IOTF).

There is currently no national data on body weight among children in Sweden. There are only a number of studies from different time periods over the last twenty or thirty years. The prevalence of overweight and obesity among children (4–18 years) varies in different studies between 14 and 23 per cent, of which 1–4 per cent are obese (18–22).

The prevalence of overweight has doubled among schoolchildren in Umeå since the mid-1980s (20). In the same study, obesity has increased fivefold. Another nationwide study shows that the prevalence of obesity among children in the 10-16 age group increased 2.5 times between 1987 and 2001 (21). The proportion of 18-year-old obese men has increased fourfold since the 1970s (22).

The trend in overweight and obesity among children in Sweden is comparable to the international trend. Over the last 25 years, the proportion of overweight and obese people has increased 2-3 times in most European countries, Australia and the United States. In Europe, the prevalence of overweight and obesity among younger children is clearly highest in the countries around the Mediterranean, with 31-36 per cent of 7-11-year-olds and 20-23 per cent among 14-17-year-olds (15). Regarding the countries in northern and central Europe, children and young people in the UK are the most obese, with a prevalence of overweight and obesity of 23 per cent among 10-year-olds and 31 per cent among 15-year-olds (23). The prevalence of obesity among 6-year-olds in the UK is 10 per cent and as much as 17 per cent among 15-year-olds, defined as being above the 85th percentile in growth charts.

Obesity in childhood represents a serious health problem (24). Obese children have a low self-esteem and are more often prone to mental problems compared to children of normal weight. Most of them have one or more risk factors for cardio-vascular diseases and therefore a heightened risk of contracting these diseases as adults. Other studies have shown a significantly increased risk of asthma among obese children and double the risk of type-1 diabetes (insulin-dependent). In addition, there are indications, although there is a lack of hard evidence, of a greater risk of contracting type-2 diabetes as well as orthopaedic and other problems. The risk of a child who is obese remaining so as an adult is greater the older and the heavier the child is and if at least one of the parents is also obese. Being obese as a teenage is estimated to involve a risk of continued obesity at 35 year old as 78 per cent for men and 63 per cent for women (25). The risk of an obese teenager continuing to be obese in adulthood is therefore considerable. Child obesity contributes heavily to the disease burden among children and in a longer perspective to a substantial disease burden among young adults who will require care for the rest of their lives.

The metabolic syndrome

Type-2 diabetes, hypertension, blood lipid disorders, insulin resistance, abdominal obesity, myocardial infarction and stroke often occur together in different combinations. This accumulation of diseases and symptoms is thought to have a common background and therefore constitutes a syndrome - known as a 'metabolic syndrome'. Various stress factors, initiated by e.g. psychosocial circumstances, can contribute to the syndrome's occurrence (26). Metabolic syndrome can to a large extent be both prevented and treated by physical activity, healthy dietary habits and weight loss. Medical drugs are however the most common form of treatment today, stretching over a number of years and involving a sizeable proportion of the population. The costs of such treatment are naturally very high; drugs used to treat hypertension, elevated blood lipids and hypoglycemia constitute 15 per cent of the total costs for pharmaceutical products (27).

Eating disorders

The current state of knowledge as regards eating disorders has been summarised in a literature review (28). Dietary problems of different kinds are seen as early as in infants and schoolchildren, and especially in girls. For some, the problem persists through and beyond adolescence. Specific forms of eating disorders can be found in at least 3 per cent of young Swedish women. Anorexia nervosa is an uncommon disease with a prevalence of about 0.2–0.4 per cent of Swedish women in the 12–25-year age group. Anorexia is 10 times more common among girls and young women than among boys. The incidence of anorexia among young women is between 8 and 40 per 100,000 women per year and this has most likely not risen over a 25-year period. The prevalence for bulimia nervosa is about 1 per cent and for compulsive eating disorders about 2-3 per cent. Unspecific eating disorders are probably three to four times more common than the specified syndromes. There are many groups in top-level sport with a high prevalence of eating disorders. Practitioners of aesthetic sports, endurance sports and ball games in particular run a much higher risk of eating disorders. Women participating in these sports are more likely to develop disorders than men compared with the population as a whole.

The most important known determinants for the development of eating disorders are female gender, an age of 14–20 years and intensive dieting. Young obese people whose weight fluctuates run a greater risk of developing eating disorders (28). Many

people develop anorexia for the first time after dieting but there is no evidence to suggest that the professional treatment of obesity leads to eating disorders. For dieting to lead to eating disorders, the child has to be vulnerable in some other way. Hereditary factors, problems in early personality development and western cultural values may provide a breeding ground for eating disorders. Several of the risk factors for anorexia and bulimia are the same as for mental ill-health. Swedish studies show that a high BMI, dissatisfaction with one's own body and being teased about one's weight may be risk factors for eating disorders among girls. Improving children's self-esteem and self-confidence and reducing the stigma of being overweight should therefore be part of the prevention of overweight.

There is no convincing evidence to suggest that preventive measures for eating disorders are in fact effective. Efforts to prevent overweight and eating disorders need to concentrate on developing more health-promoting measures for good physical and mental health and early warning systems to detect and support risk individuals at a early stage. There is a great need for further research on the prevention of eating disorders.

Dietary habits and physical activity in different population groups

Dietary habits

People in Sweden basically have healthy dietary habits (29). Vitamin, mineral or protein deficiencies are rare. The exception being women, whose intake of folic acid and iron is on average too low. But our diet is not without its problems. The increased prevalence of overweight indicates that the energy intake is too high in relation to energy expenditure. Ninety per cent of the adult population eat less fibre than is recommended, 80 per cent eat too much fat, 96 per cent too much saturated fat and half of them consume too much refined sugar.

A recently completed nutritional study of 4-year-olds in Sweden shows that they generally receive enough nutrients (18). The amount of fat and sugar they eat is however too high and their consumption of fruit and vegetables is too low. Only one in ten 15-year-olds in the Stockholm area eat fruit and vegetables every day (19).

Age and gender

Findings from the latest national nutritional survey on adults, called 'Riksmaten' (National food survey), (29) indicate in some respects significant differences concerning dietary habits in different age groups. The dietary habits of the elderly are seen to be positive in comparison with those of younger people. Older people eat more 'traditional' food such as potatoes and root vegetables, fish, offal, food made from animal blood, porridge and buns and cakes. Younger people eat and drink more 'modern' foodstuffs instead including pasta, rice, pizza, sweets, crisps, soft drinks and juice. They therefore have a higher intake of sugar, whilst older people eat more fibre. Older people also eat more fruit and vegetables than younger people and seem to have understood the dietary

message better in this respect. Women have better dietary habits than men in some respects; their consumption of fruit and vegetables being higher, for example (29). In a recently performed study (30), 4 per cent of men and 12 per cent of women ate at least 5 fruit and/or vegetable portions a day. Among men the greatest proportion of those eating at least 5 fruits and/or vegetable portions per day could be found among men in the 18–29 age group and for women in the 45–64 age group.

Education, income and ethnicity

High-educated men have in general healthier dietary habits than their low-educated counterparts (29). Men with a university degree or equivalent used less fat on their sandwiches, drank less soft drinks and also ate more vegetables and rice and drank more juice than those with only a compulsory school education. The differences among women are less. Alcohol intake was however higher among high-educated women than their low-educated counterparts. Low-educated individuals also ate less fruit and vegetables according to the recently performed public health survey (30). A review of studies in 15 European countries showed that a long education and healthier dietary habits were interrelated (31). It has also been established that smoking is associated with less healthy dietary habits among both men and women (29).

Children's dietary habits seem to be linked to the education level of their parents, especially their mother's. Various studies from Norway, Denmark and Sweden show that children with high-educated parents ate less sugar, more fruit and vegetables and less fat. They also had a lower BMI and more regular dietary habits and ate healthier food (32, 34–35). Overweight among children aged 4–11 in Sweden tends to be more common in low-education than in high-education households (18).

Clear differences in dietary habits depending on parents' education and ethnicity were evident among 15-year-olds in the Stockholm area (19). Both boys and girls with low-educated mothers more often had irregular dietary habits and twice as many often ate unhealthy food compared to adolescents whose mothers were high-educated. There were also differences regarding where their parents came from. Young people with an immigrant background ate unhealthy food much more often than those of Swedish descent. On the other hand, those with an immigrant background ate fruit and vegetables more often compared to their Swedish counterparts.

The dietary habits of third graders (9-10 year-olds) were compared in eight of Stockholm's city districts, which were divided into areas depending on the ratio between low- and high-income earners (33). Children in the most prosperous areas seldom skipped dinner but on the other hand ate sweets more often. The poorer the area, the more often children skipped dinner and when they did, they were more likely to eat fast food. Children in poor areas ate vegetables less often and they were more likely to drink full-fat milk.

Furthermore, they more often ate without adult company and ate less healthy breakfasts and snacks. No disparity could be seen between children in the different city districts as regards the number of meals per day, the number of sweet and fat snacks or the amount of fruit they ate. On the other hand, children in poor areas drank soft drinks more often (33). The recently completed nutritional survey on children, 4–11 years old, showed that foreign-born children, or children with foreign-born parents, more often chose full-fat milk and ate more fast food than children with Swedish-born parents (18).

Regional differences in dietary habits

Despite the obvious regional differences in dietary habits in Sweden, it is difficult to see any clear pattern (29). The consumption of fruit and vegetables is, however, lower and the fat intake higher in the north of the country. On the other hand, northerners eat more porridge and potatoes. Alcohol consumption is highest in the metropolitan areas.

Physical activity

The latest Swedish survey of physical activity in the 18–84 year age group was performed by the National Institute of Public Health in the spring of 2004. This took the form of a questionnaire survey to a random selection of the population (30). A total of 20,000 people were approached and 61 per cent responded. Some important observations in the survey regarding physical activity were:

• 14 per cent of both men and women reported that their leisure time was mostly sedentary. This is the equivalent of 900,000 people.

• Having a sedentary leisure time was 2 to 3 times more common among people of non-Nordic descent. The further away from Sweden a person had been born, the more likely s/he had a sedentary leisure time.

• A sedentary leisure time was twice as common among low-educated people as those with a high education.

• Fifty-eight per cent of men said they were physical active for more than 30 minutes a day, whereas the corresponding figure among women was 54 per cent. Thirty-four per cent of men and 27 per cent of women were physically active for more than 60 minutes a day. There were no clear differences in physical activity in relation to level of education. Slightly more high-educated people took regular exercise.

• Among those on social benefit or the economically disadvantaged, there were twice as many who led a sedentary lifestyle compared to other economic groups.

The survey of 15-year-olds in Stockholm (19) indicated that:

• Sixty-four per cent of girls and 78 per cent of boys achieved the recommended level of 60 minutes a day physical activity.

• Among boys, those with a Swedish background and more highly educated parents were less physically active than boys of foreign descent with low-educated parents. There were no social differences in physical activity among girls.

• Hours of watching TV and video were linked to obesity, low level of education and a foreign background.

There have been no Swedish studies into changes in total daily energy consumption over time among children and young people. There are, however, some surveys in which children and young people were asked how often and how much they exercised as opposed to sat still. The number of those leading a sedentary lifestyle has increased, but so has the proportion of those active in some kind of club (36). The most common sedentary pursuits amongst children and young people are watching TV or video or playing computer games. The percentage of children watching TV at least two hours a day increased from 54 to 67 per cent and the proportion of avid watchers (at least four hours a day) increased from 18 to 22 per cent between 1990 and 1998 (37). Both TV-watching and computer use increase with age (38). TV- and video-watching is most

common among the low-educated and has been linked to overweight and obesity (19, 39-40). At the same time, there has been a dramatic drop in sports activity outside clubs, implying that an increasing amount of the physical activity children and young people do get is within a club. The sports they do are becoming more specialised necessitating more training and higher performance. This may explain the fact that fewer young people in total take part in regular sports activities. Very few children, who are not members of sports clubs, are capable of doing physical activity on their own several times a week (36).

Inequalities in health

Obesity and obesity-related diseases are among the socially most unevenly distributed health conditions and the trend indicates that such social inequalities are on the rise (Public Health Report 2005). Social inequalities are evident as early as pre-school age and obesity is more prevalent in rural than in urban areas. All measures that can improve dietary habits and physical activity among socio-economically disadvantaged groups therefore have considerable potential when it comes to reducing inequalities in health.

Overweight and obesity are much more common among children and young people from low-educated families (19). The prevalence of obesity among 15-year-old girls in Stockholm was 3.5 times higher among those with low-educated mothers compared to those whose mothers were high-educated.

The corresponding figure for boys was 1.7 times higher. The same study showed that a higher proportion of the young people with an immigrant background (4.4 per cent) suffered from obesity compared to young people with a Swedish background (2.8 per cent). The differences were still apparent after subdivision by gender and when the mother's level of education was taken into consideration.

A social gradient was also evident when it came to cardio-vascular diseases, which to a great extent are caused by smoking, unhealthy dietary habits, physical inactivity and over consumption of alcohol. Death from different cardio-vascular diseases is 1.5 times more likely among blue-collar workers and the low-educated compared to the rest of the population, both in Sweden and in other Nordic countries (41). The authors note that the development of effective methods to modify lifestyle in low-educated and low-income groups is very important in the prevention of cardio-vascular diseases.

Societal changes impacting dietary habits, physical activity and body weight

Obesity is to a certain extent dependent on hereditary factors. This congenital tendency for obesity is widespread in the population. But the increase in the prevalence of obesity over the last twenty or thirty years cannot exclusively be explained by genetic factors but is mainly due to changes in dietary habits and physical activity depending on social and societal factors (8). Swinburn and Egger (42) have coined the concept of 'obeso-genic environment'. They mean by this an environment defined as 'the sum of influences that the surroundings, opportunities or conditions of life have on promoting obesity in individuals or populations'.

WHO has categorised the most important determinants for obesity as shown in the following table:

Evidence	Reduced risk	Increased risk
Convincing	Regular physical activity High dietary intake of NSP (dietary	Sedentary lifestyles
	fibre)	High intake of energy-dense micronutrient-poor foods*
Probable	Home and school environments that support healthy food choices for children	Heavy marketing of energy-dense foods and fast food outlets
	Breastfeeding	Adverse socio-economic conditions
		soft drinks and fruit juices
Possible	Low glycaemic index foods	Large portion sizes
		High proportion of food prepared outside the home
		"Rigid restraint/periodic disinhibition" eating patterns
Insufficient	Increased eating frequency	Alcohol

Table 2. Factors that promote or curb weight gain and obesity (3).

*Energy-dense food contains a lot of sugar and/or fat and not much water and dietary fibre.

An additional factor that has been identified as contributing to obesity is lack of sleep (43).

Societal changes impacting physical activity

Technical development and increased food production globally in combination with economic growth has been crucial for improvements in public health and increased average life expectancy throughout the world. At the same time, these factors have also contributed to less physical activity and changes in dietary habits. Factors that influence people's physical activity level include proximity to green areas and facilities for physical activities, access to public transport, existence and standard of footpaths and bicycle paths, a sense of security and aesthetically attractive design of the environments (44–49). Increased urbanisation, fewer green areas in towns and cities and a growth in road traffic increasingly restrict the scope for everyday physical activity, especially among children and young people. It is difficult to motivate people to make healthy choices when the conditions and opportunities for this are increasingly limited or totally non-existent.

Energy expenditure has fallen considerably because of less physically demanding working tasks and the growth in vehicle transport. Physical activity is in contrast to earlier mostly a leisure pursuit. The importance of the local environment for physical activity has therefore increased. The growing interest in structured exercising activities shown over the decades has from a population perspective not compensated for reduced physical activity levels at work and as active transport (walking or cycling)(50). It has been calculated that the average westerner uses only about 15 per cent of her/his daily energy expenditure through work. Total energy expenditure through physical activity only amounts to just over half that of what primitive and tribal people in South America expend (51). To achieve the same level of energy expenditure would require a daily walk of about 19 km. The growth in motoring, the advent of the TV and the increasing automation of working life have all contributed to the diminishing use of human muscle power and hence energy expenditure. The trend is towards a more sedentary lifestyle which must be compensated for through daily and leisure-time activities to satisfy the body's need for movement. Although every single technical advancement has little effect on energy expenditure, the total impact is contributing to the ongoing trend in obesity (52).

Today, it is a question of taking every opportunity to be physically active, e.g. by taking the stairs instead of the lift, walking or cycling instead of travelling by bus or car.

Conscious action is a necessity by the individual to be physically active as well as on the part of society to preserve green and natural areas in and around urban areas for recreation, promote broad sports and create a local environment where priority is also given to the well-being and accessibility of disabled groups.

Societal changes impacting dietary habits

The 'nutrition transition' refers to the process countries go through when there is a transition from traditional food with relatively low energy density to a western diet characterised by a high intake of animal products, salt, saturated fat and sugar (53). Development throughout the world is basically following the same pattern. Firstly, the energy intake goes up, mostly in the form of vegetable products and oils (expansion effect). Then, vegetable carbohydrate foods are replaced by protein-rich animal products and sugar, which involves a higher fat intake, especially saturated fat (substitution effect) (54). This trend can mostly be explained by the 'green revolution' with increased food production, increased market orientation in the agricultural sector and resulted in falling food prices. The consumer's purchasing power has simultaneously increased.

In developed countries, average dietary energy supply has increased from about 3,000 kcal per capita to 3,400 kcal per capita since the 1960s (54). In the EU, the
current average supply is about 3,500 kcal per capita, whilst in the United States it is 3,900 kcal per capita (Figure 3). The energy requirement is on average just over 2,000 kcal per person and day. According to FAO forecasts, further increases in dietary energy supply in all regions of the world are to be expected until 2030 (54). More than 770 million people currently suffer from a shortage of food. The difficulty in achieving the goal of halving starvation in the world by 2015 does not depend on a global lack of food (55).

Food prices have never been as low as they are today, thanks to an enormous increase in productivity in the agricultural sector. This has enabled many people to eat better food and thereby improve their health. Food prices have fallen since the 1960s by



Figure 3. Trends in dietary energy supply in different parts of the world (53).

60 per cent relative to a price index and the transition from energy deficiency to energy surplus has happened very rapidly in many countries with positive and negative effects on public health.

Due to better infrastructure, urbanisation enables increased trade between countries with radical changes in the distribution and marketing of food. This in turn has led to dietary habits becoming more similar throughout the world.

Taken together, whilst the trend towards increasingly greater food supply has led to greater food security for starving populations and secured the continued existence of mankind, the overproduction of food represents a serious threat to public health and the environment. The best solution from a social perspective would be if food production were adjusted to a level that is compatible with sustainable development.

For the individual consumer, the changes described above imply in practice that food is now much more available than ever before. In addition to greater availability,

the portion size and packaging particularly of fast food, soft drinks, cakes and biscuits, ice-cream, sweets and crisps have also increased (56). The increased supply has also led to increasingly tougher competition among food companies. This has in turn led to increasing and more sophisticated marketing of food, and especially energy-dense and low-nutrient products.

This not only leads to the consumer choosing one brand instead of another but also contributes to a rise in overall consumption (57).

Energy supply and energy intake are also on the increase in Sweden

Food balance sheets from the Swedish Board of Agriculture, indicate that energy supply increased by 144 kcal or about 5 per cent between 1990 and 2002 (58). Fat intake was unchanged whereas protein and carbohydrate went up. Total intake of sugar also remained unchanged.

The increase in dietary energy supply mostly consisted of the following foodstuffs:

Food type	Kcal per person and day
bread and cereal products	+ 104
meat and meat products	+ 83
chocolate, sweets, ice-cream etc.	+ 89
soft drinks	+ 32
alcohol	+ 22

A reduction in energy intake occurred from:

Food	Kcal per person and day
white sugar (sucrose)	- 58
milk	- 13
cooking fat	- 108

This amount of energy is equivalent to an additional 30-minute walk per day. There is no evidence however pointing to an increase in average daily energy expenditure.

Registered food consumption also increased slightly between 1989-1997 (on average by 107 kcal per day for women and 80 kcal per day for men) (29), which is in line with the Board of Agriculture's estimated increase in dietary energy supply.

An energy intake that exceeds energy output by 107 kcal per day over one year is equivalent to the energy in 4-5 kg of adipose tissue.

The rise in alcohol consumption in Sweden from 8 liters in 1995 to today's level of about 11 liters per person and year is equivalent in energy to about 2 kg of adipose tissue. Although it has not been possible to reach consensus in the issue of alcohol being a contributory factor to weight gain in the population, Swedish and Finnish studies suggest that the rising alcohol consumption may be a contributory factor to the rapid weight gain seen especially among men (8, 59).

One way of influencing consumers is through marketing. There is currently an imbalance between commercial pressures and producer-independent health information. For every dollar that WHO spends on improving the nutritional status of the world's population, the food industry spends 500 dollars on the marketing of processed food (60).

There is now international consensus on the inability of the market to solve the major public health problems on its own and on the need for governments to intervene to promote healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity (61). The Swedish Government underlines its commitment to act in its sustainable development strategy: 'The growing threat to public health, not least of young people in the form of tobacco, alcohol, obesity and environmental problems requires concerted preventive efforts' (62).

Eating disorders and societal factors

The fashion business and the media are persuasive trendsetters in today's society and exert powerful influence on the perfect body ideal and other values that affect young people in particular.

Whilst the problems of overweight are on the rise among children and young people, there is a growing amount of attention being paid to eating disorders that can lead to both underweight and overweight. Researchers and practitioners currently feel that the causes of eating disorders are multifactoral and vary depending on the individual (28).

In light of the complicated relationship between overweight, dieting and eating disorders researchers in the field are advocating an integrated strategy to tackle these complex problems among young people so as, for example, to avoid giving mixed messages (63). A very important component of such programmes is working to improve the self-esteem, self-confidence and social relations of children and young people.

International action plans for healthy dietary habits, increased physical activity and the prevention of overweight and obesity

Action plans for healthy dietary habits, increased physical activity and/or prevention of overweight and obesity are being devised all over the world. This work is conducted at national level through ministries and authorities (64-70) although measures have also been proposed by national committees of experts, NGOs and parliamentary committees (71-73).

WHO presented its Global Strategy for Diet, Physical Activity and Health in May 2004 (61). In the Nordic region, a joint project has recently been initiated by the Nordic Council of Ministers to devise an action plan for healthy dietary habits and physical activity (74). The EU's health directorate (DG SANCO) is currently engaged in working out a plan of action under the working name 'Diet, physical activity and health – a European platform for action'.

The main concern in all the strategies is the increase in lifestyle-related diseases. The solution recommended is action within several settings at the same time, on many levels and with many actors and for the long-term. The objective to be achieved is the reduction of overweight through increased physical activity and consumption of fruit and vegetables, for example, with reduced consumption of sweets, soft drinks, cakes and cookies, ice cream and crisps. The key words are food availability, food supply and increased physical activity. Most national action plans have a list of between 60 and 90 different measures.

Many action plans are based on arena settings perspective. The most common setting is the school. School meals are primarily the subject of forceful action to be taken through regulation using guidelines to ensure more healthy food and a reduction in the availabi-lity at schools of soft drinks and sweets. Several countries recommend more education about food and physical activity at school as well as the teaching of domestic science subjects where these exist. Increased availability of fruit at school is also a common point in all the action plans.

Other prominent settings include the health service, further education and the local environment. Local action plans to increase availability of healthy food as well as physical activity is proposed. The results should be reported in annual reports. The work of municipalities should increase availability of healthy food for the economically disadvantaged. In Denmark the physical planning of the municipality is emphasised where visible stairs, bicycle paths, safe roads and playgrounds should contribute to increased physical activity (69).

The workplace can be a good setting for healthy dietary habits, since physical activity can be encouraged by allowing employees to do it during working hours. Many proposals are directed towards catering and restaurants to increase the level of knowledge among those working in the food industry as well as devising guidelines for healthy food. In New Zealand there is a proposal that food served by caterers should follow the Department of Health's nutrition policy (65).

Proposals for interventions in primary production, the food industry and in food retailing are limited. They focus is on cooperation with industry for nutrition information material, labelling or joint discussions regarding the reduction of salt, sugar and fat in food. The influence of TV commercials on consumption, especially on the dietary habits of children, is considered an important area for study (66). In New Zealand the media is highlighted as a channel for heightening awareness and knowledge about healthy food and physical activity (65). Communication through social marketing (the use of marketing principles for resolving social and health-related issues) and uniform messages are important. The action plans are followed up by measuring body weight and food consumption. Most frequently the Ministry of Health or another associated ministry is responsible for coordination of the overall strategy. In France the coordinating committee comprises 7 ministers, authorities, the food industry, local authorities and researchers (64).

The UK proposal for a healthier lifestyle was presented by the Department of Health in the autumn of 2004 (68). 'Choosing health – making healthy choices easier' includes healthy dietary habits. A comprehensive basis for these decisions has been prepared: definition of the problem of overweight in the UK (75), a report on obesity (71), estimates of future medical costs with an increasingly overweight population (76)

along with analyses of the effect of advertising on the dietary habits of children (77). The work has also incorporated the initiation of negotiations with the industry to voluntarily lower salt, sugar and fat content in food (78). The British proposal calls for forceful action on food and physical activity at schools, the restriction of TV comercials targeting children and the introduction of a signalling system in shops to guide consumers towards healthier choices. Health communication to consumers should be improved through a series of measures.

Lessons from the current Swedish strategy for nutrition

In 1995 the Swedish Government approved a national action plan for nutrition (79), a policy document with the aim of providing a point of departure especially for work at national level but also guiding regional and local actors. The main objective in the action plan was: 'To promote health and prevent ill health and premature death from diet-related disease and to reduce the social inequalities in the prevalence of such diseases through improved dietary and exercise habits.'

To render the action plan more operative, the National Food Administration and the Institute of Public Health formulated 'National aims and strategies for nutrition, 1999-2004' (SD-99), (80). The aim of SD-99 was to provide a tool for professionals at all levels to promote healthier dietary habits. It outlined the direction and responsibilities for different agencies as well as guidingother actors. The document includes objectives, measures and responsibility for four areas: education, support to the local and regional level, consumer support and participation and catering services.

In 2004, the National Food Administration commissioned an evaluation of SD-99 (81). The overall aim of the evaluation was to gain insight into how this document has been designed and implemented. The objective was to identify and evaluate factors which were decisive in how the existing strategy was utilised or otherwise, and to integrate these lessons and recommendations from other policy document areas. The knowledge gained from this evaluation should be used in the devising of a new national action plan for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity.

'A good document that deserved a better fate'

The evaluation suggests that, when published, the document was a support to those already working with public health nutrition as it provided them with structure in their work. However, municipalities and county councils that did not work actively with the issues did not initiate such work despite SD-99. The document was in competition with the national public health objectives being devised at the same time. These were felt by many actors to have a higher status. When SD-99 was published, there was a lack of evidence-based methods and models in public health nutrition as well as few evaluation methods. This meant that proposals had to be based on experience only. The evaluation indicates that there was no established structure for public health nutrition work on a

national, regional and local level, which made it considerably more difficult to implement such a strategy. Furthermore, there was a shortage of resources in the form of financing and time for implementation which is absolutely essential for success.

Lessons

A national action plan should be adopted by the government and/or parliament. At the same time promotion of healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity should be institutionalised at the local and regional level. This creates continuity and clarity for all actors. Everyone involved in the action plan should feel that they have participated in its development. This can be achieved by dealing with both supportive and counter forces in an open and flexible way when developing and implementing an action plan. Cooperation is needed between ministries and agencies. An action plan should not be designed as a 'wish list'. The measures should be applicable in practice. The 'knowhow' is just as important of the 'know-what'. This means that stating what should be attained, such as that 'all school lunches being healthy', is not enough and that an action plan must indicate how this will be achieved. This demands broad expertise from those designing the action plan. Adequate resources must be assured for development, capacity building and implementation. At national level this is chiefly a question of resources for developing methods and competence, for supporting projects, process management and spreading information. The implementation phase demands continuity, structure and, most importantly, resources.

Methods have to be created and routines established for follow-up and evaluation during implementation. Measurable objectives have to be formulated and evaluated on a continuous basis. Feedback from the results has to be provided to the parties concerned.

Efforts regarding dietary habits and physical activity on the regional and local level

During the summer of 2003, a survey was conducted of public health work in the municipalities with the aid of a questionnaire (82). The study indicated that structures for public health were being built in the municipalities. With the new national public health policy objectives the concept has been broadened and an increasing number of sectors are becoming involved. This is a development that previously took place within other policy areas, such as environmental policy, where integration with other sectors has been the key. A success factor for the future of public health policy will constitute greater integration of public health issues in all policy areas.

In general, it can be concluded that more municipalities have a more comprehensive organisation for public health today than in 1995 when the previous survey was conducted. Primarily, the proportion of municipalities with overall action plans and public health councils has increased. It is often the case, however, that there is no overarching plan for public health in municipalities and county councils. An increasing number of public health councils come under the auspices of municipalities rather than county councils. Nevertheless, political representatives from the county councils in the public health councils are increasing and county councils are more often involved in funding public health coordination services.

Of the 144 municipalities (out of a total of 290) that have public health action plans, 62 per cent also have specific programmes associated with the plan. Most programmes (54) are found within objective domain 11 (alcohol, illicit drugs, tobacco and gambling). The second most common programme was in objective domain 5 (environment) and objective domain 3 (children) with 44 programmes. None of the municipalities reported that they had any programmes in objective domain 6 (health and medical care). Twenty six municipalities reported having programmes for physical activity while only 13 had programmes for healthy dietary habits. Of the larger cities only Malmö had a programme linked to the overall action plan/policy.

Perspectives to be considered in the assignment

A national action plan for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity is an important step in the implementation of Swedish public health policy and the fulfilment of the general public health objective 'to create societal conditions for good health, on equal terms, for the entire population' (85). The objective demonstrates the link between societal conditions which can be influenced by political decisions, and health trends in the population. According to the public health policy, national agencies conducting activities influencing public health should also assess the impacts on public health.

One key area is the child's perspective, i.e. taking into account the special needs of children. An important policy document in this context is the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (83). The gender perspective should be examined to highlight how different measures affect men and women, boys and girls, and how measures can lead to greater gender equality in health. A socio-economic perspective implies that social inequalities should be observed and acted upon with the objective of achieving equality in health between groups with varying income levels and education. An ethnic and cultural perspective means striving to eliminate health inequalities between different cultural and ethnic groups in the population.

The task also involves the proposed measures contributing to the government's work towards sustainable development. Sustainable development is defined as development that meets current needs without adversely affecting the opportunities of future generations. An action plan for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity should therefore be designed to contribute to positive progress with regard to all three sustainability perspectives. Ecological sustainability has been made more concrete by the Swedish Parliament's adoption of fifteen national environmental quality objectives (84). Social/cultural sustainability has been spelled out in the Public Health Objectives Bill (85), see Figure 4.

Increased physical activity and healthy dietary habits contribute to economic sustainability through reduced levels on non-communicable diseases which implies lower medical and pharmaceutical costs as well as reduced loss of productivity. Increased active transport (walking and cycling) can also contribute to reducing environmental pollution and the costs this entails. In the recently published report 'Sustainable vices. Consumption for a brighter future' (Official Government Report 2004:119) dietary habits are included from a sustainability perspective. The report presents 'First step food' (86) as a model for work to promote sustainable food consumption. Calculations indicate that sustainable food consumption need not be associated with higher food costs. The consumer can reduce consumption of foods such as soft drinks, sweets, crisps, cakes and biscuits, ice cream and alcoholic drinks and thereby save a lot of money. It is estimated that 42 per cent of food costs (around EUR 2,100 per person per year) are spent on these types of food (87). If this sort of food were eliminated from food purchases, a saving would be made of an average of EUR 900 per person per year.



Figure 4. The link between different dimensions of sustainable development, objectives for public health and environmental quality objectives. The objective domain 'Sound and safe environments and products' among the public health objectives overlaps with environmental quality objectives but focuses exclusively on health.

Health economics and obesity

Two related but completely different health economic issues are of considerable importance, not least in the field of obesity. These are, firstly, how to achieve the best health or greatest reduction of disease for the money invested and, secondly, how great the costs are for a disease or risk factor such as, for instance, obesity, alcohol or smoking. Cost of illness studies of obesity are interesting since they measure the extent of the problem and can be used as an argument for preventive measures and more research into the area. Such studies should not, however, be interpreted as measuring what can potentially be gained by distributing more money to a certain area since the economic gains depend partly on whether there are efficient methods for prevention or treatment, and partly whether it is feasible to eliminate the disease completely. Cost of illness studies therefore provide no answer to the question of how resources should be distributed in society. This question is dealt with by health economists in cost-effectiveness analyses. Below is a brief description of the methods of analysis and the research within the field of obesity.

Cost of illness studies include all the relevant costs, in this case direct costs arising from obesity (such as medical costs) and indirect costs in terms of loss of production. To calculate the direct and indirect costs, we have to know how many people suffer from obesity, what the health impacts of obesity are, how much healthcare is consumed, and what the extent of sick leave, disability pension or reduced lifespan is. We also have to be able to calculate the value of lost production due to sick leave, premature retirement or premature death. There are three different methods used to evaluate life: human capital, 'willingness-to-pay' and the friction cost method (88).

Obesity can be viewed as a disease in itself or as a risk factor for other illnesses. In the following, obesity is seen as a risk factor. Attributable fraction is an important concept in cost analyses. It refers to the share of a disease that can be attributed to a specific factor such as obesity. To be able to measure the cost of illness of obesity, we need to be able to separate the fraction caused by obesity from the other causative factors of a particular disease. An attributable fraction of 1 means that obesity has exclusively caused the disease, a fraction of 0, on the other hand, means there is no connection between the disease and obesity. If knowledge about attributable fractions is lacking, the cost calculation will be inaccurate.

In 2002 the Swedish Council on Technology Advancement in Healthcare (SBU) conducted a systematic literature review including the costs of obesity and obesityrelated diseases (8). Only 22 articles were identified as being relevant. Among these were several from the United States, Europe, Canada and New Zealand, but none from Sweden. SBU assessed that the direct costs of obesity-related diseases is around 2 per cent of the total cost of health care, i.e. about EUR 320 million at that time. SBU pointed out that the scientific basis for assessment of indirect costs is limited and that methods should be developed. A Swedish study has estimated the indirect costs for loss of production due to sick leave and premature retirement for people with obesity (BMI ≥ 28) (89). The results indicated that production losses for sick leave and premature retirement as a result of overweight and obesity for women in 1988 were around EUR 380 million per year which represents the equivalent of about 10 per cent of the total indirect costs for sick leave and premature retirement for women during that year. In another study, it was found that the cost of medication was 77 per cent higher for people with obesity (90). In a newly published report from the Institute for Health Economics in Lund, it is estimated that the direct medical costs attributable to overweight and obesity are around EUR 320 million (91). Costs attributable to obesity other than those for medical care, are not included in the calculations, nor are the total costs to society such as for sick leave, premature retirement and production loss.

The report also describes in different scenarios likely trends in overweight and obesity and how this might influence future medical costs. It is estimated that around 60 per cent of people living in Sweden could be overweight or obese in 2030 if the prevalence of obesity and overweight increases at the same rate as during the 1990s.

As a result of the increase in the number of people with overweight or obesity, direct medical costs for obesity are estimated to rise by 120 per cent between 2003 and 2030.

In order to decide which preventive measures should be used, cost-effectiveness analyses are needed which examine the link between the effect that can be expected of a certain measure and the costs of achieving this effect. Such analyses require the existence of scientific evidence for the effects of treatment or a preventive measure aimed at reducing the prevalence of obesity.

There are different ways of evaluating the health economics of different measures. All methods take costs into consideration but they differ in terms of how health effects are measured. The simplest form of economic evaluation can be conducted if two measures have identical health effects. In this case the alternative should be chosen which has lowest cost and the analysis is generally referred to as a cost-minimisation analysis.

Most commonly, however, both costs and health effects differ between measures. If one alternative has both a lower cost and the health effects are greater, the choice is obvious. When both costs and health effects are greater for alternative measures, the increased cost should be considered in relation to the greater health effect. This can be done in a cost-effectiveness analysis calculating the cost per unit of the health effect. One example of an effect indicator is life years gained, which is the increase in the expected remaining lifespan. One weakness of this indicator is that no consideration is taken to quality of life. To obtain an all-encompassing indicator, consideration has to be taken to effects on both lifespan and on health status. Such a indicator is known as a quality-adjusted life-years (QALYs). QALYs are constructed by weighting different degrees of health status on a continuous scale between 0 (dead) and 1 (full health) (88). A QALY can be interpreted as a year of full health. Cost-effectiveness analyses using QALYs is the method of choice by the majority of researchers in the field (88, 92). A current report from the OECD summarises what is known about the cost effectiveness of, firstly, a series of different interventions aimed at preventing or treating obesity and type 2 diabetes and, secondly, studies examining the extent to which subsidies and taxes on different kinds of foods can change the consumption behaviour of individuals (93). In the report, an account is presented of studies examining lifestyle interventions such as nutritional advice and physical activity, and medical treatments. The results indicate that there is as yet very little scientific evidence concerning the effects of subsidies and tax policies which is quite simply because economic instruments have not been tested to any great extent. There is more evidence both regarding efficiency and cost effectiveness of lifestyle interventions and that these are, not surprisingly, more cost effective than medication for primary prevention of type 2 diabetes. On the other hand, there is some support to suggest that treatment with medication is more cost effective than lifestyle interventions for secondary prevention and strategies for the individual who has already been diagnosed with diabetes.

To be able to decide which measures should be implemented of those proposed in this report, the value of the various measures should be assessed theoretically in relation to what they cost. In practice, measures can be introduced where the benefit is judged, with a high degree of accuracy, to be greater than the cost of the measure. Otherwise, caution is advised. Another issue is to what extent the different measures are independent of one another, in other words, if cost effectiveness is affected by another measure already having been introduced. In this report, different possible measures have been identified and their cost has been calculated. In the next stage, the effects of the various measures should be identified, quantified and evaluated with the aim of gaining some idea of whether the benefits can be seen to clearly exceed the costs of the measure. Should implementation of measures become relevant, it is also important at an early stage to plan for following up the efficiency and cost effectiveness of the different measures.

References

- 1. Folkhälsorapport, 2001. Socialstyrelsen; 2001.
- 2. WHO. The World Health Report. Reducing risks, promoting healthy life. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002.
- 3. WHO. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003. World Health Organization Technical Report Series 916.
- 4. Nordic Nutrition Recommendations, NNR 2004 integrating nutrition and physical activity. Nord 2004:013.
- 5. US Department of Health and Human Services. Physical activity and health: A report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta (GA): US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion; 1996.
- 6. UK Department of Health. At least five a week: Evidence on the impact of physical activity and its relationship to health. UK Department of Health; 2004. A report from the Chief Medical Officer.
- 7. Jain A. Fighting obesity [Editorial]. BMJ 2004;328:1327-8.
- 8. SBU Fetma problem och åtgärder. En systematisk litteraturöversikt. Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering; 2002.
- 9. IARC Handbooks of cancer prevention. Weight control and physical activity. Volume 6, 2002. International agency för research on cancer, WHO.
- Edén B. Övervikt och fetma minskar kvinnors fertilitet: Viktnedgång och fysisk aktivitet ökar den barnlösas chanser att bli gravid. Läkartidningen 2003;100: 4096-9.
- Mattsson L-Å, Ladfors L. Övervikt och fetma en riskfaktor vid graviditet och förlossning. Ökad frekvens missbildningar, intrauterin fosterdöd och förlossningsskador. Läkartidningen 2003;100:3959-61.
- 12. Fontaine KR, Redden DT, Wang C, Westfall AO, Allision DB. Years of Life Lost Due to Obesity. JAMA 2003;289:187-93.
- 13. Sarlio-Lähteenkorva S, Silventoinen K, Lahelma E. Relative weight and income at different levels of socioeconomic status. Am J Publ Health 2004;94:468-72.
- 14. Darnton-Hill I, Nishida C, James WPT. A life course approach to diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Publ Health Nut 2004;7(1A): 101-21.
- 15. Lobstein T, Frelut M-L. Prevalence of overweight among children in Europe. Obes Rev 2003;4:195-200.
- 16. Landstingsförbundet 2004. Kostnadsutveckling i svensk sjukvård relaterad till övervikt och fetma några scenarier. Landstingsförbundet; 2004. www.lf.se
- 17. Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. BMJ 2000;320:1240-3.
- 18. Becker W, Enghardt Barbieri H. Svenska barns matvanor 2003 resultat från enkätfrågor. Livsmedelsverket; 2004. www.slv.se.
- Rasmussen F, Eriksson M, Bokedal C, Schäfer Elinder L. COMPASS en studie i sydvästra Storstockholm. Fysisk aktivitet, matvanor, övervikt och självkänsla bland ungdomar. Stockholm: Samhällsmedicin & Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. R 2004:1.

- Petersen S, Brulin C, Bergström E. Increasing prevalence of overweight in young schoolchildren in Umeå, Sweden, from 1986 to 2001. Acta Paediatr 2003;92:848-53.
- Ekblom ÖB, Oddsson K, Ekblom BT. Prevalence and regional differences in overweight in 2001 and trends in BMI distribution in Swedish children from 1987 to 2001. Scand J Public Health 2003;31:1-7.
- Rasmussen F, Johansson M. Increase in the prevalence of overweight and obesity from 1995 to 1998 among 18-year-old males in Sweden. Acta Paediatr 2000;89(7):888-9.
- 23. Reilly JJ, Dorosty AR. Epidemic of obesity in UK children. Lancet 1999;354.
- 24. Reilly JJ, E M, McDowell ZC, B H, Alexander D, Stewart L, et al. Health consequences of obesity. Review. Arch Dis Child 2003;88:748-52.
- 25. Zwiauer K, Caroli M, Malecka-Tendera E, Poskitt E. Clinical features, adverse effects and outcome. I: Child and adolescent obesity. London: Cambridge University Press; 2002.
- 26. Andersen T, Rissanen A, Rössner S, red. Fetma/fedme en nordisk lärobok. Lund: Studentlitteratur; 1998.
- 27. Lindberg G, Melander A. Kan läkemedel förebygga ohälsa? Malmö och Stockholm: Stiftelsen NEPI; 2004.
- 28. Swanberg I. Prevention av ätstörningar kunskapsläget idag. Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. R2004:40.
- 29. Becker W, Pearson M. Riksmaten 1997–98. Kostvanor och näringsintag i Sverige. Metod och resultatanalys. Uppsala: Livsmedelsverket; 2002.
- 30. Nationella Folkhälsoenkäten: På lika villkor. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004.
- Roos G, Prättila R. Disparities in food habits. Review of research in 15 European countries. FAIR-97-3096. Helsinki, Finland: Publications of the National Public Health Institute; 1999. B24/1999.
- 32. Hagman U, Bruce Å, Persson L-Å, Samuelson G, Sjölin S. Food habits and nutrient intake in childhood in relation to health and socio-economic conditions – A Swedish multicentre study 1980–81. Acta Pediatr Scand 1986;S328:1-56.
- 33. Jälminger A-K, Marmur A, Callmer E. "Min Matdagbok" En matvaneundersökning bland barn i årskurs tre från områden med olika socioeko-nomiska förhållanden i Stockholms län. Centrum för Tillämpad Näringslära. Samhällsmedicin, Stockholms Läns Landsting; 2003. Rapport nr. 27. www.sll.se.
- Födevaredirektoratet. Danskarnes kostvaner 2000–2001. Udvecklingen i danskernes kost – forbrug, inköb og vaner. Danmark: Födevaredirektoratet. Avdelning för ernäring; 2002. FödevareRapport 2002:10.
- 35. Lillegaard ITL. UNGKOST 2000. Sosial- og helsedirektoratet, avdelning for ernäring, Statens näringsmiddelstillsyn og Institutt for ernäringsforskning, Universitetet i Oslo; 2002.
- 36. Engström L-M. Idrott som social markör. Stockholm: HSL Förlag; 1999.
- Danielson M, Marklund U. Svenska skolbarns hälsovanor 1997/98, tabellrapport. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2000. R 2000:5.
- Danielson M. Svenska skolbarns hälsovanor 2001/02. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2003. R 2003:50.

- 39. Robinson TN. Television viewing and childhood obesity. Pediatr Clin North Am 2001;48:1017-25.
- 40. Hancox RJ, Milne BJ, Poulton R. Association between child and adolescent television viewing and adult health: a longitudinal birth study. Lancet 2004;364(9430):257-62.
- 41. Mackenbach JP, Cavelaars AEJM, Kunst AE, Groenhof F, EU Working Group on Socioeconomic Inequalities in Health. Socioeconomic inequalities in cardiovascular disease morality. An international study. Eur Heart J 2000;21:1141-51.
- 42. Swinburn B, Egger G, Raza F. Dissecting obesogenic environments: The development and application of a framework for identifying and prioritizing environmental interventions for obesity. Prev Med 1999;29:563-70.
- 43. Taheri S, Lin L, Austin D, Young T, Mignot E. Short sleep duration is associated with reduced leptin, elevated ghrelin and increased body mass index. Public Library of Science Medicine 2004;1:210-7.
- 44. Bauman AE, Bellew B, Vita P, Brown W, Owen N. Getting Australia active: towards better practice for the promotion of physical activity. Melbourne, Australia: National Public Health Partnership; 2002.
- 45. Kahn EB, Ramsey LT, Brownson RC, Heath GW, Howze EH, Powell KE, et al. The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activity. A systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2002;22(4 Suppl):73-107.
- 46. Trost SGN, Owen N, Bauman AE, Sallis JF, Brown W. Correlates of adults' participation in physical activity: review and update. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2002;34:1996-2001.
- 47. Sallis JF, Owen N. Physical activity and behavioral medicine. Thousand Oaks (US): Sage Publications; 1999.
- 48. King AC. How to promote physical activity in a community: research experiences from the US highlighting different community approaches. Patient Educ Couns 1998;33(1 suppl):3-12.
- 49. Humpel N, Owen N, Leslie E. Environmental factors associated with adults' participation in physical activity: A review. Am J Prev Med 2002;22:188-99.
- 50. King AC. Environmental and policy approaches to the promotion of physical activity. I: Rippe J, red. Lifestyle Medicine. Norwalk (CT): Blackwell Science; 1999.
- 51. Cordain L, Gotshall RW, Eaton SB. Physical activity, energy expenditure and fitness: an evolutionary perspective. Int J Sports Med 1998;19:328-35.
- 52. Hill JO, Wyatt HR, Melanon EL. Genetic and environmental contributions to obesity. Med Clin North Am 2000;84:333-46.
- 53. Regmi A, Deepak MS, Seale Jr JL, Bernstein J. Cross-country analysis of food consumption patterns. Economic Research Service/USDA; 2003. Changing Structure of Global Food Consumption and Trade/WRS-01-1.
- 54. FAO. World agriculture: towards 2015/2030. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2002. Summary report.
- 55. FAO. The world food summit five years later. Mobilizing the political will and resources to banish world hunger. 2004.

- 56. Matthiessen J, Fagt S, Biltoft-Jensen A, Beck AM, Ovesen L. Size makes a difference. Public Health Nutrition 2003;6:65-72.
- 57. Nestlé M. Food Politics: How the food industry influences nutrition and health. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press; 2002.
- 58. Jordbruksverket. Konsumtionen av livsmedel och dess näringsinnehåll. 2004. Rapport 2004:7.
- Molarius A. The contribution of lifestyle factors to socio-economic differences in obesity in men and women – a population-based study in Sweden. Eur J Epidemiol 2003;18:227-34.
- 60. Millstone E, Lang T. The atlas of food. Who eats what, where and why? London: Earthscan Publications Ltd; 2003.
- 61. WHO. Global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. 2004 May. WHA57 17, 22.
- 62. Regeringens skrivelse 2003/04:129. En svensk strategi för hållbar utveckling ekonomisk, social och miljömässig. 3 maj 2004.
- Neumark-Sztainer D, Wall MM, Story M, Perry CL. Correlates of unhealthy weight-control behaviors among adolescents: Implications for prevention programs. Health Psychol 2003;22:88-98.
- 64. Ministère de l'emploi et de la solidarité, Ministère délégué à la santé. National Nutritional-Health Programme 2001–2005. République Francaise.
- 65. Ministry of Health. Healthy eating healthy action: Oranga Kai Oranga Pumai Implementation plan: 2004–2010. Wellington (NZ): Ministry of health; 2004. www.moh.govt.nz.
- 66. The Scottish Office. Eating for health: a diet action plan for Scotland. 1996. www.scotland.gov.uk.
- 67. Food and well being. Reducing inequalities through a nutrition strategy for Wales. Cardiff: Food Standards Agency Wales; 2003. www.food.gov.uk.
- 68. Department of Health. Choosing health making healthy choices easier. London (UK): HM Government; 2004.
- 69. Sundhedsstyrelsen, Center for Forebyggelse. Oplag til national handlingsplan mod svar overvagt. Forslag til lösninger og perspektiver. Köbenhavn (DK); 2003.
- 70. CPHN. Gill T, King L, Webb K. Best options for promoting healthy weight and preventing weight gain in NSW. New South Wales Centre for public health nutrition and NSW Department of health; 2004. www.cphn.biochem.usyd.edu.au.
- 71. Health Committee, House of Commons. Obesity. Third report of session 2003-04. Volume I Report, together with formal minutes. HC 23-1. London: The Stationary Office; 2004 May 27.
- 72. Raine KD. Overweight and obesity in Canada: A population Health Perspective. Ottawa (Canada): Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI): 2004.
- 73. Nasjonalt fagråd for ernäring. Strategiplan nationellt nutritionsarbete 2004–2014 (utkast). Oslo (Norge); 2004.
- 74. Nordiska ministerrådet. Nordisk handlingsplan for befre sundhed og livskvalitet gennem mad og fysisk aktivitet. EK-Livs; 6 dec 2004.
- 75. The National Audit Office. Tackling Obesity in England. Report by the con-roller and auditor general. HC 220 Session 2000-2001: 15 February 2001. London: The Stationary Office. 8 February 2001.

- 76. Wanless D. Securing health for the whole population. HMSO; 2004. Final Report February 2004.
- 77. Hastings G, Stead M, McDermott L. Review of research on the effects of food promotion to children. Final Report. England: Food Standards Agency; 2003. www.csm.strath.ac.uk.
- 78. Food Standards Agency. www.food.gov.uk/industry/consultations.
- 79. Nationell handlingsplan för nutrition 1995. Livsmedelsverket och Statens folkhälosinstitut.
- Folkhälsoinstitutet och Livsmedelsverket. Nationella mål och strategier för nutrition 1999–2004. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut och Livsmedelsverket; september 1999. Rapport 1999:19.
- 81. Haglind P, Ljung M. Nationella mål och strategier för nutrition 1999–2004 utvärdering. Livsmedelsverket; 2004. Rapport 2004:18.
- 82. Hammerslag A. Kommunernas organisation för folkhälsofrågor år 2003. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. R 2004:21.
- 83. Regeringskansliet. Konventionen om barnets rättigheter. Stockholm; 2003.
- 84. Regeringens proposition 2000/01:130 Svenska miljömål delmål och åtgärdsstrategier.
- 85. Regeringens proposition 2002/03:35 Mål för folkhälsan; December 2002.
- 86. Dahlin I, Lindeskog P. Ett första steg mot hållbara matvanor. Centrum för tillämpad näringslära; 1999. Rapport 23.
- 87. Frykberg J. Vad kostar hållbara matvanor? En ekonomisk jämförelse mellan dagens konsumtion och ett förslag till en hälsomässigt och miljömässigt hållbar livsmedelskonsumtion, 2004. Statens folkhälsoinstitut, under publicering.
- Brummond MF, O'Brien B, Stoddart GL, Torrance GW. Methods for the economic evaluation of health care programmes. 2 uppl., Oxford: Oxford university press; 1997.
- Narbro K, Jonsson E, Larsson B, Waaler H, Wedel H, Sjöström L. Economic consequences of sick-leave and early retirement in obese Swedish woman. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1996;20:895-903.
- 90. Nabro K, Ågren G, Jonsson E, Näslund I, Sjöström L, Peltonen M. Pharmaceutical costs in obese: A comparison with randomly selected population sample, and long-term changes after conventional and surgical treatment. The SOS intervention study. I: Nabro K, red. Economic Aspects of Obesity. Göteborgs Universitet; 2001.
- 91. Landstingsförbundet. Kostnadsutveckling i svensk sjukvård relaterad till övervikt och fetma – några scenarier. Vårdens resursbehov och utmaningar på längre sikt. Institutet för Hälso- och sjukvårdsekonomi; 2004.
- 92. Gold MR, Siegel JE, Russell LB, Weinstein MC. Cost-Effectiveness in Health and Medicine. New York: Oxford University Press; 1996.
- 93. OECD, red. Cost-effectiveness of interventions to prevent or treat obesity and type 2 diabetes. A preliminary review of the literature in OECD countries. Workshop on the economics of prevention; 15 October 2004. Ad Hoc Group on the OECD Health Project. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development; 2004.

4 **Objectives and targets**

Objectives for societal measures regarding healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity

1. Society should be organised in such way as to make it easy for all groups in the population to have healthy dietary habits.

2. Society should be organised in such a way as to provide the conditions for increased physical activity for all groups in the population.

Targets for healthy dietary habits

1. Increase consumption of fruit and vegetables.

2. Increase consumption of keyhole-labelled foods.

3. Reduce consumption of food such as soft drinks, sweets, crisps, cakes and biscuits, ice cream and alcoholic drinks.

Motivations behind the targets for healthy dietary habits

The body's requirement of various nutrients and energy is the basis for nutritional recommendations. These provide advice on how to compose a diet from a nutritional point of view and how to structure mealtimes to provide the right conditions for good health. The recommendations are based on an assessment of the scientific literature available each time they are updated. The Nordic countries have had joint nutritional recommendations since 1980 known as the Nordic Nutrition Recommendations (NNR).

The latest version of these is from 2004 (1). Every time the recommendations are reviewed, a working group, comprising Nordic nutrition researchers and representatives from government authorities, scrutinises the current scientific literature in the field. A proposal is worked out which is then assessed by a broader group of researchers. The NNR are to a great extent in line with recommendations in other countries. The recommendations have been changed relatively little over the years while the scientific foundations on which they are based have been significantly strengthened. In other words, there is considerable consensus concerning what represents a desirable intake of energy and nutrients for different population groups. The recommendations are firmly grounded on solid scientific knowledge.

Swedish Nutrition Recommendations, SNR, are formulated on the basis of NNR. Since 1971, Sweden has had recommendations for diet and physical activity issued by the authorities concerned, primarily the National Board of Health and Welfare, the National Food Administration and the National Institute of Public Health. These recommendations include advice on the level of nutrients and on food as well as advice concerning the distribution of meals during the day. The National Food Administration has recently 'translated' SNR to food consumption (2). This work included consideration of current Swedish dietary habits according to the latest national nutritional survey (3). A man and a woman with low physical activity represented typical subjects. A diet was compiled to fulfil all the Swedish nutrition recommendations with as little departure as possible from current average dietary habits. Meals are distributed during the day into breakfast, lunch and supper with some snacks between.

This work has been able to identify and quantify the most important changes in dietary habits, from a public health perspective, which would lead to a reduced risk of overweight, cardio-vascular disease, diabetes, certain types of cancer and dental caries.

These are:

- Double consumption of fruit and vegetables,
- Double consumption of bread, mainly wholemeal
- Change to liquid fats and oils when cooking
- Choose keyhole-labelled dairy and meat products
- Double consumption of fish
- Halve the intake of salt
- Halve consumption of soft drinks, sweets, crisps, cakes and biscuits, ice cream and alcoholic drinks.

These changes in food consumption would lead to:

- Reduced intake of energy
- Reduced intake of saturated fat
- Reduced intake of fat
- Reduced intake of salt
- Reduced intake of refined sugar
- Increased intake of unsaturated fat
- Increased intake of dietary fibre

Almost identical nutritional recommendations have been issues in other countries (4-6) on the basis of international nutritional studies (7) and by WHO (8).

The objectives for healthy dietary habits will be followed up in dietary surveys described in Measure 44 in the Food Policy section.

What do the targets entail?

Fruit and vegetables: According to the Swedish recommendations for fruit and vegetables, everyone over 10 years of age should eat at least 0.5 kilos a day (equivalent to about 2-3 pieces of fruit and 2 portions of vegetables) and children between 4 and 10 years should eat around 400 grams a day. Increased consumption of *keyhole-labelled food* necessitates both the replacement of certain foodstuffs by keyhole alternatives (such as cheese and meat products) and an increase in the consumption of other foodstuffs (such as fish, fruit and vegetables). All in all, this would contribute to a higher intake of dietary fibre and a reduced intake of fat, saturated fat, refined sugar and salt. The revision of the keyhole system (9) means that even low-fat and fibre-rich foods which do not contain too much salt and sugar, and entire food groups considered healthy, will be labelled. Increased consumption of keyhole-labelled food would

therefore contribute to increased consumption of wholemeal bread and fish. The keyhole is a well-known symbol making it easier for consumers to choose food in shops and restaurants. Children under 2 should eat more fat than adults. For this reason skimmed milk and low-fat margarine are not recommended for children under 2. On the other hand, small children should also limit their intake of saturated fat and therefore keyhole-labelled cheese and meat products are recommended. Nor are skimmed milk and low-fat margarine recommended for elderly people who find it difficult to maintain body weight.

Foodstuffs not included in the food circle contain a lot of energy, fat and/or sugar while at the same time provide little nutritional value. These include products such as *soft drinks, sweets, cakes and biscuits, ice cream and alcoholic drinks*. High consumption of these foods is associated with a high energy, sugar and fat intake and/or a nutritionally deficient diet (1, 7, 10-11). Many consumers find these products attractive and difficult to resist. Whilst the National Food Administration was translating the nutritional recommendations into food (2), it was seen that if a person's diet is of good quality in general then food of this type could comprise at most 15 per cent of the energy intake including alcohol which, in turn, should comprise at most 5 per cent of energy intake. This means that for most adults, no more than 200 to 300 kcal per day should come from this type of food. This is equivalent to around 50 grams of sweets, a bun or a glass of a soft drink and a handful of crisps. Today such food represent on average 25 per cent of the energy intake among adults and children (3).

Targets for physical activity

Increase the proportion of healthy adults who are physically active for at least 30 minutes at a moderate level or more every day, or in total at least 3.5 hours per week.
Increase the proportion of healthy children who are physically active for at least 60 minutes at a moderate level or more every day, or in total at least 7 hours per week.
Reduce the proportion of children and adults with a sedentary lifestyle.

Motivation behind the targets for physical activity – adults

Physical activity is defined as all types of movement that increases energy expenditure. Health-promoting physical activity includes all physical activity that improves health and physical capacity without causing injury or some other health risk. Total energy expenditure represents the sum of three parts: 1) The basal metabolic rate required to maintain and sustain various physiological functions and tissue generation is responsible for 60 per cent of energy consumption, 2) the thermal effects of digestion which represent around 10 per cent, 3) physical activity which, for a person with an average level of activity, represents around 30 per cent and is the most variable component of energy expenditure.

The current recommendation of at least 30 minutes of moderately (or more) intensive physical activity (such as brisk walks) preferably every day (1, 12) is based primarily on cardio-vascular health effects. The recommendations are also strongly linked to functional effects such as the reduction of blood pressure, blood sugar levels and improved heart function. The recommended level of activity facilitates weight control, especially in people with a relatively sedentary lifestyle. With an increasing

energy intake, 45 to 60 minutes per day at moderate level or more is required if weight is to remain stable (13-14). Research indicates that people who have been overweight or obese but who have lost weight may need 60 to 90 minutes of physical activity per day to sustain energy balance (14).

Even though higher volumes of physical activity than 30 minutes per day can provide greater health benefits, the objectives reflect high general health effects and better achievability among the population while keeping the risk of injury low. The objectives are in line with the new Nordic Nutrition Recommendations (1) and international recommendations published by expert groups (15-17).

The recommendation of at least 30 minutes of health-promoting physical activity each day also applies to elderly people. The elderly should focus especially on everyday physical activities that can improve functional capacity in the form of muscle strength, coordination and balance. A sedentary lifestyle is characterised by little or no daily physical activity or exercise and low volumes of physical activity in general (16). This lifestyle would include, for instance, activities such as office work without physical exertion during the daytime, motorised transport between work and home, TV watching and physically passive recreational activities.

A sedentary lifestyle is an increasing problem that contributes to the development of cardio-vascular disease, type 2 diabetes, high blood pressure, colon and breast cancer, osteoporosis, overweight and obesity, high serum cholesterol, stroke and several mental problems such as anxiety and non-clinical depression (16-17). Both obesity and a sedentary lifestyle increase the risk of type 2 diabetes and cardio-vascular diseases. WHO (18) has identified physical inactivity as one of the 10 leading global causes of death with almost 2 million deaths annually in the west and it is therefore very important from a public health perspective to reduce the number of people leading such a lifestyle.

The targets for physical activity among adults will be followed up with nationally representative questionnaires conducted by the National Institute of Public Health.

Motivation behind the targets for physical activity – children

There are very strong arguments in favour of encouraging children to be as active as possible including maintaining energy balance, well-being, bone health and agility. At the same time, physical activity is an important tool for play and recreation, acquisition of motor and social skills and the development of creativity (19). Recommendations advise children to be physically active for about 60 minutes every day at moderately intensive levels or more, of which two sessions a week should comprise activities to strengthen the bones and enhance muscular strength and agility (1, 20-21).

The recommended volume of physical activity can be achieved either by performing all the required activities during a single session or by accumulated bouts during the course of the day (such as 3x10 minutes for adults or 6×10 minutes for children) (22).

In order to follow up physical activity among children, indicators are needed for physical activity as described in Measure 12 in the Public Health Policy section.

Targets for body weight

- 1. Prevent weight gain from normal to overweight in adults.
- 2. Promote normal weight gain among children.

Motivation behind the targets

Preventive action aims to ensure that fewer people suffer from overweight, especially children. A high BMI is a strong risk factor for a number of diseases but even weight gain in itself heightens the risk of diabetes, high blood pressure and cardio-vascular disease (23). The combination of elevated BMI along with weight gain heightens a large number of risk factors. Weight increase among adults consists largely of adipose tissue which often accumulates around the abdomen. This is the most health damaging type of adipose tissue. To encourage weight stabilisation rather than weight loss could also help avoid too much focus on unhealthy dieting and reduce the stigmatisation of overweight people.

For children who are still growing and who put on weight for this reason, it is important not to deviate from established weight curves. Children with moderate overweight should not attempt to lose weight. Their BMI can be normalised if their weight remains stable while they grow taller.

The target for body weight should, for adults, be followed up by Statistics Sweden (ULF surveys). Children's height and weight should be registered to facilitate follow-up of the target for body weight as described in Measures 11 and 12 in the Public Health Policy section of this report.

Referenser

- 1. Nordic Nutrition Recommendations, NNR, 2004 integrating nutrition and physical activity. Nord 2004:013, ISBN 92-893-1062-6.
- Enghardt Barbieri H, Lindvall C. De svenska näringsrekommendationerna översatta till livsmedel – Underlag till generella råd på livsmedels- och måltidsnivå för friska vuxna. Uppsala: Livsmedelsverket; 2003. Rapport 1.
- 3. Riksmaten 1997–98. Kostvanor och näringsintag i Sverige. Metod och resultatanalys. Uppsala: Livsmedelsverket; 2002.
- 4. De 7 kostråd. Danmark: Födevarestyrelsen. www.altomkost.dk.
- 5. Mat og mosion. Helsetips fra Sosial- og helsedirektoratet, Norge. www.shdir.no.
- 6. Healthy Diet. Food Standards Agency, Storbritannien. www.eatwell.gov.uk.
- 7. Becker W. Fett & Kolhydrater balansen är viktig. Vår Föda 2003;2:22-6.
- 8. CINDI dietary guide. Twelve steps to healthy eating. WHO Europe; 2000.
- 9. Förslaget om Nyckelhålet sänt till EU-kommissionen. Livsmedelsverkets föreskrifter om användning av viss symbol. www.livsmedelsverket.se.
- 10. Becker W. Konsumtion av frukt, grönsaker, fett och kostfiber. Kostfaktorers samband med kostsammansättning och näringsintag. Rapport 11/95. Uppsala: Livsmedelsverket; 1995.
- Enghardt Barbieri H. Vad äter barnen i Sverige? Färska resultat från Livsmedelsverkets nationella undersökning om barns matvanor. Folkhälsostämman; 11 oktober 2004. www.folkhalsostamman.nu.
- 12. Svenska Läkaresällskapet. Fysisk aktivitet och hälsa att ordinera träning på recept. 2001-11-01.
- 13. Fogelholm M, Kukkonen-Harjula K. Does physical activity prevent weight gain a systematic review. Obes Rev 2000;1:95-111.
- Saris WHM, Blair SN, van Baak MA, Eaton SB, Davies PSW, Di Pietro L, et al. How much physical activity is enough to prevent unhealthy weight gain? Outcome of the IASO 1st Stock Conference and consensus state-ment. Obesity Reviews 2003;4:101-14.
- Pate RR, Pratt M, Blair SN, Haskell WL, Macera CA, Bouchard C, et al. Physical activity and public health: A recommendation from the centers for disease control and prevention and the American college of sports medicine. JAMA 1995;273:402-7.
- 16. US Department of Health and Human Services. Physical activity and health: A report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta (GA, US): Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion; 1996.
- 17. UK Department of Health. At least five a week: Evidence on the impact of physical activity and its relationship to health. Department of Health; 2004.
- WHO The World Health Report. Reducing risks, promoting healthy life. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002. Report No.: 92 4 156207 2.
- 19. Biddle S, Sallis J, Cavill N, red. Young and active? Young people and healthenhancing physical activity: evidence and implications. London: Health Education Authority; 1998.

- 20. WHO. How much physical activity needed to improve and maintain health. www.who.int/hpr/physactiv/pa.how.much.html. Geneva; 2003.
- Cavill N, Biddle S, Sallis JF. Health-enhancing physical activity for young people: Statement of the United Kingdom Expert Consensus Conference. Pediatric Exercise Science 2001;13:12-25.
- 22. Pate RR, Pratt M, Blair SN, Haskell WL, Macera CA, Bonchard C, et al. Physical activity and public health: A recommendation from the centers for disease control and prevention and the American college of sports medicine. JAMA 1995;273:402-7.
- 23. Willet W. Guidelines for healthy weight. N Engl J Med 1999;341:427-34.

58 OBJECTIVES – Background material for the action plan on healthy dietary habits AND TARGETS – Background material for the action plan on healthy dietary habits

5 Strategies to achieve the objectives

Changes in society have significantly affected dietary habits and the degree of physical activity among the population. To improve dietary habits and increase physical activity, measures should primarily be directed at the level in society where conditions for healthy dietary habits and physical activity are created thus making it easier to adopt a healthy lifestyle. It is especially important for all actors to influence the supply, availability and/or demand for food and physical activity. Experience has shown that people make healthy choices significantly more often if the surrounding environment is supportive (1).

The WHO Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health

In its Global Strategy for Diet, Physical Activity and Health adopted by the World Health Assembly in May 2004, WHO emphasises that governments have a decisive impact on enduring changes in public health (2). A strategy based on creating a supportive environment and then promoting healthy choices has the greatest potential for sustainable behavioural changes. WHO stresses that this strategy should be based on the best scientific research and evidence, be multisectoral and comprehensive, have a long-term perspective and be multidisciplinary and participatory. The strategy should take into account the complex interaction between personal choice, social norms, economic and environmental factors. WHO also underlines the importance of integrated measures over several societal levels and cooperation between actors from the public, commercial and voluntary sectors to improve public health. Socially-oriented measures are needed to reach the most vulnerable groups in society. WHO recommends the use of government policy instruments such as:

- Information, education, communication
- Taxes and subsidies
- Regulation and legislation
- Direct financial support to selected measures
- Development of the knowledge base, through e.g. research and enquiries.

A model for public health work

Swedish public health policy and the WHO Global Strategy are based on international public health research which has shown that health promotion directed exclusively towards the individual without affecting the societal conditions for health, does not achieve the desired effects.

A model for health promotion that has evolved during the past decades is founded on behavioural and social sciences which emphasise the significance of individual factors in combination with the social and physical environment he socio-ecological model (3-6). In this model, measures conducted by public actors at national, regional and local levels are integrated with the measures taken at local level known as multi-level interventions.

The evaluation of this approach is, however, complex and research in the field is limited. Due to the rapid increase in obesity, behavioural scientists from all over the world recommend multi-level interventions in tandem with the development of evaluation methods to avoid having to wait for the findings from randomised controlled studies (6-14). For such comprehensive social change, however, it is not feasible to have a control group. The effects have to be monitored in the form of systematically collected data on dietary habits, physical activity and body weight in different population groups. It is also difficult to evaluate which isolated measures have had the greatest impact when a battery of measures are employed (15).

Experience from other fields such as tobacco and HIV/AIDS provide both a basis and support for the above recommendations for multi-level interventions. From the tobacco field, the combination of a series of measures simultaneously at different levels in society is seen as having contributed substantially to the success of work to reduce smoking (16). In this instance, a combination of education measures, regulatory and financial measures were used. Thailand is one of the few countries in the world which has succeeded in preventing the spread of HIV/AIDS. In this case, political leadership and decisive action from the national down to the local level were crucial (17). The significance of having reliable, publicly available data on the occurrence of HIV/AIDS has also been indicated as significant along with the ability to track changes. When data is developed and made available it is difficult for decision-makers, and also for comercial interests, organisations and individuals, not to take action. Once again, the weight of the collective effect of a number of different measures is underlined as is the difficulty of pointing to isolated measures as success factors.

Strategy for achieving healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity

Based on public health policy, the use of WHO's Global Strategy and public health research, a strategy for how to achieve the objectives for healthy dietary habits, increased physical activity and body weight is proposed:

- Measures should be directed towards both society and the individual.
- Measures should be long-term.
- Resources should be made available for implementation.
- Measures should be coordinated at national, regional and local level.
- Measures must build on partnerships between the public, private and nonprofit sectors.

• Measures at local level are within policy areas impacting most on societal conditions for dietary habits and physical activity.

Implementation of measures should consider local conditions and be based on the participation of the population.

• Evaluation and follow-up should be continually integrated in the work.

Priorities

Measures promoting the creation of supportive environments for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity for children and young people should be given priority during the initial stage. Efforts to coordinate and follow-up measures and objectives should also be prioritised in order to implement a plan of action.

Changes in society have significantly affected dietary habits and the degree of physical activity among the population. To improve dietary habits and increase physical activity, measures should primarily be directed at the level in society where conditions for healthy dietary habits and physical activity are created thus making it easier to adopt a healthy lifestyle. It is especially important for all actors to influence the supply, availability and/or demand for food and physical activity. Experience has shown that people make healthy choices significantly more often if the surrounding environment is supportive (1).

Referenser

- 1. Pettersson B, Tillgren P (red), Finer D, Haglund BJ. Playing time ... Creating supportive environments för health. Report from The 3rd International Conference on Health Promotion. Sundsvall (Sweden); 1991 June 9–15.
- 2. WHO. Global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 May. WHA57 17, 22.
- 3. Swinburn B, Egger G. Preventive strategies against weight gain and obesity. Obes Rev 2002;3:289-301.
- 4. Smedley BD, Syme SL, red. Promoting health. Intervention strategies from social and behavioral research. Washington (DC): National Academy Press; 2000.
- 5. Glanz K, Rimer BK, Lewis FM, red. Health behavior and health education. Theory, research and practice. 3 uppl., San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2002.
- 6. Spence JC, Lee RE. Toward a comprehensive model of physical activity. Psychology of Sport and Exercise 2003;4:7-24.
- 7. Sallis JF, Prochaska JJ, Taylor WC. A review of correlates of physical activity of children and adolescents. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000;32:963-75.
- 8 Swinburn B, Egger G, Raza F. Dissecting obesogenic environments: The development and application of a framework for identifying and prioritizing environmental interventions for obesity. Prev Med 1999;29:563-70.
- 9. Hillsdon M, Foster C, Naidoo B, Crombie H. The effectiveness of public health interventions for increasing physical activity among adults: a review of reviews. London: Health Development Agency, NHS; 2004 Feb. Evidence briefing 1st edition.
- 10. Dietz WH, Gortmaker SL. Preventing obesity in children and adolescents. Annu Rev Public Health 2001;22:337-53.
- 11. Darnton-Hill I, Nishida C, James WPT. A life course approach to diet, nutri-tion and the prevention of chronic diseases. Publ Health Nut 2004;7(1A): 101-21.
- 12. Lobstein T, Frelut M-L. Prevalence of overweight among children in Europe. Obes Rev 2003;4:195-200.
- 13. Richter KP, Harris KJ, Paine-Andrews A, Fawcett SB, Schmid TL, Lankenau BH, et al. Measuring the health environment for physical activity and nutrition among youth: A review for physical activity and applications for community initiatives. Prev Med 2003;31:98-111.
- 14. Kumanyika SK. Minisymposium on obesity: Overview and some strategic considerations. Annu Rev Public Health 2001;22:293-308.
- 15. SBU. Förebyggande åtgärder mot fetma. Stockholm: Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering; November 2004.
- Mercer SL, Green LW, Rosenthal AC, Husten CG, Kahn LK, Dietz WH. Possible lessons from the tobacco experience for obesity control. Am J Clin Nutr 2003;77:1073S-82.
- 17. Ainsworth M, Beyrer C, Soucat A. AIDS and public policy: the lessons and challenges of "success" in Thailand. Health Policy 2003;64:13-37.

6 Measures and motivations

This chapter presents measures arranged in accordance with the 13 policy areas that are judged to have the greatest impact on the conditions for healthy dietary habits ad physical activity in society. The relevant authorities can be found under the policy area to which they belong. Measures aimed at county councils, municipalities or organisations, are arranged under the policy area to which they most naturally belong. Within each policy area, there are already well-defined objectives and targets some of which support the promotion of healthy dietary habits and physical activity. We propose that only two minor adjustments be made to existing objectives under consumer and food policy respectively.

A lead actor has been appointed for each measure. The measure is often to be carried out in cooperation or in consultation with other stipulated actors. After each measure has been described, the motivation behind it is explained.

The costs to central government are stipulated when the measure necessitates government funding over and above the relevant authority's ordinary budget. Neither costs estimated to be less than SEK 500,000 nor the costs to municipalities and county councils are indicated. Several of the measures, where the municipalities or county councils are appointed the lead actors, need additional resources to be carried out. Whether these resources are provided in the form of government grants to the municipalities and county councils or whether they can be provided within the existing budgetary frameworks must be the subject of discussion between the Government and the stakeholders concerned. Several measures on the local and regional level also need further analysis so that their cost can be estimated. Too little time was available to be able to make any detailed cost estimates.

63

Working life policy

The aim of working life policy is to ensure good employment conditions that provide opportunities for development at work for both men and women. Legislation helps to create healthy, secure and safe environments for employment that also offer scope for development. A positive working environment is one that prevents ill-health and accidents, is adapted to the different physical and psychological conditions of the people in it while also promoting individual development.

The workplace is a key setting in which improvements in health can be promoted and health inequalities diminished (1). Since the majority of adults work, the workplace is a setting in which many people can be reached regardless of sex, age, social group and ethnicity. Work-related ill health and long-term sick leave have accelerated in recent years. It is important to highlight preventive efforts in working life and their signifycance for public health. The workplace can provide social support and reinforcement for changes in attitudes. It is one of the few settings that have succeeded in attracting men to preventive healthcare (2-4). For adults, the workplace could have the same potential as schools have for children in exerting an equalising effect on different socio-economic groups regarding dietary habits and physical activity (1).

MEASURE 1

Criteria should be developed for the certification of health-promoting workplaces including policies for food and physical activity.

Actors: National Institute for Working Life and the Swedish Work Environment Authority in cooperation with the National Food Administration and the National Institute of Public Health.

MOTIVATION

The Luxembourg Declaration on Workplace Health Promotion in the European Union (5) states that health promotion at the workplace should be a joint undertaking by employers, employees and society to improve health and well-being for people in working life. This can be achieved through a combination of improvements in work organisation and work environment, promotion of active participation and encouragement of individual development. The Institute for Working Life South is a national Swedish focal point of a Swedish network and forum for health-promoting workplaces.

The concept of health-promoting workplaces can be developed further by creating criteria for certification. The concept incorporates the creation of personnel policy actively integrating issues associated with health promotion measures. The development of criteria for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity at work should, against the background of rapidly growing prevalence of obesity among the population, be a relevant priority in the present circumstances. 'Guidelines for food at workplaces' could perform a guiding function in this work (see Measure 47 under *Food policy*).

The literature indicates that health promotion programmes with a range of different activities can lead to benefits for employees and employers, such as better corporate

image, better relations and contact with the local community, increased work satisfaction, better quality and quantity of production, fewer sick days, reduced sick leave and other forms of absence, increased ability to cope with stress, fewer conflicts at work and lower costs for sickness (6-12).

A systematic review of studies on the effectiveness of programmes promoting health in the workplace, concluded that health-promoting programmes using a general strategy can be both effective and also cost-effective (13). Individual health risk assessments and needs analyses should be included in the interventions. Physical activity at the workplace is generally considered to have proven effects in improving fitness among employees and preventing back and neck pain. There is limited evidence that workplace interventions using diet counselling has a significant on blood lipids, blood pressure and fatigue. Individual counselling to people with a high risk of developing cardio-vascular disease can be effective, however, in reducing the risk. Intervention in the workplace to reduce body weight is effective in the short term but there is, as yet, no evidence of long-term effects. Finally, there is no strong evidence that high-intensive programmes are more effective than low-intensive ones. Three factors appear to be decisive: individual risk reduction for high-risk individuals, health risk assessments (health profiles) conducted prior to the start of intervention, and consideration of the interests of the employee.

The National Institute for Working Life concludes in a report than one in four men and women have a physical capacity that is less than their work demands (14). According to the Institute, the introduction of compulsory exercise during working hours should become a general strategy for employers since regular physical activity can often improve the fitness of most employees considerably. There are a number of experiences of health promotion efforts in the workplace.

These measures included the opportunity to take part in different forms of physical activity during paid working hours, encouragement to use active transport (walking or cycling) to and from work, and instruction in physical activity and health for different categories of personnel such as, for instance, personnel managers and health and safety representatives.

Korpen, (www.korpen.se) a voluntary organisation promoting exercise for all, pioneered the concept of awarding health diplomas in 2001. So far, 800 companies with a total of 2,000 employees have been involved in health diploma projects. Surveys conducted by Korpen indicate that up to 90 per cent of the workplaces awarded a health diploma feel that the diploma has helped them structure their health work. Around 85 per cent have experienced increased interest in health promotion within their organisations. Over 80 per cent said they now have more physical activities in their workplace as a result of the health diploma project (15).

The Swedish Trade Union Confederation (LO) and Korpen are working on a joint project through health and safety representatives to start up health promotion projects at workplaces. The union-elected health and safety representatives are key persons. The most important function of the union is to provide support to members, to negotiate agreements, combat discrimination and work for a safe and secure working environment. LO and Korpen's joint idea supports this work through opportunities to develop health promotion in the workplace (16).

MEASURE 2

Proposals should be developed for how knowledge and skills on food and physical activity can be included as a recurring feature in the reemployment policy programme.

Actor: Swedish National Labour Market Administration.

MOTIVATION

The mission of the National Labour Market Administration (AMS) can be found in the ordinance (SFS 2000:628). The activities include e.g. employment service, careers guidance, working life rehabilitation, certain employment promotion measures and labour market programmes.

AMS states that labour market policy programmes in many cases can combat social exclusion, provide structure in daily life and increase social contacts which are positive for the individual (17). The authority also estimates that there is scope for the introduction of physical activity within the labour market policy programmes aimed at job seekers. Some health-related activities have been incorporated in the framework for 'activity guarantees'.

The latest national public health survey demonstrated that it was more common for the economically disadvantaged to have a more unhealthy lifestyle than those who were not economically disadvantaged (18). An important target group for health promotion could be reached by offering courses focusing on healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity within the framework for labour market policy programmes. In this way, those who are unemployed would also have access to health promotion activities that many workplaces offer today. It is especially important that the effects are evaluated and assessed for cost-effectiveness.

References

- 1. British Heart Foundation. Submission to HM Treasury. Prepared for Pre-Budget Report 2003 and Budget 2004. A lunch that works. Healthy lunches – healthy lunch breaks.
- 2. Sallis JF, Bauman A, Pratt M. Environmental and policy interventions to promote physical activity. Am J Prev Med 1998;15:379-97.
- 3. Sallis JF, Owen N. Physical activity and behavioral medicine. Thousand Oaks (US): Sage Publications; 1999.
- 4. King AC. Environmental and policy approaches to the promotion of physical activity. I: Rippe J, red. Lifestyle Medicine. Norwalk (CT): Blackwell Science; 1999.
- 5. The European Network for Workplace Health Promotion 1997, Luxembourg Declaration on Workplace Health Promotion. http://www.enwhp.org/ download/luxembourg_declaration.pdf
- 6. Shephard RJ. A critical analysis of work-site programs and their postulated economic benefits. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1992;24:354-70.
- Pelletier K. A review and analysis of the health and cost-effective outcome studies of comprehensive health promotion and disease prevention programs at the worksite: 1991–1993 update. Am J Health Promot 1993;8:50-62.
- 8. Wilson MG, Hofman PB, Hammock A. A comprehensive review of the effects of worksite health promotion on health-related outcomes. Am J Health Promot 1996;10:429-35.
- 9. Shephard RJ. Worksite fitness and exercise programs: a review of methodology and health impact. Am J Health Promot 1996;10:436-52.
- 10. Heaney CA, Goetzel RZ. A review of health-related outcomes of multi component worksite health promotion programs. Am J Health Promot 1997;11:290-307.
- Pelletier K. Clinical and cost outcomes of multifactorial, cardiovascular risk management interventions in worksites: a comprehensive review and analysis. J Occup Environ Med 1997;39:1154-69.
- 12. The Wellness Councils of America & The Wellness Councils of Canada. Health promotion: Sourcebook for small businesses. Omaha (USA): Wellness Councils of America (WELCOA); 1998.
- Källestål C (red), Bjurvald M, Menckel E, Schærström A, Schelp L, Unge C. Hälsofrämjande arbete på arbetsplatser. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. R 2004:32.
- 14. Menckel E, Österblom L. Hälsofrämjande processer på arbetsplatsen. Stockholm: Arbetslivsinstitutet; 2000.
- 15. Korpen www.korpen.se/halsodiplomering/tl.asp
- 16. Korpen www.korpen.se/t2e.asp?p=71513
- 17. Remissvar till FHI Dnr. 04-1056-09.
- 18. FHI. Nationella Folkhälsoenkäten: På lika villkor. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004.

67

Housing policy

Housing policy is of significance to public health in general and to physical activity in particular since, with the appropriate planning, environments can be created that support a physically active lifestyle. Housing policy objectives relevant to physical activity include physical planning contributing to sustainable development and a good living environment, and a favourable environment for children and young people to grow up in. The national strategy for sustainable development maintains that physical planning can promote socially and economically sustainable development providing conditions for supportive social environments with equal and worthy living conditions for everyone, and that an integrated policy for sustainable spatial planning is needed to meet the ongoing process of urbanisation in Sweden (1). Sustainable spatial planning includes people's needs for recreation in an attractive environment, which is a high priority issue on the international and European agendas for sustainable development.

Measure 3

The intersectoral group of agencies working on 'Landscape Appreciation Values' should receive continued support. Aspects of security and safety should be particularly considered to improve the prerequisites for physical activity for all.

Actors: The National Board of Housing, Building and Planning in cooperation with the National Institute of Public Health, the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, the National Heritage Board, the National Board of Forestry, the National Board of Health and Welfare, the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, The Swedish Association of Municipalities and the Swedish Federation of County Councils.

Motivation

'Landscape Appreciation Values' is a cooperative project initiated and financed by the National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, the National Heritage Board, the Forestry Board, the National Board of Health and Welfare and the National Institute of Public Health. The project aims to develop indicators for use in following up and evaluating public health and environmental objectives. The indicators will provide an idea of the quality and access to outdoor environments for various kinds of physical activities, recreation and outdoor pursuits as expressed by adults. In the longer term, indicators should also be complemented with preferences expressed by children.

The main objectives of the project include:

- Development of relevant descriptive models for landscape appreciation values, survey the need for material to facilitate use of the models and to indicate how access to information can be assured. The model should provide an integrated part of the general system for follow-up, planning and decision-making concerning environmental objectives and public health.

- Presentation of a number of indicators fulfilling given quality criteria. Indicators will be used to follow-up and to evaluate how the work towards achievement of public

health and environmental objectives is progressing. They should also be usable as tools for making assessments of the value of an area from a recreational point of view during the planning process. Indicators should primarily be used at the national level but may also provide support in regional and local planning.

The work of the group is relevant for identifying determinants of physical activity such as perceived aesthetically pleasing environments (2-4). Both actual and perceived access to places conducive to physical activity and the fact that these facilities are experienced as positive, are associated with regular physical activity (5), while dissatisfaction with facilities increase the risk of a sedentary lifestyle (6). A high sense of security and safety in housing areas has a positive effect on physical activity (2-3,7), while residents in areas with low sense of security and safety are less mobile regardless of their level of income (8). The identification and review of these environmental factors and the definition of indicators is of considerable importance for the inclusion of health aspects in physical planning. Support should also be provided for the development of information and statistics concerning national indicators on access to appreciation values.

Measure 4

An intersectoral development project on the importance of the housing environment for physical activity among children and adults should be initiated.

Actors: The National Board of Housing, Building and Planning in cooperation with the National Institute of Public Health

Motivation

It is now scientifically documented that the design and quality of the local environment affects people's physical activity and different dimensions of health (9-10). More detailed and specific knowledge is needed however to identify the determinants and on the basis of this knowledge, plan more effective interventions in the residential environment. One example is the need to examine which factors promote increased physical activity in residential areas for children, adults and the elderly. Another example, of the need for considerable intersectoral development is to examine how access to safe, secure and aesthetically pleasing staircases and steps in public premises could be increased and their use encouraged. There are several suitable funders for this research such as the Research Council for Environment, Agricultural Sciences and Spatial Planning (Formas).

Today urban developments are increasingly dense which often has negative consequences for green areas and people's opportunities to enjoy physical activities and outdoor pursuits. Grahn (11) expresses concern about this trend and proposes that qualities such as light, air and greenery are at risk of being overlooked in favour of increasingly dense building. Opportunities for children to move freely and safely in the vicinity of their homes has considerable significance for physical activity and is largely dictated by the design of play and outdoor environments in residential areas and around nurseries and schools. Positive opportunities to move in the local area for children and young people include parks, playgrounds, larger green areas and residential spaces with low traffic volumes. Children are generally more physically active outdoors than indoors (12) and increased time spent outdoors for children is therefore a high priority. Studies have discovered a link between children's activity levels and access to green areas and the number of playgrounds in the vicinity (13).

Time spent outdoors for children in residential areas has largely been replaced by the pre-school playground. During the first years at school, the school and after-school care represent an important environment. Specially designed and demarcated play areas like those at pre-school and school seem to have become more important for outdoor play in general (14). Today the collective children's culture, with children playing together, has been weakened and children have become more dependent on adults even with regard to more personal relationships such as friendship and leisure activities. Mårtensson summarises the limitations of children's scope for freedom of movement and outdoor play in a number of factors including demography, the pressurised schedules of families with children, the traffic environment and shifts in values (14).

Adults are also affected by the distance to green areas as a deciding factor relevant to physical activity. Green areas in residential areas should be situated in the immediate vicinity of residential courtyards and gardens and within a five-minute walk from home, which for the elderly and for children represents a 200-metre radius from the home. Research indicates that more or less all residents regularly used an attractive park if it was within 200 metres of where they live (15-16).

There is considerable interest internationally for the formation of new ideas regarding the development of urban and residential environments. In Sweden, the National Committee for Agenda 21 and Habitat has proposed greater investment in sustainable urban development (1). Agenda 21 is the action plan for sustainable development adopted at the UN Conference on the Environment and Development in Rio de Janeiro in 1992. Habitat is the name of two UN conferences attempting to apply Agenda 21 to cities and urban areas. The task of the National Committee has been to establish, coordinate and develop the work of Agenda 21 and Habitat in Sweden (17). At the fourth WHO Ministerial Conference on Environment and Health in Budapest in June 2004 (18), Sweden undertook to prevent and significantly reduce health consequences of accidents and injuries by promoting safe and supportive environments for all children. This includes the prevention of overweight and obesity by implementing the WHO global strategy for diet, physical activity and health (19).
The Government's Council for Architecture, Form and Design should develop ideas relating to how architecture can contribute to physical activity, e.g. developing methods to encourage people to regularly use the stairs.

Actor: Government

Motivation

Architecture, form and design can play an important role in increasing physical activity since people's everyday habits are affected by the environment and surroundings. Stairs are one example of such a resource to increase everyday physical activity and have the potential to reach a large part of Sweden's population, but stairs are often inaccessible and are often viewed simply as 'emergency exits'. Regularly taking the stairs can lead to significant health benefits. Research indicates that people who use the stairs regularly have better health than those who choose the lift, including better fitness, strength and weight loss, lower cholesterol and lower risk of osteoporosis (20-21). Furthermore, fewer deaths are reported among individuals who regularly use the stairs compared to regular users of escalators and lifts, and more deaths are reported for individuals who claim they have difficulty using the stairs (22). The potential of promoting physical activity by taking the stairs is considerable since most people automatically use the escalator or lift.

There is a need for highlighting the stairs in buildings in various ways as a tool for increased physical activity. A large number of studies demonstrate for instance that environmental prompts by the stairs (such as 'keep healthy, save time, take the stairs') can significantly increase use of the stairs (23). Environmental prompts in connection with stairs were found in a systematic review article to be one of the most effective interventions tested to increase physical activity with an increase of stair use by 50-300 per cent (23-24). Other methods tested included creating more pleasant stair cases with better lighting, lighter colours, art on the walls, music and improved accessibility and degree of security experienced (23-25). The systematic review on methods to promote physical activity by Kahn et al (24) recommended the practical application of such methods.

Building regulations issued by the National Board of Housing, Building and Planning (26) provide a list of recommendations and technical and security regulations for stairs such as the gradient of the stair, length and that the area is designed to limit the risk of children having accidents. On the other hand, there are no recommendations or regulations concerning the location or design of staircases which could be valuable in encouraging everyday physical activity, especially in buildings equipped with escalators or lifts The Government is pursuing an active policy for architecture, form and design.

The Government's action plan 'Future forms' (27) led to a number of objectives for the promotion of good architecture, form and design along with the introduction of what are known as the aesthetic paragraphs in the planning and building legislation, the legislation governing roads and the construction of railways. In 2004 the Government appointed a council for architecture, form and design under the auspices of the Ministry of Culture, with the primary task of working to assure achievement of the objectives outlined in the Future forms action plan. The council is also representing the Ministry of Culture as an expert group for the Year of Design 2005 and therefore the council is in a good position to develop ideas for how accessibility to and the design and use of stairs could be encouraged. The Council for Architecture, Form and Design could, for example, initiate a competition to create the 'best staircase'.

Measure 6

Government should introduce a specific programme and devote resources to make an inventory of, refurbish and renovate school and pre-school playgrounds so that they inspire play, movement, sport and outdoor education.

Actor:	Government

Cost: EUR 5,3 million per year

Motivation

The outdoor environment represents an important part of a child's conditions for growth and development and has a significant role as a supportive environment for physical activity, acquisition of learning, social interaction and health. Research demonstrates that the design of school playgrounds is very important for the level of physical activity among children (28-29). The Work Environment Act provides guidelines for school playgrounds and stipulates that the playground is an important break-time area for everyone in the school, but especially for the younger children (the Swedish Work Environment Authority, www.av.se). The guidelines are open to interpretation however, which in many cases leads to municipalities failing to maintain school playgrounds due to lack of financial resources. School and pre-school playgrounds have so far fallen between two actors both at national and local levels and the outdoor play of school children is still seen as a supervision problem rather than a pedagogical issue worth taking seriously (30).

The Planning and Building Act (31), Chapter 2, Section 4, states that 'Within or in the close vicinity of built-up areas there should be suitable spaces for play, exercise and other outdoor activities'. The Act also states (Chapter 3, Section 15) that: 'If areas are used for building which include one or more residential buildings or premises for childcare, schools or other comparative activities, there should be sufficiently large free spaces available for play and outdoor activities within the area or in the close vicinity'. The demands that can be placed on spaces intended for play, exercise and outdoor activities, or on the free spaces in close proximity to housing, pre-schools and schools are not described in the act. On the other hand, there is considerable knowledge about play and what encourages play in the physical environment (14, 23).

A national programme is needed for municipalities to address the challenge of renovating school playgrounds around the country so that they live up to the intentions of the Work Environment Act. Since the Education Act does not currently place any demands on an appropriately adapted outdoor environment, schools can be set up in environments which are inadequate or directly unsuitable from the point of view of children's and young people's opportunities for play and physical activity. It is therefore important that the issue is taken seriously and that all pre-schools and schools, including private schools, are affected. Both research and best practice examples are available of how school playgrounds can be made more conducive to activity and play.

References

- 1. Regeringens skrivelse 2003/04:129 En svensk strategi för hållbar utveckling ekonomisk, social och miljömässig. 3 maj 2004.
- King AC, Castro C, Wilcox S, Eyler A, Sallis JF, Brownson RC. Personal and environmental factors associated with physical inactivity among different racialethnic groups of US middle-aged and older aged adults. Health Psychol 2000;19:354-64.
- 3. Wilcox S, Castro C, King AC, Housemann R, Brownson RC. Determinants of leisure time physical activity in rural compared with urban older and ethnically diverse women in the United States. J Epidemiol Community Health 2000;54:667-72.
- 4. Ball K, Bauman A, Leslie E, Owen N. Perceived environmental aesthetics and convenience and company are associated with walking for exercise among Australian adults. Prev Med 2001;33:434-40.
- 5. Booth M, Owen N, Bauman A, Clavisi O, Leslie E. Social-cognitive and perceived environment influences associated with physical activity in older Australians. Prev Med 2000;31:15-22.
- MacDougall C, Cooke R, Owen N, Willson K, Bauman A. Relating physical activity to health status, social connections and community facilities. Aust N Z J Public Health 1997;21:631-7.
- 7. Ross CE. Walking, exercising, and smoking: does neighbourhood matter? Soc Sci Med 2000;51:265-74.
- 8. Yen IH, Kaplan GA. Poverty area residence and changes in physical activity level: evidence from the Alameda County Study. Am J Publ Health 1998;88:1709-12.
- 9. Trost SGN, Owen N, Bauman AE, Sallis JF, Brown W. Correlates of adults' participation in physical activity: review and update. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2002;34:1996-2001.
- 10. Owen N, Humpel N, Leslie E, Bauman A, Sallis JF. Understanding environ-mental influences on walking. Am J Prev Med 2004;27:67-76.
- 11. Grahn P. Gröna områden. 1999. Nationella folkhälsokommitténs underlagsrapport nr 5. Miljöfaktorer.
- 12. Baranowski T, Baranowski JC, Cullen KW, Thompson DI, Nicklas T, Zakeri IE, et al. The fun, food, and fitness project (FFFP): the Baylor GEMS pilot study. Ethn Dis 2003;13(1 Suppl 1):S30-9.
- 13. Blommaert M, Borms J, Hebbelinck M, red. Relative influences of urbaniza-tion affecting motor play activities in comparison with microsocial and somatic characteristics. Proceedings of the 24th World Congress on Health, Physical Education, and Recreation. Manila, Phillippines: ICHPER; 1981.
- Mårtensson F. Landskapet i leken: en studie av utomhuslek på förskolegården. Avhandling. Alnarp: Institutionen för Landskapsplanering, Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet; 2004.
- 15. McAuley E, Rudolph D. Physical activity, ageing and psychological well-being. J Ageing and Physical Activity 1995;3:67-96.

- Nationella Folkhälsokommittén. Miljöfaktorer: Rapport från arbetsgruppen Miljöfaktorer till Nationella Folkhälsokommittén. 1999. Underlagsrapport nr 5.
- 17. www.agenda21forum.org.
- 18. WHO. Fourth Ministerial Conference on Environment and Health. 2004. http://www.euro.who.int/document/e83338.pdf.
- 19. WHO. Global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 May. WHA57 17, 22.
- Boreham CAG, Wallace WFM, Nevill A. Training effects of accumulating daily stair climbing exercise in previously sedentary young women. Prev Med 2000;30:277-81.
- Coupland CAC, Cliffe SJ, Bassey EJ, Grainge MJ, Hosking DJ, Clivers CED. Habitual activity and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women in England. Int J Epidemiol 1999;28:241-6.
- Haapanen-Niemi N, Miilunpalo S, Vuori I, Oja P, Pasanen M. Characteristics of leisure time physical activity associated with decreased risk of premature all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality in middle-aged men. Am J Epidemiol 1996;143:870-80.
- 23. Faskunger J. Hälsofrämjande vardagsmotion genom trappbudskap en litteratursammanställning. Svensk Idrottsforskning, under publicering.
- 24. Kahn EB, Ramsey LT, Brownson RC, Heath GW, Howze EH, Powell KE, et al. The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activity. A systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2002;22(4 Suppl):73-107.
- CDC. Neighbourhood safety and the prevalence of physical inactivity-selected states, 1996. USA: National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion; 2004. Hämtad 2004-08-23 från http://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp.
- 26. Boverkets byggregler: Föreskrifter och allmänna råd. BFS 1993:57 med ändringar till och med 2002:19. Karlskrona: Boverket; 2002.
- 27. Regeringens proposition 1997/98:117 Framtidsformer Handlingsprogram för arkitektur, formgivning och design. 1998.
- 28. Sallis J, Conway TL, Prochaska JJ, McKenzie TL, Marshall SJ, Brown M. The association of school environments with youth physical activity. Am J Publ Health 2001;91:618-20.
- 29. Stratton G. Promoting children's physical activity in primary school: An intervention study using playground markings. Am J Health Promot 2000;10:282-98.
- Lindholm G. Barndomsparadis och barndomsprojekt förhållningssätt till platser för barn. Alnarp: Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet (SLU), Institutionen för landskapsplanering; 1995.
- 31. SFS 1987:10 Plan- och bygglag.
- 32. Grahn P, Mårtensson F. Ute på dagis. Movium, Alnarp; 1997. Stad & Land 1997;145.

75

Public health policy

The overarching aim of public health policy is to create societal conditions for good health on equal terms for the entire population. Within the framework for this objective, the National Institute of Public Health has been commissioned to develop a system for the follow-up and evaluation of indicators for public health, public health measures and their effects on health determinants. Furthermore, knowledge should be increased concerning the application of effective evidence-based methods for health promotion and the ways in which it can be made more efficient and better coordinated in municipalities, county councils and other relevant actors.

Public health policy can create the necessary conditions that other actors need to allow them to conduct their tasks. There is a considerable need for structures and resources for the coordination of health promotion concerning healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity. An important task is the continuous collection of data which will make possible the follow-up of various measures and, not least, the changes within different target groups regarding dietary habits, physical activity and body weight (see also Measures 42 and 44 in the section *Food policy*). Methods for health impact assessment have to be developed and specially adapted to ensure that developments within all social sectors are beneficial to public health in general and dietary habits and physical activity in particular.

Measure 7

A national committee should be created to coordinate, implement and monitor the forthcoming action plan for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity focusing on obesity. In addition to the relevant agencies, scientists and NGOs should be included. The group should report annually to the National Public Health Executive Committee.

Actors: The National Institute of Public Health in cooperation with the National Food Administration, the Work Environment Authority, the Swedish Agency for School Improvement, the Swedish National Agency for Education, the National Board of Health and Welfare, Swedish county council and municipality association etc.

Cost: EUR 53,000 per year (one full-time post)

Motivation

One of the most important conclusions drawn by the 'National objectives and strategies for nutrition 1999-2004' (1) was that responsibility and authority should be clarified and thereby establish a clear mandate for actors at national level. This is of decisive significance for the broad implementation of the objectives set. Furthermore, sufficient resources should be assured from national level for the development of methods and competence, process management and the dissemination of information. Other important tasks include the creation of methods and establishment of routines for follow-up and evaluation, as well as to ensure that the results of the work reach the relevant actors. Finally, the significance of a continuous dialogue with the stakeholders concerned is mentioned, for example, through the establishment of national fora in which healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity are part of ongoing discussion.

WHO states that the role of the Government is decisive in achieving enduring changes in public health (2). The Government has a primary steering and management role to play with regard to initiating and developing action plans, supervising their implementation and monitoring their long-term impact. A broad public debate and interest in policy development can make it easier to achieve a receptive response for the plan and render it more effective. Mechanisms will have to be introduced to encourage the participation of NGOs, civil society, local communities, the private sector and the media in activities related to food, physical activity and health. The Ministry for Health and Social Affairs in conjunction with other relevant ministries should reinforce cooperation between the various sectors at national, regional and local levels.

A review of several countries' national action plans suggest that the creation of efficient forms of cooperation at national level is considered of great importance. At hearings and during discussions held in the process of this assignment, the view has been expressed that a committee should coordinate/lead an interdepartmental group for the forthcoming action plan.

Dietary habits and physical activity will always affected by many sectors and authorities. The same applies to the issue of breastfeeding. With regard to breastfeeding, the Government has decided to resolve the cooperation issue by forming a national breastfeeding committee comprising representatives for the National Board of Health and Welfare, the Swedish Consumer Agency, The National Institute of Public Health and the National Food Administration. The National Food Administration has a coordinating role. The task of the committee is to lead national efforts within the field of breastfeeding. It meets a few times each year, invites experts and representatives from various associations when necessary, arranges larger meetings and reports regularly to the Government. An equivalent committee for dietary habits and physical activity could also be formed.

Measure 8

Each municipality is encouraged to establish a public health council or equivalent. This council should include experts in the area of diet and physical activity who should integrate these issues into community-based health promotion.

Actor: Municipalities

Motivation

An important conclusion from the 'National objectives and strategies for nutrition 1999-2004' (1) and experiences from local public health work in general are that health promotion should be institutionalised at the local and regional level so that the achievement of objectives is not dependent on the efforts of a few individuals. It is also important to ensure that sufficient resources are distributed for development, establishment and implementation.

77

The municipalities are responsible for public health in their areas of activities. A considerable amount of legislation regulating the activities of municipalities, and many of the areas of municipal activity have consequences for public health in general and for dietary habits and physical activity in particular. Many municipalities therefore have objectives, policy and strategies for health promotion but there is considerable variation between municipalities as to how this work is organised and prioritised.

Systematic reviews have concluded that interventions at community level can be very effective in increasing people's physical activity both in the short and the long term (3-4). Interventions based on theories for behaviour change and that offer individual skills training by qualified personnel show the best results. If the activities are also independent of facilities, the participation rate increases. The evidence of changes in dietary habits in the local community through communicative methods is not as strong. However if combined with changes in food availability at food outlets and catering supported by appropriate information material, it is possible to achieve some improvements in dietary habits (5). The effect ceases as a rule when the intervention ends which underlines the need for long-term efforts.

A survey of health promotion policies at municipal level was conducted by the National Institute of Public Health during the summer of 2003 with the help of a questionnaire to all the municipalities in the country (6). The study demonstrated that the organisational structure of health promotion was developing in the municipalities. It was generally concluded that several municipalities have more extensive organisations for health promotion today compared with 1995. Primarily, the number of municipalities with public health policies and public health councils has increased although many places were still without such policy. Of a total of 290 municipalities, there were policies at 144 and of these 62 per cent also had programmes within specific objective domains. Twenty six municipalities stated that they had programmes for physical activity, while only thirteen had such programmes for nutrition. Much remains to be developed at the municipal level regarding health promotion policy.

One way of ensuring a long-term approach is to see to it that efforts for healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity are not isolated from regular operation and policies. In order for this work to be integrated in the various activities and thereby be guaranteed long-term, planning of the work has to be conducted with an intersectoral approach. At the same time, it should be emphasised that because food and physical activity are influenced by so many areas of municipal responsibility, it is essential that people with nutrition competence are linked to the public health councils. The stakeholders have to be clear regarding aspects such as objectives, target groups, working methods, roles and responsibilities.

Health impact assessment methods should be developed further with particular emphasis on dietary habits and physical activity. The health impacts of changes in marketing, price, availability and consumption of energy-dense and low-nutrient foods should be assessed.

Actors: National Institute of Public Health in cooperation with the Swedish Board of Agriculture, the National Food Administration and the Swedish Consumer Agency

Motivation

One way of generating awareness of the significance of political decisions for public health is to conduct health impact assessments (HIA) of political proposals or decisions (7). HIA is a tool for analysing effects on public health in a systematic way and weighing these against other priorities. More established concepts outside the health sector include environmental impact assessment and social impact analyses.

In principle, a social impact analysis would be included in a health impact assessment conducted on the basis of the 11 objectives domains for public health that also incorporate targets and indicators regarding social conditions. Health impact assessments are currently conducted on a very limited scale as part of environmental impact assessments on larger projects which potentially affect the environment, although there is a considerable lack of appropriate indicators for health in this type of assessment (8).

By complementing an environmental impact assessment with a health impact assessment, a broader health perspective would be obtained than is normally available from an environmental impact assessment. A health impact assessment can highlight, for example, effects concerning opportunities for recreation, physical activity, participation and safety that are not included in environmental impact assessments. Another significant contribution is that health impact assessments focus on social inequalities in health by analysing how different groups of the population will be affected by the decision.

As interest increases among municipalities and county councils in working with public health issues in general, and dietary habits, physical activity and body weight in particular, a need will arise to develop tools able to assist in evaluating the impact of decision-making for public health. Examples of political decisions at the municipal level that would have to undergo health impact assessment include the building of housing on green areas, priorities made between different activities in the annual municipal budget, procurement of cafeteria operations at sports halls, etc.

A health impact assessment requires measurable targets and indicators. The targets in this basis for an action plan can be relatively easily translated to provide indicators, such as the quantity of fruit and vegetables per person per day, or the number of children who satisfy the recommendations for physical activity. The association between proposed measures, such as improvement of the infrastructure for cycling and the indicator 'the number of children who satisfy recommendations for physical activity' are somewhat uncertain and in such cases estimates have to be based on assumptions. The link between the indicator of physical activity itself and the health outcome is, however, well established and proposals can in this way provide estimates of an expected health outcome.

The Trans Atlantic Consumer Dialogue (TACD) called for greater focus on health impacts of food advertising aimed at children. In its resolution in 2004 concerning food advertising targeting children, the TACD recommended that governments in the EU and the United States conducted reviews of regulations and management to ensure that advertising supports rather than undermines objectives for nutrition and public health (9).

High consumption of foods rich in energy, sugar and fat is an important contributory cause of obesity, especially among children and young people who have the highest rates of consumption of these foods in relation to their body weight (2). It is important from a public health policy perspective to track changes in the indicator variables supply, price, marketing and consumption of these food products and assess the health impact for specific groups of the population.

Health impact assessments can be performed on the basis of total consumption data from the Swedish Board of Agriculture, which would have to develop specific statistics for selected product groups (see also Measure 42 in *Food policy*). Consumption data at individual and group level can be obtained from the National Food Administration's dietary surveys (see Measure 44 in *Food policy*).

Measure 10

An index should be developed for surveying food availability (supply and price of keyhole-labelled food, fruit, vegetables, and energy-dense foods). The index should be used planning at municipal level.

Actor: National Institute of Public Health

Motivation

Good availability of food products is a fundamental condition for healthy dietary habits. This means that the population, even those who are economically less privileged, should have access to a varied range of high-quality food products at reasonable prices. This also means that a large supply of energy-dense foods in the local area can lead to over-consumption. Health information to the population may not achieve the desirable effects if the food products recommended are not available within a reasonable distance of the consumer or are significantly more expensive than products with low nutritional value.

The significance of availability of food products for dietary habits and food product choices is relatively unknown in Sweden and methods should be developed to describe the availability of foods in a simple way. There is currently a lack of information concerning the development of range and supply of food product groups in various kinds of outlets and in different regions of the country. For this reason, there is no baseline data from which public health measures can be evaluated. By surveying the network of outlets and supply of certain key food products, such as fruit and vegetables, fish and wholemeal bread, 'weak outlets' could be identified along with the extent to which consumers are dependent on them. Furthermore, the availability of energy-dense, nutritionally poor products in different outlets could be measured. A collective index could be introduced in the Municipal Facts database (*Kommunala basfakta*) at the National Institute of Public Health, which is already used as a tool and for background material in health promotion at municipal level (*Kommunala basfakta*, www.fhi.se).

In Finland, sales statistics from food outlets have been developed to provide a tool for tracking nutrition interventions (10). A system for surveying food availability and pricing of food products has been developed in Britain (11). The system showed significant differences in costs for certain selected food products depending on the type of outlet. It could also be seen that soft drinks, sweets and chocolate are more available than more healthy foods. Less than one third of the food that should have been in a basket with basic food products for a healthy diet were included in the range of food products supplied in the outlets surveyed.

The preconditions exist today for the development of a food availability index. The Swedish Consumer Agency has data and methods available through the Service database and the National Board of Housing, Building and Planning is conducting a pilot study regarding a so called planning Geographical Information System (GIS).

There are studies indicating that a high availability of energy-dense food in an area is linked to a high rate of obesity (12). Overviews of the geographical localisation of fast food restaurants with a wide range of energy-dense foods (13) would enable public health aspects to be better observed, for instance, regarding applications for permission to establish new ventures in the municipalities and this would help to preserve free zones around schools.

In a survey of four Stockholm suburbs in the autumn of 2004, it was discovered that there is considerable variation in both the availability and accessibility of fast food in environments where children spend time daily. The most notable difference, however, was that there was no alternative to fast food outlets in the socio-economically poor areas and that consumption was high, compared with the socio-economically bestoff areas where consumption was low (14).

Measure 11

A national database should be set up for reporting and monitoring children's height and weight. This work should be carried out in collaboration with child healthcare and the school healthcare service. Data on breastfeeding from child healthcare records should be included in such a database.

Actors: The National Board of Health and Welfare/Centre for Epidemiology

Cost: EUR 53,000 per year (one full-time post)

Motivation

There is currently no national, all inclusive or representative data available recording children's height and weight. This means that statistics concerning both the prevalence and trends in overweight and obesity are unclear. It also makes it difficult to study the effects of preventive measures against overweight and obesity and the changes in

general in the population and in different groups of the population. To be able to track weight developments for children and young people a national system should be set up for the collection of such data. The height and weight of children is already measured regularly at child healthcare centres and school healthcare but this information is not passed on to any national register (see Measures 18 and 19 in the section *Health care policy*). Standardisation of measurements is needed as well as the computerisation of medical records for central collation. This need for this measure has been highlighted by a number of researchers.

Statistics for breastfeeding are currently collected by the Centre for Epidemiology at the National Board of Health and Welfare. It is essential that these activities should be further developed. Statistics on breastfeeding should be used as background material for initiating promotional campaigns when necessary and for the provision of statistics comprising general health information. Breastfeeding is an important health indicator both nationally and internationally. It is used by WHO in reports on the health situation in different countries and is one of the primary indicators within objective domain 10 in the public health policy. The National Board of Health and Welfare has been promoting breastfeeding for many years through health education pointing out the importance of maintaining a high frequency of breastfeeding. To be able to do this, current breastfeeding statistics are necessary from which breastfeeding trends can be tracked both nationally and locally. Good statistics regarding breastfeeding in combination with children's height and weight data can contribute to better knowledge about the potential protection provided by breastfeeding against overweight and obesity later in life (2).

Measure 12

Methods should be developed for monitoring children's dietary habits and physical activity, body weight and aspects of mental health in combination with socio-economic factors.

Actors: The National Institute of Public Health in cooperation with the National Food Administration and researchers

Cost: EUR 53,000 for development + EUR 630,000 for implementation

Motivation

Several authorities and stakeholders require up-to-date and reliable information about the occurrence and development of overweight and obesity among children and young people in Sweden, in combination with information about children's dietary habits and physical activity. It is of great importance that such data can be related to sex, age, social group, geographical area and so forth. A national collection of data combining health behaviours and body weight with other relevant factors, similar to the public health survey of adults conducted by the National Institute of Public Health, should be developed as a complement to the detailed dietary surveys planned for implementation by the National Food Administration (see Measure 44 in the section *Food policy*). It will take about 5 to 10 years to establish a national database of children's height and weight by the National Board of Health and Welfare and based on data from child healthcare centres and school healthcare,. Considering that the measures in the forthcoming action plan should be implemented earlier, it is important to start collecting data from a national sample of children up to 18 years old as soon as possible. Continuous follow-up and longitudinal data of children at specific ages would provide an important tool for the follow-up of the forthcoming action plan and for an understanding of the determinants and how these interact in the development of overweight and obesity among children.

Measure 13

A health communication strategy for healthy dietary habits, increased physical activity and prevention of overweight directed at the public should be developed. The strategy should describe implementation at the national, regional and local level. Health communication should be target group-specific and utilise the tools and potential provided by modern technology. The strategy should also include evaluation methodology.

Actors: The National Institute of Public Health in cooperation with the National Food Administration, health communication researchers and representatives of municipalities and county councils.

Motivation

Society has a responsibility to provide health information to the population independent of vested interests. Regardless of how effective health information is in improving lifestyle, there is a democratic duty, an aspect of rights, for society to provide and guarantee all citizens access to correct, factual and universally comprehensible health information. This underlines the need for information to be target-group specific.

The concept of 'health information' includes planned health messages aimed at individuals, groups and the population with the aim of increasing awareness and knowledge about health and the determinants relevant to health. By 'health communication' we mean communication processes that include health messages and that are based on interaction between participants, for example motivational interviews (15).

In the autumn of 2003 and spring of 2004, the National Institute of Public Health conducted a survey of current health information provided by national authorities, county boards and county councils along with a sample of municipalities and voluntary organisations. The majority of those asked conducted health information to the public and sections of the public in various forms and with the help of a number of methods and techniques. At the same time, a number of health issues were overlooked and that information is insufficient. Areas highlighted of special importance regarding health information included nutrition, physical activity and overweight/obesity along with the prevention of mental ill health. According to many stakeholders, there is a lack of health information directed to a number of important target groups, primarily children but also parents and the elderly, the disabled and ethnic minorities.

A survey conducted specifically in the field of food also indicated that access to information from the public sector about diet and health was currently at a low level (15). Instead, information from various private actors was predominant. The food

industry choses to focus on concepts such as 'enjoyment of food' and increased physical activity. Readers of the press are confused by new dieting trends. The preparation of nutritious food is not among the objectives of TV cooking programmes. All in all, the message is confusing and the need for information from the authorities independent of vested interests is apparent and is wanted both by the public and health professionals (16). It was also concluded that there is currently no health information specially targeted at disadvantaged groups.

A further conclusion from the study related to health educators at the regional and local level is that there is considerable competence within the field of health communication available at these levels in the form of specialist counsellors at public health units, social medicine units or similar. This competence, however, according to those concerned, is not always felt to be sufficient.

Research has indicated that information and the dissemination of knowledge itself has a limited effect in influencing lifestyle (17). It is difficult to say generally how effective health information is, which means that research into health information and health communication has to be promoted, and evaluation instruments should also be developed and improved. Health information measures should be combined with other health promotion measures if enduring behavioural changes are to be achieved.

Patients' organisations working with eating disorders often express concern that health information is one-sided with simplified and moralistic messages, which they claim may increase the risk of eating disorders among sensitive individuals. The organisations underline the need to make information target group-specific along with the need for information to focus on quality of life and health rather than on body weight and ill health (Network for eating disorders, personal communication). There is no scientific evidence, however, that interventions aimed at children to prevent obesity has resulted in an increase of anorexia (18).

Actors in the public sector should develop a comprehensive and forward thinking communication strategy to counteract the rising commercial focus of health information which further reduces the individual's chance of sorting and evaluating among the supply of information. Experience and evaluations from the Institute of Public Health's promotion of physical activity year in 2001 Sweden on the move demonstrates that through comprehensive communication strategies, it is possible to achieve advocacy in support of a public health issue and that enduring changes are possible at least in terms of knowledge and attitudes both among the public and decision-makers (19). Health information strategies should be based on the latest research and development in the field. An initial task for the group developing the health communication strategy will be to establish which messages and target groups are to be prioritised. The role of the State pharmacy and its potential as a health educator should be observed in such a strategy. Conditions for the development and follow-up of a health communication strategy include the ability to track trends in physical activity and dietary habits. Important target groups are the physically and mentally disabled and immigrant groups, who are seldom reached by regular communication channels but among whom problems with overweight are in some cases considerable.

Every municipality should adopt a policy regarding the food provided in municipal establishments.

Actor: Municipalities

Motivation

Activities financed with public funds, tax revenue, should promote health or at least avoid contributing to poor health. Public premises such as sports facilities, swimming pools and concert halls where a large proportion of activities are paid for by public funds, should therefore provide a supportive environment for healthy dietary habits. The range of food available at cafeterias, snack bars and product display racks in such places should make it easy and attractive to eat healthy foods. This means that the range on offer should, in the main, consist of reasonably priced and healthy meals, snacks and food products. Procurement of private enterprises for public environments should therefore include specification requirements ensuring this is achieved.

References

- 1. FHI, SLV. Nationella mål och strategier för nutrition 1999–2004. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut och Livsmedelsverket; 1999.
- 2. WHO. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser 916.
- 3. Kahn EB, Ramsey LT, Brownson RC, Heath GW, Howze EH, Powell KE, et al. The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activity. A systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2002;22(4 Suppl):73-107.
- Hillsdon M, Foster C, Naidoo B, Crombie H. The effectiveness of public health interventions for increasing physical activity among adults: a review of reviews. London: Health Development Agency, NHS; 2004 Feb. Evidence briefing 1st Edition.
- 5. Roe L, Hunt P, Brandshaw H, Rayner M. Health promotion interventions to promote healthy eating in the general population: a review. England: Health Development Agency; 1997.
- 6. Hammerslag A. Kommunernas organisation för folkhälsofrågor år 2003. Stockholm: Statens folkhälosinstitut; 2004. R 2004:21.
- Björn Olsson, red. Hälsokonsekvensbedömningar från teori till praktik. Nordiska Hälsovårdshögskolan, Folkhälsoinstitutet och Världshälsoorganisationen. Folkhälsoinstitutet; 2001. R 2001:12.
- 8. SoS. Hälsa i miljökonsekvensbeskrivningar. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen; 2001.
- 9. TACD. Resolution on Food Advertising & Marketing to children. Trans Atlantic Consumer Dialogue (TACD); 2004 Jan. Doc No Food-23-04.
- 10. Närhinen M, et al. Sales data of a supermarket a tool for monitoring nutrition interventions. Publ Health Nut 1998;1:101-7.
- 11. Donkin A, et al. Mapping access to food in a deprived area: the development of price and availability indices. Publ Health Nut 2000;3:31-8.
- 12. Maddock, J. The Relationship between Obesity and the Prevalence of Fast Food Restaurants: State-Level Analysis. Am J Health Promotion 2004;19:137-43.
- 13. Prentice AM, Jebb SA. Fast foods, energy density and obesity: a possible mechanistic link. Obes Rev 2003;4:187-94.
- Jansson M. Du blir var du äter studie om hur den socioekonomiska vardagsmiljön påverkar barns förhållningssätt till mat. Livsmedelsverket 2004. Rapport nr 19/2004.
- 15. Regeringsuppdrag om hälsoinformation och hälsokommunikation. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. www.fhi.se/templates/page1240.aspx
- 16. Callmer E. Utredning om hälsoinformation om mat i Sverige. Behov, kartläggning och visioner (arbetsmaterial). På uppdrag av Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004.
- 17. Glanz K, Rimer BK, Lewis FM, red. Health behaviour and health education. Theory, research and practice. 3 uppl, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2002.
- 18. Förebyggande åtgärder mot fetma. Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering; 2004. November 2004.
- 19. Strandell A, Tranquist J, Kallings L, Lamming P. Sätt Sverige i rörelse 2001. Redovisning och erfarenheter. Stockholm: Folkhälsoinstitutet. Rapport 2002:19.

Research policy

The objective of research policy is for Sweden to be at the forefront of international scientific research. The way research is funded on the central government level should contribute to sustainable development.

Many of the measures proposed in this document for an action plan are based on research findings or systematic reviews. It can be concluded, however, that a large part of the underlying material for this document was written some time ago and was conducted in a context that differ from Swedish conditions. In addition, it focuses on issues that are not always relevant to Sweden. It must also be remembered, among other things, that development is dynamic, perspectives widen, new aspects replace existing ones and the relevance of new research data has to be constantly confirmed. More research in this field is essential to be able to conduct effective and evidencebased health promotion.

Primarily, current research in Sweden regarding diet and physical activity has been restricted to the traditional research areas and interdisciplinary projects are rare.

Measure 15

A consortium should be set up with representatives from various research councils with the aim of initiating a number of long-term research projects, mainly intervention research concerning diet and physical activity.

Actors:	Government, various research councils and other presumptive financers
Cost:	EUR 8,5 million allocated over a seven-year period (0,2+1,6+1,6+1,6+1,6+1,6+0,3)

Motivation

The need for investments in research has been a recurring issue during discussions at hearings and, not least, during meeting scientific expert groups. The needs described coincide with the areas of research indicated by WHO and in the action plans of other countries. Within the relevant areas, certain needs have been especially underlined:

- Long-term interdisciplinary intervention research in different sectors of society relating to healthy dietary habits, increased physical activity and prevention of overweight and obesity.
- Intervention research at workplaces concerning dietary habits and physical activity.
- Research into the significance of outdoor recreation, household income, food costs, town and transport planning along with marketing for healthy dietary habits and physical activity.
- The development of methods for population surveys of physical activity, dietary habits, body weight, body fat and different biological markers. Methods should be applicable to the study of men, women and children, adults, the elderly, different ethnic groups and different socio-economic groups.
- The development and testing of methods for the evaluation of the cost effectiveness of interventions to promote healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity.

• Research into societal costs for unhealthy dietary habits, physical inactivity and the consequences of these, such as overweight and obesity.

There is a considerable shortage of theory-based intervention research at the society level within the field of dietary habits, physical activity and overweight both in Sweden and internationally. Several systematic reviews in the area mention the need to improve both the study design, implementation and evaluation methods. Most of the reviews within this field are based on American primary studies. Intervention studies including environmental measures are often linked to a specific geographical or socio-cultural context that cannot be simply and accurately transferred to Swedish conditions. A survey of Swedish public health research concluded that, over a three-year period, only five intervention studies conducted to improve dietary habits and physical activity were published (1). Collated intervention research within the public health field as a whole comprised a total of three per cent of all published public health scientific papers during the period. It is therefore no exaggeration to claim that there is a severe shortage of intervention research in Sweden.

The survey also concluded that there is a complete absence of any evaluation of organisational measures and processes for health promotion in the municipalities and county councils (1). The result of these measures will remain unknown to public health research and cannot therefore be recommended on scientific grounds. Municipalities and county councils should therefore obtain support to devise scientific methods for the development, planning, implementation and evaluation of measures which impact on public health. The results should be published internationally since there is considerable demand for structural measures impacting on public health. In particular, research into policy and the impact on health of environmental factors should be intensified.

While the societal costs of alcohol and tobacco are fairly well studied, there is currently no collective analysis of the total costs of unhealthy dietary habits, physical inactivity and obesity. In 2002, the Swedish Council on Technology Assessment in Health Care (SBU) (2) conducted a systematic literature review which included the costs of obesity and obesity-related diseases. No primary study had been conducted for Sweden. SBU pointed out that data for assessment of the indirect costs for obesity are limited. Better knowledge about the direct and indirect costs for unhealthy dietary habits, physical inactivity and obesity are also a precondition for assessing the cost effectiveness of different measures.

A prerequisite for the effective study of intervention measures for healthy dietary habits, increased physical activity and the prevention of obesity, along with better knowledge concerning the aetiology of obesity is that valid methods exist for measuring dietary habits, nutrient intake, physical activity, body weight and body fat. Methods have to be developed which function for different population groups such as children, the elderly and immigrants. Access to new technology in recent years provides good opportunities for the development of such methods.

There is continuous competition between research groups for the relatively limited state funds available for research. In this context, projects focusing on applied nutrition and physical activity have experienced difficulty in competing for priority, often because the prioritising committees at the research councils give low points for relevance aspects compared to other projects. It has therefore been virtually impossible to obtain grants for longer periods. Intervention studies take time, more than the three to four years generally financed for traditional PhD projects.

The need for interdisciplinary projects has been pointed out from many quarters. Planning and financing are especially problematic when different disciplines (research councils) are involved. Quality may be good but relevance is not always assessed to be as important which is why interdisciplinary projects often take second place (according to the evaluation committees at research councils) to more significant projects. Approaches similar to those employed for selecting projects within the EU framework programme may be a solution.

Funding for the first year of activities should be used in a broad planning phase including the relevant or presumptive financers, researchers from different natural science, social science and behavioural science disciplines along with interested municipalities and county councils, the relevant authorities, the National Board of Health and Welfare, the National Food Administration and the National Institute of Public Health. Funding could be used, for instance, for planning of projects. A thorough planning round is needed to identify the needs, the competence and the opportunities. Such planning should also include how Sweden can contribute to enhance this sort of research within EU-financed projects.

References

- 1. FHI. Kartläggning av svensk folkhälsoforskning. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut: 2004. R2004:5.
- 2. SBU. Fetma problem och åtgärder. En systematisk litteraturöversikt. Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering; 2002. Rapport nr 160.

Health care policy

The general objective of health and medical care policy is to improve the quality and accessibility of care. Both health and dental care have a legislated preventive responsibility (Health and Medical Services Act 1982:763 and the Dental Services Act 1985: 125). School healthcare also has a largely preventive agenda (Education Act 1985: 1100). Health care also plays an important role in national public health policy in the form of objective domain 6 – Health and medical care that more actively promotes good health (1).

The Government asserts that the health service is of considerable significance for long-term health development through its specific competence, authority, broad expertise and extensive contact with the population. Through this objective domain it was established that health promotion and disease prevention should permeate the health service and be a natural part of all care and treatment. To enable the health service to be more health-promoting, cooperation is necessary with other actors in society and all activities should have health perspective. WHO's global strategy for diet, physical activity and health takes up the significance of health and medical care, especially primary care, as having a crucial role in promoting healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity (2).

Not just primary care but also specialized care has an important role to play in relation to diet and physical activity, for example, by supporting individuals wishing to change their lifestyle regarding food or exercise, as well as contributing to solve problems of a psycho-social nature. Preventive programmes, in the context of the measures below, aim to prevent the occurrence of disease and injury among the population.

It is important that health promotion and disease prevention are conducted in a systematic and strategic way with several coordinated measures in collaboration with other actors and that the measures are evidence-based, and that follow-up and evaluation are a natural part.

91

Contracts or commissions should contain requirements for health-related parameters and health effects to be included in reports from the various healthcare units. In addition, these healthcare units, including dental care services, should to a greater extent be called on to develop and implement health promotion and disease prevention programmes, particularly relating to healthy dietary habits and physical activity.

Actor: County councils

Motivation

A holistic approach and a health perspective are the basic conditions for a more healthpromoting health service and can contribute to more efficient medical care provision (3). The general objective of a more health-oriented health service is to improve the health of the population. Such a view of the health service's task incorporates the importance of adequately treating disease and of patients experiencing an improvement in their health. The development of various steering and fiscal compensation systems enabling the different care providers to work in a more health-promoting and diseasepreventing way is a basic prerequisite. It is important for healthcare purchasers or their equivalent to ensure the different activities within the health service focus on health benefits and not exclusively on medical care provision.

Methods need to be developed for health-related measurements and for assessing an individual's health and quality of life, known as health benefit measurements. With the help of various questionnaires and standardised instruments, for example, the selfestimated health of an individual can be measured. Work is currently ongoing in this area, for instance, within the framework of the Swedish Network for Health-Promoting Hospitals.

Another approach to clarifying the health orientation of the county councils and working from a holistic perspective is in the follow-up of activities reporting health outcomes and designing health audits at the population level. The aim of a health audit is to clarify management, steering and follow-up of how resources and measures in health and medical care contribute to positive health developments. Development work is currently underway with health audits at six county councils in conjunction with the Swedish Federation of County Councils.

In order to successfully re-orientate the health service towards health promotion and disease prevention activities, it is important that healthcare purchasing, agreements and so forth, are based on a health perspective. This provides conditions for working preventively and especially with measures related to diet and physical activity. Furthermore, purchasers or equivalent level representatives should also instruct providers to develop and implement systematically health-promoting and disease-preventing programmes to a greater extent than today, including the use of different types of interview methods, such as the motivational interviewing. This means in turn that the county councils should invest more resources in further training in disease prevention methods. The county councils should also review the number of posts for dieticians focusing on disease prevention and how these posts should be distributed throughout the health service so that the dieticians' skills are linked primarily to maternity care, child healthcare and primary care.

Measure 17

When procuring food for patients, staff and visitors to restaurants, cafeterias, vending machines, kiosks etc. in healthcare premises, purchasers should require that healthy snacks and keyhole-labelled meals dominate the total supply.

Actor: County councils

Motivation

The introduction of a purchaser-provider model, the corporatisation of hospitals and out-sourcing of healthcare services has led to comprehensive changes in county council catering activities. The procurement of care means that the patients' food is no longer specified. Subsequently the purchasing organisation does not identify the goals, requirement specifications or follow-up system for catering activities. Diet and nutrition competence should exist at all levels among employees in catering-related activities as a decisive factor for ensuring the satisfactory quality of catering.

Dietary expertise should be involved when catering services are being procured. It should be their task to assist in formulating the requirement specifications and the evaluation of tenders as well as having responsibility for following up quality. Requirement specifications for food served to patients are available at many of the larger regional hospitals (4). Specifications concerning nutritional content in meals for patients are based on the guidelines developed by the expert group for coordination of hospital diet- (5). All levels within the health service (including all types of care) must be aware of these guidelines.

The hospital environment offers regular cafeterias, kiosks, snack trolleys and vending machines providing simple meals, snacks and drinks. The range of meals and food products should represent an opportunity to demonstrate to patients, visitors and relatives what is meant by healthy dietary habits. In this case fresh fruit, low-fat milk products, wholemeal bread and various meals using keyhole-labelled products could be reasonably priced and accessible while ice cream, sweets, sweet drinks and cakes and biscuits should only be available on a very small scale. Many of the cafeterias at county council hospitals have contracts with the hospital management. Cafeteria activities are generally not procured which means that no requirements are placed on their activities although a certain range of food is required in the contract. Where cafeterias are procured there are specifications for catering activities which, however, do not include the formulation of nutritional aspects (4). Food availability in health and medical care should in the best case reflect its position in general regarding diet and health issues. It should therefore be quite clear that demands should be made on these food providers. To achieve this, all cafeteria activities at hospitals should be exposed to formal procurement.

Health communication should be improved within the maternity and child healthcare services as part of health promotion efforts with all pregnant women and parents aimed at promoting healthy lifestyles, especially dietary habits and physical activity. Specific health communication can e.g. form part of a parent support programme.

Actors:

County councils, maternity care and child healthcare centres in cooperation with school healthcare service, etc.

Motivation

There is a long Swedish tradition of health promotion especially in maternity care, child healthcare, school healthcare and dental care. In these activities the assessment has also been made that health promotion and disease prevention measures should receive priority and access a broader range of population groups to encourage good dietary habits and physical activity, not least among children and young people. Health promotion at maternity health centres and child health centres in Sweden is an important reason for the low mortality among mothers and children in Sweden during the latter half of the 1900s (6). Intervention studies for better dietary habits among pre-school children aged 1 to 5 have shown that advice provided to mothers, for instance, improves the family's dietary habits (7). This work should be further developed and conditions should be created, not least in terms of resources, to be able to continue to develop current health-promoting and disease-preventing approaches.

It is also important that cooperation occurs between other actors in the local community who meet children, such as pre-schools, school healthcare, health centres, youth clinics and so forth. Where high-risk individuals and children are identified regarding over or underweight, there should be routines for how these children should be transferred into suitable activities within the health service. Those without medical complications should receive dietary advice to prevent overweight/obesity.

Parents have a natural responsibility for their children's lifestyle and are therefore able to influence their dietary habits and physical activity to ensure that children adopt behaviours beneficial to their health, both regarding overweight and underweight. Accessibility to food at home and social support are among the most significant determinants for children's dietary habits (8). Parental support for children's physical activity is significant primarily because it reinforces children's trust in their own abilities and thereby also their self-confidence (9, 10). This support can be both direct and indirect, for example, by parents acting as role models and by parents providing the conditions for children to participate in various activities.

Despite overweight among young girls being around ten times more common than anorexia (11), it is also important to pay attention to children who are underweight. Child healthcare and school healthcare have an important role to play in the prevention of eating disorders by promoting mental health through various pedagogical measures to enhance the social interplay between parents and children. Research shows that the promotion of mental health during the very early years reduces the risk for other forms of ill health for the rest of an individual's life (12). Many of the risk factors for anorexia and bulimia are the same as for other mental diseases (13).

A strong link between parents and children reinforces the child's self-efficacy. A child's self-efficacy is in turn an important determinant for both healthy dietary habits and physical activity (14). The report on parental support, presented by the Institute of Public Health in January 2005, documents 51 controlled experiments conducted with babies for the purpose of improving the interplay between the caregiver and the child. The experiments illustrate clear effects even after relatively minor interventions (15). Two methods based on this research, *Guidance through interplay* and *From the very start* are currently being introduced into regular parents' group activities at child health centres.

A necessary step is to ensure that care personnel and parents are well informed of the latest expertise concerning the significance of healthy dietary habits and physical activity for children and that parents are informed about current dietary advice for children.

A further stage in developing health-promoting approaches within maternity care and child healthcare would be to develop methods for health communication for all pregnant women and parents. Health communication both in the form of individual sessions or in groups should be provided as part of the overall health promotion of maternity and child healthcare centres. Health interviews are already conducted in maternity and child healthcare but further development could aim to support the individual in a series of health behaviours. The health interview should not only comprise simple advice and information but could rather be based on motivational interviewing methods centred on the individual. It should be pointed out that this demands both training for healthcare personnel based on an evidence-based methodology, and resources allocated to method development and training/supplementary training packages adapted to the personnel.

To be able to track weight and height developments among children and young people over time, it is important to systematically collect, collate, process and publish this type of information at the national level, preferably from the entire population but at least from a number of representative areas. Such activities are currently performed at the child health centre in Örebro and Västernorrland county councils. Based on the experience gained, it is important to develop a system for coordinated national registration and collation. The technical solution tested in the development of a national information system for vaccinations could also be used to process information about height and weight within child healthcare and school healthcare (see Measure 11 under *Public health policy*).

The school healthcare service should promote healthy lifestyles among children and parents. Health education should be further developed as part of health promotion activities to promote healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity. Pupil height and weight should be routinely recorded.

Actors: Municipalities/school healthcare in cooperation with child healthcare centres, youth clinics etc.

Motivation

One way of working with health promotion and disease prevention at the local level is to reach children and parents in settings where they regularly spend time such as at preschool and school. Such measures have to occur in cooperation with several local actors such as municipalities/school health services in cooperation with child healthcare centres, youth clinics, healthcare centres, organisations and so forth. To realise this sort of joint local work, it may be feasible to work out local action plans in which all the relevant actors can plan the relevant measures. Research has demonstrated that it is possible to prevent obesity among children and young people using limited school-based programmes including information and stimulation to better dietary habits in conjunction with efforts in the school environment (16-18).

The task of the school health service, defined in the Swedish Education Act, is to preserve and improve the mental and physical health of pupils and promote a healthy lifestyle. The National Board of Health and Welfare has recently formulated guidelines for school healthcare (19) with the aim of indicating a new direction for this work. The guidelines state that it is important for the school health service to actively participate in the school's health education activities by following the development of knowledge in the field and using new evidence-based methods. Today there is no available scientific documentation for example for the majority of school healthcare measures. The school health service could potentially promote a healthy lifestyle through individual contacts, group activities or general measures. The National Board of Health and Welfare also comments that even if the value of the regular physical health check-ups are not scientifically documented, there remains good cause to maintain a general healthcare program. Greater weight should be placed on the mental well-being of pupils and obstacles to pupil development should be surveyed, such as risk-related health behaviours. At the same time, cooperation with child healthcare centres should be maintained in the transition to school.

In the state-of-the-art document produced by the Swedish Association of School Doctors and the National Association for School Nurses (20) it is proposed that the expression 'health check-up' should be changed to 'health visit' to emphasise the shift from an inspection to a health-promoting approach. Health monitoring should, they believe, occur in the close interplay between pupil and parent. They also feel that it is important to instruct pupils and parents to be more aware of health problems and disease symptoms themselves.

An important element in an action plan should include various health communication methods, such as those based on the motivational interviewing techniques (21). It is possible to conduct dialogues and health interviews individually or in groups with all pupils and their parents with the aim of supporting them to improve dietary habits and increase physical activity. In cases where special risk groups and individuals are identified, such as children and young people who are overweight or underweight, routines should exist for how these pupils can be referred further in the care chain. Implemented measures should be documented in journals or equivalent to permit continuous follow-up. It should be pointed out that this type of developed health interview requires trained healthcare personnel in the school health service. This is in turn based on methods being further developed and evidence-based and requires county councils to allocate resources for method development and various training packages as well as the updating of expertise on food, health and physical activity.

To be able to follow the weight and height development of children and young people over time and identify the effects of changes in lifestyles, it is important to have systematic collection, collation, processing and publication of this information at the national level, preferably for the entire population but at least from a number of representative areas (see Measure 11 in the section *Public Health Policy*). This type of data is already collected in certain municipalities and regions, for instance in Östergötland which maintains an extensive register of school children's weight and height development (22). Pre-school, compulsory school and upper secondary school are the instances when weight and height are registered although in the majority of cases this type of data remains in the individual pupil's records. A practical problem is also that the medical records kept by the school health service are only computerised to a limited extent.

Measure 20

Preventive programmes for lifestyle-related diseases should be further developed and implemented, e.g. for overweight individuals and others with risk factors for diseases associated with dietary habits and physical inactivity.

Actor: County councils/primary care and specialist care

Motivation

Different prevention programmes within the health service have been developed during the last decade. A report from the International Union for Health Promotion and Education, the IUPHE, concludes that the health service alone cannot achieve extensive changes in lifestyle and coordinated activities are needed from several actors in society to achieve this purpose. There is considerable support for positive effects from interventions in the form of short-term counselling from a doctor, such as on the subject of tobacco or alcohol (23). There is also strong support in scientific literature that individual preventive measures without medication have good results in the areas of tobacco, dietary habits, physical activity and alcohol (24-25).

Preventive programmes should, as much as possible, consist of non-medication methods since primary prevention with pharmaceuticals has not resulted in significant effects on cardio-vascular health (16). Comprehensive lifestyle changes are needed to achieve such effects, primarily regarding tobacco, food and physical activity and weight

reduction (26). A very significant aspect of preventive programmes is also the continuous written documentation of all measures and results, for example, in the patient's medical records. This enables follow-up and subsequent collative evaluation of the programme.

Scientific studies on various physical activity interventions, for instance, in the UK, conclude that verbal and written information and advice from health and medical personnel in primary care can have short-term effects. To achieve long-term effects, further interventions are required such as referral to specialists and subsidised physical activity (27). The US Preventive Services Task Force concludes that there is insufficient evidence to recommend behaviour-directed short-term counselling regarding diet for unselected patients in primary care (28). On the other hand, more intensive counselling is recommended (comprising several sessions longer than 30 minutes each) regarding dietary habits among adult individuals with high risk of cardio-vascular and other dietrelated chronic diseases. The interventions assessed to be most effective combined information about diet along with behaviour-directed counselling. It was found that interventions based on theories of behaviour modification, which provide practical skills and which are individually designed, were effective in increasing physical activity in the long term (27).

Within the health service, dieticians have specialist skills in nutrition and health. These professionals can provide advice on dietary habits to individuals and/or groups and can also provide support for healthcare personnel regarding the factual content of health interviews, for example. Dieticians could also act as resource personnel in various supplementary training courses within the health service.

A preventive programme implemented within the health service should initially identify different risk groups in the population as early as possible. The programme should therefore include identification of risk groups with overweight (BMI 25-30) and/or an unhealthy lifestyle. Even though more research and development is needed, it is believed that screening of risk behaviours will be part of disease prevention in the USA in the future (29). In Sweden different forms of standardised questionnaires are already employed in various contexts in the health service to be able to identify risk individuals.

If preventive programmes are to be successful, it is important that they are wellestablished and have continuing support in the organisations using them and in the local communities. Cooperation between local community actors and the health service is therefore important. Studies from the UK indicate that health service interventions as such probably have less impact than was previously thought and that multilevel interventions at the same time are necessary, including intra-personal, inter-personal and environmental factors to achieve and maintain changes in behaviour (27).

Methods of health communication should also be included as part of preventive programmes. The communication between healthcare personnel and the individual does not only aim to increase knowledge and awareness, it also aims to change behaviours. Communication can vary depending on the method and which theories are used, One method used for lifestyle modification is known as motivational interviewing (21) and is used today in a number of lifestyle issues such as alcohol, tobacco and physical activity (30-31). Motivational interviewing can be used both in individual interviews and in groups.

Training in motivational interviewing techniques for changing lifestyle in general and diet and physical activity in particular, should be provided for healthcare professionals in the maternity, child, dental, primary, secondary and school healthcare services. A training package should be developed and disseminated in cooperation with universities/university colleges, relevant professional organisations etc.

Actors: County councils in cooperation with universities and university colleges, relevant professional organisations etc.

Measure 22

Relevant national agencies should actively participate in the development and dissemination of evidence-based methodology concerning health promotion and disease prevention programmes, including motivational interviewing techniques for healthier lifestyles, focusing in particular on diet and physical activity.

Actors: National Institute of Public Health, National Board of Health and Welfare, Swedish municipalities and county councils, universities and university colleges, relevant professional organisations etc.

Motivation

From the National Board of Health and Welfare's health and medical care report (32), it is clear that education is an important measure to ensure that personnel are familiar with the methods for disease prevention. This demands, however, that health promotion and disease prevention is well established throughout the health service. At the same time, there is currently a need to develop ways to achieve this. Supplementary training/education in health promotion and disease prevention is needed for all healthcare personnel within primary healthcare, specialist care, maternity and child healthcare, school healthcare and dental care if this is to be realised. Dieticians are one example of resource personnel with specific expertise in the field of diet and health.

More specifically, supplementary training and education in interview methods within the health service is of great importance. Motivational interviewing is an example of such a method currently employed within various areas such as tobacco, alcohol and physical activity (30-31), 33). Motivational interviewing aims to increase the individual's motivation to change behaviour, in other words, it provides a sound basis for making individual decisions and at the same time provides the support and help needed by the individual in their current circumstances or in potential future difficulties. The method is especially useful for people who are not ready for, or feel dubious about change. The emphasis is on choice and responsibility of the participants to choose their future lifestyle themselves and an active contribution is considered crucial for this to succeed. The principles are the same regardless of whether the interview is brief or more extensive, conducted individually or in a group.

Today there is evidence to suggest that different forms of short-term counselling and motivational interviewing works for preventing alcohol dependence (34,35). Even for physical activity, a short interview of around five minutes is sufficient, at least to achieve a short-term effect (27). As far as tobacco is concerned, there is scientific evidence that short-term counselling sessions have good results with many people being able to stop smoking. The Swedish Council on Technology Assessment in Health Care (SBU) report on methods for giving up smoking concludes that counselling and help to smokers to give up smoking is part of healthcare treatment and that it is efficient. In the health service, help is often provided during individual consultations with patients while in the private sector or corporate healthcare, giving up smoking is often addressed in a group. The results for individual or group sessions for giving up smoking appeared to be the same according to the SBU report (36).

Skills in how to conduct interviews and motivate individuals are an important area for development. This skill should in the future be incorporated into all healthcare training programmes. Already today this training should be a natural element in the inservice training of employees already engaged in healthcare occupations. Knowledge of interview technique would also make it easier for healthcare personnel to improve compliance, for example, when pharmaceuticals are prescribed. In this way, the motivational interviewing could, to a greater extent, provide one of many tools available to healthcare personnel in their efforts to promote health and prevent disease.

It should also be feasible to develop a general methodology for motivational interviewing at the same time as the method can be specially adapted to the various health behaviours. The design of different education programmes should be adapted to different categories of health personnel as well as to different settings and the needs of different occupational groups. The methodology should also be adaptable to the different target groups such as the elderly, the mentally and physically disabled and ethnic groups.

A basic requirement to enable personnel to use the methods in the future is that it is developed, continuously evaluated and that it should be subject to ongoing scientific testing. This represents an important role to be filled by the National Institute of Public Health and National Board of Health and Welfare as well as other national actors and professional organisations such as universities and university colleges in cooperation with public health department, for example, and Research and Development divisions within the county councils. The development of methods in the field of health promotion and disease prevention, both general programmes and especially those related to dietary habits and physical activity, should be given priority on both the national and regional level.

Systems should be developed for applying, monitoring and evaluating 'physical activity on prescription' initiatives as part of health promotion and disease prevention in the health and medical service.

Actor: National Consultation Group for Physical Activity on Prescription

Cost: EUR 105,000.

Motivation

The National Institute of Public Health in cooperation with the professional associations for physical activity (YFA) have produced FYSS (A scientific handbook on effects of physical activity in disease prevention and treatment) (37) which contains recommendations for physical activity for patient suffering from a large number of common diseases. FYSS is intended both as a general knowledge bank including the latest research in the field and as support for healthcare personnel to better be able to prescribe physical activity (FaR) at an early stage of the disease.

Physical activity on prescription (FaR) is a concrete example of a new working model for how the health and medical service can promote physical activity and, at the same time, it has led to healthcare personnel being able to conduct health promotion in practice. Physical activity on prescription (FaR) includes a holistic solution based on a functioning care chain from the prescriber to the instructor of activities. The patient's prescription is based on the advice and directions stipulated in FYSS. An important element in FaR is how the interview with the individual is conducted to increase motivation to follow what is prescribed. From the point of view of the prescriber, knowledge of interview techniques and how to motivate the patient are important areas for development.

FaR implies individually designed prescription of physical activity and is used for both healthy and ill individuals to prevent and treat certain diseases. The patient is given a referral to activities that may be conducted individually but is also given references to some physical activity provider. There is currently no systematic knowledge concerning the effects of physical activity on prescription (27) so it is important to follow up and evaluate the use and results of FaR in the future as well as the quality of the different measures.

There is currently considerable interest in FaR around the country. More or less all county councils have a representative in the Institute of Public Health's FaR network. There are considerable differences, however, in how well-integrated FaR is in various regions and county councils (38). At local level primary healthcare has an important function. To succeed in local work with FaR there are several areas that should be developed, such as a better local range of activities and more local organisations able to receive patients.

At the national level, development of FaR is conducted in a consultation group. The group consists of members from the Board of Health and Welfare, the Institute of Public Health, the Swedish Association of Municipalities and the Federation of Swedish County Councils, the Swedish Society of Medicine, Swedish Corporate Healthcare, the

101

Fammi Institute for Family Medicine and the Swedish Sports Confederation. At the national level, the Board of Health and Welfare and the Institute of Public Health have an important role to support the regional level in how FaR should be applied, followed up and evaluated. It would also be desirable to increase the number of actors involved at national level such as the Swedish Social Insurance Administration, the state pharmacy Apoteket AB and representatives from private training facilities.

There are issues regarding FaR which have to be addressed to achieve better impact, such as issues related to resource allocation, application of FaR in primary healthcare, the right to prescribe, distribution of responsibility between different actors, follow-up and evaluation. In a similar way, resources should also be allocated to further development and application of FaR such as the follow-up and evaluation of FaR in health promotion and disease prevention.

Measure 24

Cultural competence should be improved in health promotion and disease prevention concerning healthy lifestyles, particularly with regard to diet and physical activity.

Actor: County councils

Motivation

Today ethnic groups display a greater degree of ill health than the population in the country in general. Studies also show considerable health inequalities between women and men in the groups studied. The National Board of Health and Welfare describes, in the report *On Different Terms – Different Health* (39), that the same general health determinants apply for people born in Sweden and to the immigrant groups studied. There are also additional determinants linked to immigration itself which have some connection to health outcomes, such as discrimination, incomplete language skills and traumatic experiences.

The Government believes that public health measures should observe the ethnic perspectives more than is the case today, and especially with regard to differences in living conditions and health between people born abroad and people born in Sweden as part of an attempt to reduce inequalities in health (1).

One way of addressing the inequalities in health might be for example, to continually prioritise staffing of healthcare centres in poor areas and to improve competence and expertise among existing personnel in how to improve the health of different ethnic groups. Furthermore, special health educators with personal experience of immigration to Sweden could be trained and employed at posts in primary care services.

Research conducted in Britain has shown that it is difficult to reach various ethnic minority groups and the studies performed have experienced methodological problems (27). There is a considerable lack of high-quality intervention studies among ethnic groups which makes it even more important that such efforts are carried out and evaluated. Moreover, it is important that minority groups are included in interventions

to avoid further marginalisation. Interventions should also be designed for specific groups, observe cultural factors, language, religion and so forth and should be multidisciplinary with the involvement of specialists in health promotion and nutrition along with researchers (40).

A promising example of how the health service can work with health promotion and disease prevention is the International Health Educations project which is a collaboration project between the Region Skåne and City of Malmö. These health educators have academic health qualifications from their countries of origin. The aim was to create greater equality in health between ethnic groups by providing them with health education (41). The objectives of the project were to:

- Prevent ill health within selected language/ethnic groups.
- Develop new methods for health promotion and disease prevention.
- Demonstrate the benefits of cultural diversity to society and to health and medical personnel.
- Promote integration.

An evaluation indicated that the role of health educators was important for increasing understanding between the health and medical care system and different cultures both to the benefit of traditional medical care and of health promotion and disease prevention. The results of the evaluation showed that the people who had received information from the health educators had experienced this as very positive and over 90 per cent asked for more education opportunities (41).

Health interviews on dietary habits of children and the family should routinely be carried out as part of dental health checks/visits to the dentist's.

Actor: County councils/dental care services

Motivation

The considerable experience of preventive work within the dental service and its contact with the whole population makes dental care an excellent setting for health promotion and disease prevention measures, for example, with regard to dietary habits. Today, care and preventive work are conducted in accordance with an individual risk assessment; in other words, the previous annual check-ups have been replaced by individually adapted check-up appointments and dental health checks.

According to the Swedish Dental Association there is great interest and considerable expertise among dental personnel concerning the significance of dietary habits for oral health. A lack of resources can unfortunately lead to preventive work becoming a low priority within dental care. One approach, however, is that patients can receive information concerning dietary habits and their significance for oral health, for instance, in the form of a brochure possibly produced by the voluntary Tandvärnet (*Tooth care*) trust. Training of dentists, dental nurses and dental hygienists also provides a firm base for working with health promotion and healthy dietary habits.

Dental personnel could routinely conduct a health interview with children and adults about good dietary habits. The interview at the dentist's could also be based on motivational interviewing technique (see previous measures) which focuses on the individual and could be conducted in the context of children's and adult's visits to the dentist or at other dental health check-ups in the framework of basic dental care. It is especially important for children and young people aged from 3-19 who have regular dental check-ups to include motivational interviews about dietary habits. Health interviews should be documented in patient records and should be continuously followed up and evaluated.

References

- 1. Regeringens proposition 2002/03:35 Mål för folkhälsan. December 2002.
- WHO. Global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. 2004 May. WHA57 17, 22.
- 3. Statens folkhälsoinstitut. På väg mot en mer hälsofrämjande hälso- och sjukvård. Sammanfattning av utredningsunderlag, proposition, riksdagsbeslut, indikatorförslag och exempel på tillämpning. Stockholm: Statens Folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. R 2004:33.
- von Haartman F. Vem bestämmer vad som serveras till patienter och personal? En översikt av organisationen bakom måltiderna inom Stockholms läns landsting. Centrum för tillämpad näringslära, Stockholms läns landsting; 2002.
- 5. SLV. Mat och näring för sjuka inom vård och omsorg. Uppsala: Livsmedelsverket; 2003.
- Burström B. Social Differentials in the Decline of Infant Mortality in Sweden in the Twentieth Century; The Impact of Politics and Policy. Intern J of Health Services 2003;33(723-41).
- Tedstone AE, Aviles M, Shetty PS. Effectiveness of interventions to promote healthy eating in preschool children aged 1–5 years. England: Health Deve-lopment Agency; 1998.
- Neumark-Sztainer D, Wall MM, Perry CL, Story M. Correlates of fruit and vegetable intake among adolescents. Findings from project EAT. Prev Med 2003;37:198-208.
- 9. Sallis JF, Prochaska JJ, Taylor WC. A review of correlates of physical activity of children and adolescents. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000;32:963-75.
- 10. Kohl HW, 3rd, Hobbs KE. Development of physical activity behaviors among children and adolescents. Pediatrics 1998;101(3 Pt 2):549-54.
- 11. Swanberg I. Prevention av ätstörningar kunskapsläget i dag. Stockholm: Statens Folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. R2004:40.
- 12. Fonagy P. Prevention, the appropriate target of infant psychotherapy. Plenary address at the Sixth World Conference of the WAIMH. Tampere (Finland); 1996.
- 13. Tänk långsiktigt, En samhällsekonomisk modell för prioriteringar som påverkar barns psykiska hälsa. Stockholm: Skolverket, Socialstyrelsen, Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. R 2004:14.
- 14. Baranowski T, Perry CL, Parcel GS. How individuals, environments, and health behavior interact: Social cognitive theory. I: Glanz K, Rimer BK, Lewis FM, red. Health behaviour and health education. Theory, research, and practice. 3 uppl., San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2002.
- 15. Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ, van IJzendoorn M, Juffer F. Less Is More: Meta-Analyses of Sensitivity and Attachment Interventions in Early Childhood. Psychological Bulletin 2003;129:195-215.
- 16. SBU. Fetma problem och åtgärder. En systematisk litteraturöversikt. Stockholm: Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering; 2002. Rapport nr 160.
- 17. SBU. Förebyggande åtgärder mot fetma. Stockholm: Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering; 2004.

105

- 18. Mulvihill C, Quigley R. The management of obesity and overweight, an analysis of reviews of diet, physical activity and behavioural approaches. England: Health Development Agency; 2003.
- 19. Socialstyrelsen. Socialstyrelsens riktlinjer för skolhälsovården. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen; 2004.
- 20. Svenska Skolläkarföreningen Rfs. Skolhälsovårdens generella insatser, State of the Art. 2001.
- 21. Miller WR, Rollnick S. Motivational Interviewing, Second Edition: Preparing People for Change. New York: Guilford Press; 2002.
- 22. Angbratt M, Eriksson E, Funcke S, Nilsson U, Säterskog C, Söderlind M. Kartläggning av barns vikt och viktutveckling i Östergötland. Folkhälsovetenskapligt centrum Linköping. Rapport 2003:2. www.lio.se/fhvc
- 23. International Union for Health Promotion and Education. The Evidence of Health Promotion Effectiveness, 2000. Bryssel och Luxemburg; 2000.
- 24. Socialstyrelsen. Hälso- och sjukvårdsrapport 2000. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen; 2000.
- 25. SBU. Längre liv och bättre hälsa en rapport om prevention. Stockholm: Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering; 1997. SBU-rapport nr 132.
- 26. Lindberg G, Melander A. Kan läkemedel förebygga ohälsa? Malmö och Stockholm: Nätverk för läkemedelsepidemiologi, Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004.
- 27. Hillsdon M, Foster C, Naidoo B, Crombie H. The effectiveness of public health interventions for increasing physical activity among adults: a review of reviews. London: Health Development Agency, NHS; 2004 Feb. Evidence briefing 1st edition.

28. US Preventive Task Force. Behavioral counseling in primary care to promote a healthy diet. Am J Prev Med 2003;24(1).

- Babor TF, Sciamanna CN, Pronk NP. Assessing multiple risk behaviors in primary care. Screening issues and related concepts. Am J Prev Med 2004;27(2 Suppl):42-53.
- Holm Ivarsson B. Bil. 4 Motiverande samtalsmetodik. I: Kallings LV, Leijon M, red. Statens folkhälsoinstitut, Folkhälsovetenskapligt centrum i Östergötland; 2003. Erfarenheter av Fysisk aktivitet på recept – FaR. Rapport 2003:53.
- 31. Holm Ivarsson B. Det motiverande samtalet om tobaksvanor. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2003. Rapport 2003:40.
- 32. Socialstyrelsen. Hälso- och sjukvårdsrapport 2001. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen; 2001.
- 33. Miller WR, Rollnick S. Motiverande samtal. Att hjälpa människor till förändring. Norrköping: Kriminalvårdens förlag; 2003.
- 34. Bendtsen P. Sekundärprevention i hälso- och sjukvård. I: Andréasson S, red. Växjö; 2002. Den svenska supen i det nya Europa. FHI. Rapport 2002:11.
- 35. SBU. Behandling av alkohol- och narkotikaproblem, en evidensbaserad kunskapssammanställning. Stockholm: Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering; 2001. SBU-rapport nr 156.
- 36. SBU. Metoder för rökavvänjning. Stockholm: Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering; 1998. SBU-Rapport nr 138.
- 37. FHI. FYSS fysisk aktivitet i sjukdomsprevention och sjukdomsbehandling. En kunskapssammanställning. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2003.
- Kallings LV, Leijon M. Erfarenheter av Fysisk aktivitet på recept FaR. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2003. R 2003:53.
- Socialstyrelsen. Olika villkor olika hälsa. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen; 2000. Socialstyrelsens rapport 2000:3.
- 40. White M, Carlin L, Rankin J, Adamson A. Effectiveness of interventions to promote healthy eating in people from minority ethnic groups: a review. England: Health development Agency; 1998. No 0752111795.
- 41. Karlsson ED, Hylén AM, Khan FA. Utvärdering av Projektet Internationella Hälsoinformatörer. Malmö högskola; 2004. Delrapport 2. IHI, 2002-2003.

Sports policy

Sports policy represents a specific part of public movement policy and comprises activities promoting sports and exercise and which also contribute to better public health. The objective of sports policy is to provide everyone with the opportunity to exercise and pursue sports to promote good health. State support should be distributed to activities that stimulate children's and young people's interest in sport and exercise, offer sports for everyone who wants to participate, prioritise equality, integration and good ethics and allow children and young people to participate in decisions in clubs and associations. Sports policy issues are described in detail in 'Sports Policy for the 2000s' (1). Sport is a popular movement which, through clubs and associations, has around 3 million members including 500,000 voluntary instructors and coaches and represents an important actor in society and a provider for public health.

Measure 26

A health economics evaluation should be carried out on the '*Handslaget med Idrotten*' (Handshake with Sport) initiative.

Actor: Government

Motivation

Parliament decided in 2003, after a proposal submitted by the Government, to invest a total of SEK 1 billion over a four-year period to enhance the public health profile of the sports movement by helping sports to open doors to more people, restrict increases in charges, invest more in sports for girls, participate in combating drugs and cooperate with schools. The follow-up to *Handshake with Sport* after the first year (3) shows that three main areas have been in focus: opening doors to more people (34 per cent of the project) in which many measures were directed towards activating children and young people from immigrant backgrounds and the disabled; cooperation with schools (27 per cent) to activate children who are not active; and to focus on sports for girls (26 per cent). Moreover, 85 associations have received EUR 900,000 in support for facilities and projects to stimulate better access to participation in sports in the local environment. A total of EUR 1,1 million has also been distributed by the Swedish Sports Confederation to larger, more general investments. The follow-up did not reveal, however, how successful the Handshake with Sport has been so far in reaching new groups of children and young people.

Criticism has been expressed from a number of voluntary organisations (4) about the imbalance in resource allocation to different voluntary organisations and Handshake with Sport has also been mentioned. It is therefore important that the stakeholders involved make an effort in the follow-up and evaluation of the Handshake with Sport and other state support to sports and evaluate the extent to which the investment has satisfied the criteria set up. The Swedish Sports Confederation also believes it is important that the investments made are followed up and evaluated both on a scientific basis by researchers and in the form of simpler surveys to assure quality. The investments and their objectives can be seen as a gigantic public health intervention and should therefore be evaluated from a health economics perspective which would also provide sport as a whole with new knowledge which could be used in future investments. Such an evaluation would, not least, be of considerable interest internationally.

Measure 27

The Swedish Sports Confederation should develop its policy document 'Aims of Sports - aims and guidelines for the sports movement in the twentieth century' to include more public health issues in general and relationships between food and health in particular, and to draw up recommendations for sponsorship in sport. Participation by women and girls should be reinforced at all levels.

Actor: Swedish Sports Confederation

Motivation

The policy document 'Aims of Sports' (2) presents the Sports Confederation's aims for the sports movement including its impact on public health, values, gender equality and cultural development. It is stated that the sports movement should design sports along the following lines:

- Continual development and improvement in all areas regarding form and content.

- Everyone who wishes to do so, regardless of ethnicity, religion, age, sex, nationality and physical or mental capacity may participate in sports activities.

- Providing experiences and encouraging contact between people from different social groups.

- A participatory approach to decision making.

- Providing everyone who takes part with camaraderie in a secure social environment.

At the same time, there are many examples of sports clubs and instructors whose behaviour departs from the intentions of 'Aims of Sports', which may be an indication that the intentions expressed have not been adopted by everyone in the sports movement. The need for debate and knowledge may therefore be considerable. 'Aims of Sports' states that the sports movement should take up a clear position against attitudes which are negative and destructive for society and that it is important that successful competitive sportsmen and women know what constitutes a healthy lifestyle and how the body is affected by drugs. The Sports Confederation has also published guidelines for alcohol and tobacco in sports (5). On the other hand, there are no guidelines for other issues such as diet and health and energy-dense food and overweight. Although these areas are not directly the responsibility of the sports movement, the movement has the potential to influence many children, young people and adults to live more healthily, which could contribute to enhancing the credibility of the sports movement even further. In recent years, criticism has been directed towards the cooperation with and sponsorship from commercial interests promoting energy-dense food and sweetened drinks, such the cooperation between the Swedish Track and Field Association and

McDonalds (6). It is therefore necessary to clarify, on behalf of the Sports Confederation, the importance of eating healthy food to maintain energy balance and weight control, especially for children and young people, as well as to initiate discussion in the sports movement concerning appropriate cooperative partners and sponsors. It is important to work to communicate the intentions of 'Aims of Sports' to clubs and associations, special and district associations affiliated to the Sports Confederation.

Several studies indicate that boys to a greater extent than girls are active in playing sports and that boys' sports are favoured in various ways (7-8). Around half of all girls and 2/3 of all boys are members of a sports club (8). The sports movement has traditionally been strongly male-dominated and gender equality work has not played a very prominent role (9-10). Dorfinger's and Moström's (11) survey of gender equality work in the sports movement during the 1990s demonstrated that few of those in leading positions were aware of the gender equality plan for sports (12). Åström (10) has demonstrated that there has been an organisational resistance to adopt the Sports Confederation's directives and objectives and that in economically difficult times, the recruitment of corporate managers to boards of directors has been given higher priority than gender equality objectives. Even though gender equality has been included on the agenda during recent years as a result of the policy document 'Aims of Sports' (2), the report 'On the same terms' (13) and updated guidelines for equality work (14), women are still under-represented both on boards and in club executives as well as among those who play sports. This may explain why girls and women are not favoured in the same way as boys and men in sports. Women represent around 38 per cent of the total members, one third of trainers and instructors, only 27 per cent of the boards of sports associations and 38 per cent of the Sports Confederation Board (6,8). The Sports Confederation's review of the competition and exercise habits of people in Sweden in 2003 stated that around 41 per cent of women in Sweden are either passive or active members of a sports club (8). An egalitarian distribution of the sexes in decisionmaking positions and on the boards of the sports movement is very important for influencing the focus of activities towards greater gender equality and the promotion of broad sports for all. Work to achieve a more equal distribution of the sexes in the managing bodies of the sports movement at all levels should therefore be intensified.

Municipalities should carry out an inventory of their current facilities for exercise and spontaneous sport from the point of view of gender equality and equal opportunities and expand them where necessary. Municipalities should ensure that all those living in urban areas have access to local sports facilities within 2.5 kilometres of home and more basic facilities within 1 kilometre of home. It should be possible and safe to get there by active or public transport.

Actor: Municipalities

Motivation

The municipalities are responsible for the larger part of public facilities including just over half of Sweden's sports facilities (15). The municipalities therefore have considerable scope for creating favourable conditions for physical activity, for example, by generating a wide range of local sports facilities and/or more basic sites for activities. The distance to a facility or similar site for physical activity is very important for the extent to which people are regularly physically active. If the distance to a park is more than about 1 kilometre, the likelihood of it being used on a regular basis decreases. Research indicates that more or less all residents regularly use an attractive park or similar green area if it is situated within 200 metres of their homes (16).

Local sports facilities should be open for everyone regardless of age, interests and capacities, it should stimulate activity and social interaction, it should be used at all times of the year and it should offer many different alternatives. It should be situated in residential areas and possibly not be open for competitive sports (15). The general aim of local sports facilities should be that the opportunities are improved for everyone to engage in physical activity in their local community.

Reducing grants to sport and leisure in the municipalities can increase the risk of creating serious obstacles to a physically active lifestyle and participation in exercise. A survey of the country's 290 municipalities (17) demonstrated that:

- 75 municipalities (26 per cent) have either increased their support to sport in 2004 or believe that they will do so shortly.

- 118 municipalities (41 per cent) have either reduced their support to sport in 2004 or believe that they will do so shortly.

- A total of 42 municipalities (14 per cent) have in some way reduced their support in 2004 and have plans to continue to make cuts in support in the future.

- 9 municipalities (3 per cent) have reduced both the direct support such as support to facilities as well as having plans to continue to make cuts in support in the future.

The extent of these savings is not known and it is difficult to estimate exactly how it will affect the general significance of municipal support for the finances of clubs and associations and the fact that four out of ten municipalities have made cuts in support or will probably do so represents a clear risk that sport and exercise facilities will be adversely affected or that existing facilities with membership or fees will have to increase their charges. In both cases, the risk is considerable that groups with weaker incomes will be the first to be affected. The state already contributes to municipal

facilities and projects via the *Handshake with sport initiative*, which stimulates better access to sports activities in the local environment, but these resources probably cannot compensate for cuts in municipal support. In order to decide on any further state contribution after 2007 to sport and the objectives for this, it will be important to evaluate the resource allocation, see also Measure 26.

Measure 29

Sports and leisure clubs in collaboration with county councils should train leaders in 'physical activity on prescription' according to methods developed by SISU Sports Education and organise local activities.

Actors: The Swedish Sports Confederation, SISU Sports Education in cooperation with county councils.

Motivation

Physical activity on prescription (FaR) is an approach underway in primary health care and in all county councils in Sweden. The method is a concrete way of working with a more preventive and effective approach to reach people with sedentary lifestyles (18), see also Measure 23 in the section Health care policy. Research abroad demonstrates that structured FaR programmes that include group activities have succeeded in increasing physical activity among different groups although only during the time when programmes are in progress (19). In the international scientific literature, several success factors have been reported for physical activity on prescription. At the individual level, these factors include improved self-confidence through mutual encouragement and support, new friends and an improved quality of life. Another positive sideeffect was that personnel increased their physical activity (20). The work was initiated by the Institute of Public Health which gave YFA (Professional associations for physical activity - which is part of the Swedish Medical Association) the task of presenting scientific evidence to be able to use physical activity as a complement to treatment with medication for a number of common diseases or as disease prevention. This work resulted in FYSS (physical activity in disease prevention and treatment) which was issued by the state pharmacists Apoteket AB to all healthcare centres and county councils (21). FYSS has also been published in a popular version, FYSS for all, and is sold at Apoteket AB – the Swedish Pharmacies. The Institute of Public Health has conducted a first evaluation 'Experience of Physical Activity on Prescription - FaR' (18) which summarises experiences from the pilot project. SBU is currently working on a systematic review of methods to promote physical activity in which FaR is included.

Many county councils have made political decisions, started training courses and have set up special organisations for cooperation between patients, health services and clubs and associations. SISU Sports Education has developed a training concept for sports associations. The Swedish Sports Confederation and SISU are currently implementing training programmes for instructors who will be working with FaR.

Clubs and associations have considerable potential to contribute to the implementation of the FaR programme thanks to their establishment in local

communities and extensive instructor resources, but the need for training is considerable to be able to deal with more sedentary groups of the population. It is important to point out that prescription of FaR programmes for patients with high risk of disease and many risk factors, such as cardio-vascular problems, should be conducted by suitably trained health personnel and clinics (22). The implementation of FaR programmes for people free from symptoms (with no or few risk factors) can often be run in cooperation with occupational groups such as health instructors, suitably qualified personal trainers, instructors for sports, health coaches and so on.

Measure 30

The sports movement should develop its activities so as to attract people with a sedentary lifestyle, people with an immigrant background and those with disabilities who wish to participate in amateur sports. The Sports for All Council should be given more resources to open doors for more people.

Actors: Swedish Sports Confederation/Sports for All Council and local clubs.

Motivation

The sports movement has considerable potential to attract adults thanks to its presence in the local community and the fact that many continue to be members in a sports club after the 'end of their careers'. Participation in sports and membership in sports clubs falls with rising age to encompass a relatively small proportion of the population. The greatest drop-out of active members occurs at the ages of 15-19 and in the group 60-70 years even though the number of passive members increases with increasing age up to 60 years (8). In the 7-14 age group, just over 76 per cent (713,100 children) are members of a sports club of which the largest majority are active members. In the 40-49 age group, 42 per cent are members in a sports club of whom around half are passive members (8). There is a clear need to offer more adults and elderly people better opportunities to take part actively, exercise, train and do sports in the sports movement.

The report 'Health on equal terms – national objectives for public health' (23) states that the sports movement, including sports for the disabled, is significant in stimulating participation in sports and exercise. The type of support provided is very important to promote physical activity of different groups. It is important to draw attention to the need for broad sports activities in the context of granting support. The objective of sports for the disabled is to ensure that people with disabilities of all ages become fully involved in the life of society and to create equal living conditions, which is important for offering everyone the opportunity to take part in physical activity through active recreation and outdoor recreation. A number of laws are relevant to this area including the Social Services Act (24), the Health and Medical Services Act (25), the act concerning support and service to certain people with disabilities (26) and the Planning and Building Act (27).

A large number of children and young people in Sweden are members of one or more sports clubs at some point in their lives, which makes the sports movement by far the most popular organised leisure activity for children and young people. Around half of all girls and two thirds of all boys are members in a sports club (8). The differences in living conditions are reflected in the sports and exercise culture with clearly observable gaps between different groups of the population. Regarding exercise, activity and sport, girls from the poorer areas of large cities exercise least compared with other children and young people. The increased focus on competition in sport in combination with the system of grants that currently exists leads to a very early debut and specialisation in some sports. An early competitive debut for children often demands considerable parental involvement and access to a car in the family is often a necessity, which creates a certain amount of social and economic imbalance (28). Furthermore, an early debut in competitive sports involves the risk that sports clubs exclude children whose interest in sport starts later when, by the age of 12, it may already be too late to start with a competitive sport (29). Physical training and sporting activity has to be seen as a right in which all children may take part. Play and competition, with a greater element of random play and excitement, should be given much greater emphasis (30).

The Sports for All Council was formed in 2003 to underline the role of the sports movement in public health with responsibility for children's and adult's wanting to exercise without competition. The Sports Confederation's Sports for All division works in the field of 'Sports development' and probably has better conditions than other associations in the Confederation to open the doors for new groups of the population.

Measure 31

Education programmes for sports leaders/coaches should contain courses about the importance of dietary habits for health and about eating disorders and sports anorexia.

Actors: Swedish Sports Confederation/SISU Sports Educators and sports colleges

Motivation

The occurrence of eating disorders and anorexia in sports has attracted the attention of the media in recent years. Eating disorders occur more often in a sporting context than among the population in general, especially in sports where hard training is required with attempts to lose weight to help form an agile body or achieve certain criteria for weight categories (31-34). In a study of 1,620 elite sportsmen and women, it was found that 20 per cent of the women and 8 per cent of the men fulfilled the criteria for anorexia or bulimia, compared with 4.6 per cent in the control group (33). Studies have found a lack of knowledge regarding eating disorders among sports instructors and few instructor courses seem to draw attention to the problem (34). Risk individuals should be identified at an early stage and be treated with a well-balanced diet with increased energy intake and less physical activity, otherwise they run the risk of bone fractures and the development of anorexia nervosa. The education of coaches, trainers and parents of young sportsmen and women is therefore important (35) in preventing eating disorders, discovering the early symptoms of eating disorders and providing skills in how to support people with such problems.

There are also many myths in circulation in sports about diet, food and health. Many active sportsmen and women use food supplements unnecessarily and at worst this can lead to imbalanced nutrition. To counteract this development, sports instructors should be educated in diet and health based on scientific facts and with Swedish nutritional recommendations as a foundation. It is also very important that sports instructors working with children and young people convey the right message about food and physical activity.

References

- 1. SOU 1998/99:107 En idrottspolitik för 2000-talet.
- 2. Riksidrottsförbundet. Idrotten vill: Verksamhetsidé och riktlinjer för idrottsrörelsen in i 2000-talet. Stockholm: Riksidrottsförbundet; 1995.
- 3. Riksidrottsförbundet www.rf.se.
- 4. Olika främjandeorganisationer. Idrotten är otillbörligt gynnad. Dagens Nyheter 2004-10-27.
- 5. RF. Riktlinjer för alkohol och tobak inom idrotten. Stockholm: Riksidrottsförbundet; 2000.
- 6. Svenska friidrottsförbundets hemsida www.friidrott.se/ungdom/happymil.asp och McDonald's hemsida www.mcdonalds.se/vardagsmotion/ happymil2004.html.
- 7. Larsson B, Nilsson P. Ungdom fritid idrott. Svensk Idrottsforskning 1997;3:16-20.
- 8. RF. Svenskarnas idrottsvanor: En studie av svenska folkets tävlings- och motionsvanor 2003. Stockholm: Riksidrottsförbundet; 2004. FoU-rapport 2004:5.
- 9. Olofsson E. Har kvinnorna en sportslig chans? Den svenska idrottsrörelsen och kvinnorna under 1900-talet. Umeå: Pedagogiska institutionen, Umeå universitet; 1989.
- 10. Åström G. Med flätorna i brevlådan en studie av könsmaktsordningen inom idrottsrörelsen. Stockholm: Riksidrottsförbundet, forskning och utveckling; 1995.
- Dorfinger K, Moström K. Tiden kommer att hjälpa till, men det räcker inte! En kartläggning av jämställdhetsarbetet inom idrotten. Stockholm: JUAB Jämställdhetsutveckling AB; 1995.
- 12. RF. Idrottens jämställdhetsplan inför 90-talet. Antagen vid riksidrottsmötet 1989. Stockholm: Riksidrottsförbundet; 1989.
- 13. RF. På lika villkor: Om könsordning och jämställdhetsarbete inom idrotten. Stockholm: Riksidrottsförbundet; 2004.
- 14. RF. Rapport om idrottens jämställdhetsarbete från 1989 till 1999. Stockholm: Riksidrottsförbundet; 1999.
- 15. RF. Näridrottsplats för fysisk aktivitet i boendemiljö. Stockholm: Riksidrottsförbundet; 2003.
- 16. Nationella folkhälsokommittén. Miljöfaktorer: Rapport från arbetsgruppen Miljöfaktorer till Nationella folkhälsokommittén. 1999. Underlagsrapport nr 5.
- 17. RF. Förändringar av det kommunala stödet till idrotten: En marknadsanalys av Centrum för Marknadsanalys. Stockholm: Riksidrottsförbundet; 2004.
- 18. Kallings LV, Leijon M. Erfarenheter av Fysisk aktivitet på recept FaR. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2003. R 2003:53.
- 19. Ashenden R, Silagy C, Weller D. A systematic review of the effectiveness of promoting lifestyle change in general practice. Fam Pract 1997;14:160-76.
- 20. Riddoch C, Puig-Ribera A, Cooper A. Effectiveness of physical activity promotion schemes in primary care: a review. Health Education Authority; 1998. http://www.hda-online.org.uk/documents/effective_primcare.pdf.

- 21. FHI. FYSS fysisk aktivitet i sjukdomsprevention och sjukdomsbehandling. En kunskapssammanställning. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2003.
- 22. NHS Centre for reviews and dissemination. Exercise referral systems: A national quality assurance framework. UK: National Health Service, UK Department of Health, British Association of Sports and Exercise Sciences (BASES) and Exercise England; 2001. www.doh.gov.uk/exercisereferrals/ exercisereferral.pdf.
- 23. SOU 2000:91 Hälsa på lika villkor. Nationella mål för folkhälsan.
- 24. Socialtjänstlagen 2001:453.
- 25. Hälso- och sjukvårdslagen 1982:763.
- 26. Lagen om stöd och service till vissa funktionshindrade 1993:387.
- 27. Plan- och bygglagen 1987:10.
- 28. SOU 1999:137 Hälsa på lika villkor. Nationella mål för folkhälsan.
- 29. Lärarnas tidning. Allt fler inaktiva ungdomar. 30 december 1999.
- www.lararnastidning.net/default.asp?ArticleID=19783&CategoryID=3546&ArticleOut putTemplateID=92&ArticleStateID=2&FreeText=Lars-Magnus%20Engström
- 30. Engström L-M. Social change and physical activity. Scand J Nutr 2004;48:108-113.
- 31. Hulley AJ, Hill AJ. Eating disorders and health in elite women distance runners. Int J Eat Disord 2001;30:312-7.
- 32. Sundgot-Borgen J. Weight and eating disorders in elite athletes. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2002;12:259-60.
- 33. Sundgot-Borgen J, Torstveit MK. Prevalence of eating disorders in elite athletes is higher than in the general population. Clin J Sport Med 2004;14(1):25-32.
- 34. Swanberg I. Prevention av ätstörningar kunskapsläget idag. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. R 2004:40.
- 35. Kvarnmalm A, Håstedt M. Idrottsanorexi. En undersökning om RF och specialidrottsförbundens strategier för idrottsanorexi. Examensarbete 10p, idrottslärarutbildningen. Stockholm: Idrottshögskolan; 2001.

Consumer policy

Consumer policy aims to strengthen and protect the position of the consumer on the market using different control instruments. The policy also aims to achieve the objective of long-term sustainable development by supporting the development of consumption and production patterns which reduce the pressure on the environment. The policy should also ensure the availability of healthy food at a reasonable price for everyone in the population and develop the local and regional work for good accessibility of commercial services.

To accord public health its appropriate status, the Government's objectives should be: 'To promote consumption and production patterns which reduce the pressure on the environment *and on public health* and contribute to long-term sustainable development' (the addendum is in italics).

Strengthening of consumer policy may be necessary mainly to protect weak groups such as children and socio-economically exposed groups.

In concrete terms this means that the proposals for measures within this policy area are directed towards issues concerning the availability in outlets, cafeterias and restaurants, marketing targeting children and financial support to consumer organisations to follow developments of and commercial aspects of important groups of food products.

Measure 32

Sweden should work at the EU level to ensure that TV food advertising targeted at children is banned throughout the EU.

Actor: Government

Motivation

Children (according to the *UN Convention on the Rights of Children*, the age at which a child is considered an adult is 18 years) today are exposed to very considerable commercial influences. Children are an important target group for the food industry since brand-recognition occurs at an early age. Furthermore, they now have large amounts of money to spend themselves and also exert considerable influence over the food product choices made by their parents. During the time when children can be expected to watch TV, commercials are broadcasted for energy-dense products such as chocolate, breakfast cereals (the majority sweetened), ice cream, soft drinks, sweets and fast foods. In 2003, commercial air-time for these products on TV was purchased between 7 and 8am for EUR 2,6 million and between 5 and 8pm for EUR 23 million (1). None of the ten most commonly advertised food products on TV in 2003 were among the foods the population were recommended to eat more of. Instead, the majority of them comprised energy-dense products. In addition to these products, 11,916 commercial slots were advertisements for fast food restaurants in 2003 (2).

In Sweden, in accordance with radio and TV broadcasting legislation, advertising is not permitted before and after a children's programme. Children's programmes may not be interrupted for commercials. Furthermore, TV commercials may not aim to capture the attention of children younger than 12 years. The National Consumer Ombudsman enforces these regulations, which apply to the Swedish commercial channel, TV4. Since the Swedish channels TV3 and TV5 are broadcast from Britain, they are not covered by the legislation prohibiting advertising to children. On the other hand, even the advertising targeting children on these channels must follow the TV Directive's regulations and national marketing legislation, which stipulates that advertising to children should not be misleading.

It is not always clear what can be defined as advertising aimed at children and the distinction sometimes has to be legally tested. Several legal judgements in the Swedish Market Court (3) have resulted in the TV advertising ban in Sweden being eroded, to some extent, a point discussed at length by the Consumer Ombudsman in a report to the Government.

Children of parents with low socio-economic status watch more TV advertising and develop a lower degree of nutritional awareness than other children (4). It is likely that TV advertising establishes or reinforces the attitudes to food that exist in the environments in which the child lives. Exposure to food commercials on TV had, in a study, a greater impact on food purchases in families with low socio-economic status than in families with higher socio-economic status (5). It is possible that families from lower socio-economic background find it more difficult to resist the commercial influence of advertising for unhealthy foods.

WHO believes that heavy marketing of energy-dense foods and fast food outlets, probably is a contributory factor to overweight and obesity (6). In Britain, the Food Standards Agency, concerned about the development of overweight among children, commissioned research into the effect of TV food advertising on children (7). The result, published in the Hastings Report, is the largest systematic review of research so far conducted in the field.

The review demonstrated that children are more inclined to choose food with a high fat, salt or sugar content than alternatives with a low content of these substances after having seen TV commercials for food. Advertising affects purchasing behaviour, food preferences and consumption. The effects are significant, independent of other factors, and operates at both brand and category levels. Effects at category level, that is when children choose sweets instead of fruit, are the greatest problem from a public health perspective. Even effects at brand level, such as choosing sweetened cereal rather than unsweetened, can also affect public health because sweetened cereals have more added sugar. The Hastings Report focuses only on TV advertising and the result therefore underestimates the total impact food advertising has on children.

The Hastings Report has been reviewed on seven occasions and was given considerable support. It has now been approved by the Food Standards Agency and Ofcom (UK Telecommunications Regulator). The Department of Health in Britain published a white paper on public health in November 2004 (8) which expresses a strong need to limit marketing of food and drink containing high quantities of fat, salt and sugar. The Broadcasting Commission of Ireland has, in the Children's Advertising Code from October 2004, included requirements for information in written or verbal form in connection with TV commercials for fast foods (*should be eaten in moderation*) and for sweets (*snacking on sugary foods and drinks can damage teeth*) (9). The regulations apply to children under 18, a much higher age limit than the Swedish limit of 12 years.

A prohibition should be appended to the new EU work underway on the directive on unfair commercial practices. The proposal is currently in the process of a second reading in parliament. Alternatively, restrictions relevant to children should be included in the work in progress on the directive on nutrition and health claims made on food.

Measure 33

The prerequisites for restricting food marketing activities targeted at children should be examined, e.g. in respect of existing legislation. Trends in marketing should be continually monitored. A collaborative group for responsible marketing should be created.

Actor: Swedish Consumer Agency

Motivation

Apart from TV, food industry uses many other channels and methods to get their message across to children including radio, comics, the Internet, mobile telephony, cinemas, food product packaging, toys distributed by fast food chains, product placement, sponsorship and so on. The children's comic *Kalle Anka* (Donald Duck) is one example of a popular channel for reaching children. In 2003, the advertisements for food products in the comic largely comprised sweets. Also included were advertisements for sweet breakfast cereals, desserts, cakes and fast foods (1). The trend is moving increasingly towards new technologies such as a channel for commercial messages. These channels are both cheap and can be made more target specific than TV advertising.

In its Global Strategy for Diet, Physical Activity and Health, WHO recommends that messages promoting unhealthy dietary habits should be discouraged. In the WHO Technical Report on Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases it is stated that the exposure of young children to heavy marketing practices of energy-dense, micronutrient-poor foods should be limited. In the strategy, governments are also encouraged to work with consumer organisations, the food industry and the advertising industry to develop measures for how the marketing of food to children should be managed (10). In the WHO report *Marketing Food to Children: the Global Regulatory Environment* (11), the importance of health being given a central place in policy documents on marketing targeting children is underlined. The issue of measures required to highlight food as a product category in need of special focus from a public health perspective is also raised in the report.

Sweden is often cited as a role model in the context of advertising targeting children and could become one of the first countries in the world to regulate the ways in which food is advertised to children for public health reasons. There is strong support for a ban on advertisements targeting children in Sweden. Eighty-four per cent of the adult population would like either to extend or retain the ban on TV advertising aimed at children, 82 per cent support the introduction of restrictions on advertising other than TV advertising, and 73 per cent believe that there is too much advertising aimed at children on the Internet (12).

An assessment should be made of how restrictions on advertising targeting children could be best implemented. The advertising and food industries have often argued that self-regulation and self-monitoring would be the best way to approach the problem. The International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) has recently developed the ways in which their own behavioural code can be applied to food and drink advertising: "Advertisements for food and drink may neither encourage nor ignore exaggerated consumption, and the size of portions should be appropriate in the environments in which they are portrayed. Advertisements for food and drink may neither undermine the promotion of a healthy, balanced diet nor the importance of a healthy, active lifestyle" (13).

The aim of self-regulation and self-monitoring is not to reduce marketing and cannot be seen as an adequate mechanism for creating an environment promoting more healthy dietary habits among children. The programme of measures is also largely unknown to the consumer. International consumer organisations are critical to internal programmes of measures and want to see more forceful regulation of the marketing of food targeting children (14-16).

The Swedish Consumer Agency has submitted views concerning what might be included in a legal consideration of the conditions for restricting the marketing of food to children. The legislation it might be relevant to reinforce includes marketing legislation and legislation regulating radio and TV broadcasting. It might also be desirable to enhance the jurisdiction regulations and tighten up prohibition regulations in the TV directive.

From the point of view of public health, it would be desirable to continually monitor marketing to minimise the risk of violations of regulations. The Swedish Consumer Agency was previously requested to monitor developments in advertising but it has not been feasible to prioritise this task due to cut-backs. A prioritised measure should be the creation of a working group between the authorities, the private sector and the advertising industry to discuss how public health aspects should be observed in the marketing of food and drink.

Consumer organisations should be able to apply for funding from the Swedish Consumer Agency for monitoring and publicising developments in the marketing of soft drinks, sweets, crisps, cakes and biscuits and ice cream directed at children, and to initiate a debate on such marketing.

Actor: Swedish Consumer Agency

Cost: EUR 53,000 per year

Motivation

In Sweden pensioners' associations have been regularly collecting data on prices for various basic food products for many years and have published this data in the national press and through other channels with comparisons of the data over time. Today many of the larger consumer organisations are involved in issues concerning food advertising directed to children and these organisations would like to see restrictions of such marketing. Consumer organisations are important actors in monitoring all the various strategies used by the food product sector to market its products, stimulate debate on these strategies and capture attitudes among the population.

This suggested measure will enable consumer organisations to apply for grants to collect representative data in a structured way concerning different aspects of marketing and sales of soft drinks, sweets, crisps and cakes and biscuits as well as fruit and vege-tables. In such surveys information may include the marketing of food products with the help of toys and fun packaging, campaigns such as attractive pricing and quantity discounts for soft drinks, sweets, crisps, ice cream, cakes and biscuits; packaging size, price marking and comparative price marking; changes in portion size of soft drinks, sweets, sweets, snacks, ice cream, cakes and cookies and the positioning of these products in the shops. The continual monitoring of large areas such as marketing of food directed to children demands resources which consumer organisations lack today. To effectively be able to conduct opinion building, the Swedish consumer organisations need more resources.

Parents' associations, through consumer organisations, are given the opportunity to express their views. The Consumer Association Stockholm has recently started a parents' jury which has expressed opinions on food advertising to children (17).

As an example of how consumer organisation abroad work we can mention the consumer organisation Consumer Alert which has recently produced a Parents' Bill of Rights. In this document they demand that parents should be able to communicate directly with advertisers through radio and TV, that companies should openly account for which advertising companies they use and who has performed their market surveys. Moreover, they would like to see disclosure of product placement (18) and control over how personal data about children is used in commercial contexts.

Another example is the Parents' Jury in Britain, coordinated by the Food Commission, which with 1,700 members continually monitors the various approaches used by the industry to reach children with commercial messages and alert parents to nutritionally inferior products and sales tricks (19).

Material directed at young people about food marketing in relation to health should be produced.

Actors: The Swedish Consumer Agency in cooperation with the National Institute of Public Health

Cost: EUR 53, 000

Motivation

Children have large sums of money at their own disposal. The average monthly allowance for 13, 14,15,16 and 17 year-olds is EUR 38, EUR 48, EUR 61, EUR 82, EUR 100 respectively, over and above the extra money many young people are given by their parents (20). Young people therefore have substantial purchasing power and have considerable influence over their parents' purchasing habits. The Swedish Consumer Agency believes it is necessary for children and young people to become more aware of the influence they are subjected to and that there are alternative sources of information. They are then able to develop their own attitudes to marketing and consumption (21).

Part of the process of supporting young people in their role as consumers and making it easier for them to think critically regarding advertising is providing them with educational material revealing the purposes of advertising. This material should be able to be used in compulsory schools and upper secondary schools and should be designed as a teacher's guide with secondary and upper secondary pupils as the target group. An example is available in *Trix och Trender i reklamen* (Tricks and Trends in Advertising), a guide for teachers produced by the Consumer Agency in 1999. Another example is the guide material, *Tillsammans – mot tobak* (Together – combating tobacco), produced by *A non-smoking generation* as part of the project 'Tobacco Prevention, A multi-component programme'.

The new material should be directed at the link between advertising and lifestyle habits/health in which advertising aspects related to tobacco, alcohol and gambling can be added. The production of the material should be conducted in close dialogue with the Institute of Public Health. The material should be included in a dissemination strategy.

Municipalities and schools should adopt a food sponsorship policy. The guide developed by the Swedish Consumer Agency, the Swedish National Agency for Education and the Swedish Association of Local Authorities should be used as a starting point.

Actors: Municipalities and schools

Motivation

Sponsorship is a commercial cooperation between a school and a company. According to a survey by the National Association of Teachers at the end of the 1990s, 60 per cent of compulsory schools had been sponsored by companies or organisations. The majority of the teachers in the survey could consider accepting a sponsorship offer on condition that the sponsors did not influence the content of instruction (22). Danisco Sugar is one example of a company that has produced teaching material for primary school pupils in the form of a comic book about how sugar is made. The comprehensive extent of sponsorship in American schools by soft drinks producers, fast food chains and large food product chains and the impact on the pupils' choice of foods is well documented (23-24). The considerable cut-backs in Swedish schools increase the risk for sponsorship by food producers in schools, a development that sends false signals to children and young people and leads to a deterioration in dietary habits.

The attitudes to sponsorship in schools vary somewhat. The Teachers' Association believes that it is not wrong in principle to accept support, but that sponsorship may not be associated with conditions and schools should never be placed in a state of dependence. The national parent-teacher association *Hem och Skola* ("Home and School") believes that schools are on their way of becoming market places and fears that schools are rather naïve in this respect, which may reflect a lack of teaching materials and resources. The association wants to work to develop ethical rules to help schools to assess sponsorship offers. The pupil organisation, an interest organisation for Sweden's school pupils, is in principle against sponsorship, especially the need for sponsorship. They believe that all schools should have the same economic conditions and that the role of schools as impartial transmitters of knowledge is crucial. It is especially serious when sponsorship targets younger children. The National Association of Teachers is positive to sponsorship so long as it is not a compelling force. Sponsorship may not become a necessary part of financing (22).

Sponsorship at schools is increasing in extent and both the type of sponsorship and the methods are constantly changing which places considerable demands on both the providers and receivers. Children in compulsory school are obliged to attend school and therefore are unable to choose not to be influenced in the manner implied by sponsorship. There is currently no legislation expressly forbidding sponsorship of school activities.

The Swedish Consumer Agency in cooperation with the National Agency for School Improvement and the Swedish Association of Local Authorities, has produced guidelines for the development of a policy for commercial cooperation between schools and enterprise (25). The guidelines provide proposals for what a sponsorship policy should include, decisions on policy and the various regulations.

An important aspect in the assessment of a sponsorship offer is the ethical element. The company activities should not include products that are incompatible with the values of the school. Unhealthy food can be identified here as a product which should not be included in sponsorship. It is of central significance that the policy is familiar to both the school and to enterprise and that it is spread to pupils and to parents.

Measure 37

The Government should develop a form of dialogue with the food sector's various trade organisations in the areas of food production, distribution, retail and catering in order to discuss how the food sector can contribute to healthy dietary habits. The result may be a voluntary agreement, such as an ethical code.

Actors:

Government in cooperation with the Swedish Consumer Agency, the National Food Administration and the National Institute of Public Health

Motivation

The food sector is one of the most important actors when it comes to promoting healthy dietary habits. It represents both part of the problem with unhealthy dietary habits and part of the solution for healthy dietary habits. The significance of the food sector taking responsibility for public health emerged unequivocally at the hearings held during the year as part of this assignment, it also emerges in other national action plans and in WHO's global strategy for food, drink, physical activity and health. Many concrete proposals have been presented such as:

- Develop healthier products based on fruit and vegetables.
- Develop more consumer-friendly packaging with fruit, vegetables and wholemeal bread.
- Develop the range of food products, ready-to-eat meals, meals and snacks that can satisfy the criteria for keyhole labelling.
- Review the pricing of keyhole-labelled food products in relation to similar nonkeyhole-labelled products.
- Market keyhole-labelled food products.
- State the price in SEK per kilo rather than per 100 grams (for example for unpackaged sweets).
- Work to increase the availability of keyhole-labelled alternatives at restaurants .
- Offer vegetables with all meals at restaurants.
- Review the placing of various food product groups in outlets from a health perspective, especially concerning children.
- Remove special offers on soft drinks, sweets, ice cream, crisps and cakes and biscuits which encourage purchase or the purchase of larger quantities, as in the case of 'buy three, pay for two', the size of bags and scoops, etc.

• Decrease the size of portions of ice cream, sweets, soft drinks, crisps and cakes and biscuits.

The food sector should work on these issues and develop internal action programmes and policy documents. To achieve greater impact, an ethical code should be produced stating the points of departure for the actions of different actors. Producers and retailers should consider the feasibility of formulating a joint ethical code regarding supply, availability and marketing. To stimulate this work, we propose the Government develops a form of dialogue with the different actors in the food sector from which reports can be submitted on how work is progressing and proposals be presented for further activities. The forms this dialogue could take might consist of annual meetings through discussions with certain sectors or with individual companies. Officially collated details should be available as a point of departure concerning sales volumes, prices, marketing and so forth.

Similar forms for discussions/dialogues with the food sector have been held by WHO and the Food Standards Agency in Britain. One example of a voluntary undertaking is the removal of all images of children from the own-brand range of products containing high levels of fat, salt or sugar by the Cooperative Group in Britain. EURO COOP, which includes KF (the Swedish Cooperative Union), is encouraging the food industry to take similar steps.

References

- 1. SIFO. Reklammätningar, på uppdrag av Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004.
- 2. Media Management Scandinavia. Tittardata, på uppdrag av Statens folkhälsoinstitut.
- 3. MD 2000:14 KO ./. Quaker Oats Europe Inc. USA Sverigefilial och TV4 AB.
- 4. Bjurström E. Barn och TV-reklam. Stockholm: Konsumentverket; 1993.
- 5. Schmitz K, Jeffery R. Prevention of Obesity. I: Wadden TA, Stunkard AJ, red. Handbook of obesity treatment. New York: Guilford Press; 2002.
- 6. WHO. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003. World Health Organization Technical Report Series 916.
- Hastings G, Stead M, McDermott L. Review of research on the effects of food promotion to children. England: Food Standards Agency; 2003. Final Report. www.csm.strath.ac.uk.
- 8. UK Department of Health. Choosing Health: making healthier choices easier. Public Health White Paper. 2004-11-16: NHS & UK Department of Health; 2004.
- 9. BCI. Children's Advertising Code. Broadcasting Commission of Ireland; 2004. http://www.bci.ie/publications/childrens_code_oct_04.pdf.
- 10. WHO. Global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. World Health Organization; 2004 May. WHA57 17, 22.
- 11. WHO. Marketing Food to Children: the Global Regulatory Environment. World Health Organization; 2004.
- 12. SKOP. 2001 opinionsundersökning på uppdrag av Sveriges Konsumentråd. Stockholm: 2001.
- 13. International Chamber of Commerce Sverige. ICC:s riktlinjer för ansvarsfull reklam för mat och dryck.

http://www.iccsweden.se/policy/marknad/koder/food.htm.

- 14. International Association of Consumer Food Organizations. Broadcasting bad health. Why food marketing to children needs to be controlled. By the International Association of Consumer Food Organizations for the World Health Organization consultation on a global strategy for diet and health; 2003.
- 15. Consumers International. A spoonful of sugar. Television food advertising aimed at children: an international comparative survey. Consumers International; 1996 Nov.
- 16. Trans Atlantic Consumer Dialogue. Resolution on Food Advertising & Marketing to children. 2004 Jan. Doc No. Food-23-04.
- 17. Konsumentföreningen Stockholm. www.konsumentforeningenstockholm.se.
- 18. Commercial Alert. Home Page. från www.commercialalert.org.
- 19. The Parents' Jury, The Food Commission. Home Page. www.foodcomm.org.uk/parents_jury.htm & www.parentsjury.org/.
- 20. FöreningsSparbanken. Tonåringarna och deras pengar. Stockholm: Institutet för Privatekonomi; 2003.
- 21. Jordbruksdepartementet. Den framtida konsumentpolitiken ett underlag till en ny konsumentpolitisk strategi 2006. 2004. Ds 2004:51.

- 22. Nordiska ministerrådet. Sponsring i skolan. En undersökning av kommersiella aktiviteter i nordiska skolor och förslag till vägledning för skolans bedömning av sponsringserbjudanden. 2000. Tema Nord 2000:522.
- 23. Nestlé M. Food Politics: How the food industry influences nutrition and health. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press; 2002.
- 24. Brownell K, Horgen K. Food Fight. New York: Contemporary Books. 2004.
- 25. Konsumentverket. Sponsring i skolan. Vägledning för utarbetande av lokal policy för sponsring. Stockholm: Konsumentverket; 2004.

Food policy

Food policy aims to use different control instruments to achieve ecologically, economically and socially sustainable food production. The policy also aims to achieve the objective for safe and competitive agricultural production directed by consumer demand and contributing to global food supply. Swedish food policy including agricultural policy is largely controlled by regulations within the EU. Public Health should be promoted within all EU policy areas as stated in Article 152 of the European Constitution (1). As a consequence of this, we propose an objective for agricultural policy as follows: 'Agricultural policy should promote public health'. EU's agricultural policy has considerable significance for pricing within several of the relevant product ranges.

This policy area incorporates issues such as food inspection and enforcement activities, the labelling of food products and more externally focused and supportive work to promote healthy dietary habits such as guidelines for healthy food, nutrition and health information and supplementary training. This is an area directly or indirectly affecting consumers' opportunities to choose healthy foods. Furthermore, the collection of consumption data is a prerequisite for work with healthy dietary habits.

Measure 38

Public health impacts should be assessed and considered in relevant international negotiations and in particular regarding reforms to the EU Common Agricultural Policy. The effects of product support should be given particular consideration.

Actor: Government

Motivation

The main risk factors for non-communicable disease in Europe such as smoking, high blood pressure, alcohol consumption, high blood cholesterol, overweight and low intake of fruit and vegetables (2) are associated with consumption of agricultural products. The EU Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) regulates production, price and to a certain extent the marketing of food, in other words, supply, availability and demand which are all significant determinants of dietary habits. It is therefore important that reforms of the CAP are subject to health impact assessments before decisions regarding reforms are made which would also imply taking into account the intentions of Article 152 of the EU Constitution. The only way of analysing whether health is integrated into all policy areas is through health impact assessments.

Two qualitative health impact assessments have been conducted of the CAP since Sweden joined the EU in 1995 (3-4). Both analyses studied market organisations for fruit and vegetables, milk, wine and tobacco and it was concluded that regulations with negative consequences for public health were still in place. While environmental problems caused by agriculture attract considerable attention, there is still little awareness of the CAP's negative consequences for public health. This brings to the fore the need for continuous health impact assessments in advance of policy reforms that often occur within one or more commodities at the same time.

129

The reform in June 2003 removed a large portion of the support to agriculture, resulting in support no longer being linked to production (5). Important sectors for public health were excluded wholly or in part from the reform. The effect of agricultural policy on consumer prices does not promote public health (6). The price of fruit and vegetables is held up by withdrawal support and tariffs on imported products. Beef is heavily subsidised and this contributes to high meat consumption which leads to a high intake of saturated fats. Butter prices are subsidised and school milk support is 74 per cent higher for whole milk (3 % fat) than for skimmed milk (0.5 % fat). According to Svensk Mjölk (Swedish Milk), this leads to a shift towards milk with a higher fat content. According to the 'Guidelines for school lunches', skimmed milk and water are recommended with school meals (7) and the 'Guidelines for meals in child care' (8) recommend semi-skimmed milk (1.5 % fat). At pre-school, 50 per cent of four year-olds drink semi-skimmed milk, 29 per cent whole milk and 1 per cent drink skimmed milk. Among school children (8-11 years), 64-70 per cent drink semi-skimmed milk. The equivalent figures for whole milk and skimmed milk are 6-11 per cent and 5 per cent (9). Both whole milk products and wine are marketed with money from the EU's agriculture budget, in other words, tax revenue.

Discussions are now underway in the EU concerning a reform of the market order for fruit and vegetables and for sugar. EU-produced sugar is 3-4 times more expensive than on the world market, which is positive from a public health perspective. However, from a socio-economic perspective, the use of agricultural subsidies for an unhealthy product is hardly rational. Since 1995, the international price of sugar has been falling, mainly due to global overproduction. The EU sugar reform means that export subsidies have been reduced considerably, that the domestic sugar quota (how much each country may produce with financial support) has been decreased, that intervention (purchase of the surplus) has been abolished and that the price of sugar has fallen by around 40 per cent within the EU. The reform of the sugar sector demonstrates the core challenge agriculture and public health face in the future.

Measure 39

In the EU Commission's impending review of the directive on nutrition labelling, Sweden should work to ensure that nutrition labelling be compulsory for all prepackaged foods and that all such labelling also contain details about fat quality, sugar and salt (for relevant products).

Actors: Government and the National Food Administration

Motivation

Lists of ingredients and nutrition labelling are important tools for consumers to be able to make conscious choices. Product development leading to new products and changes in the composition of traditional products make lists of ingredients more important in assisting choice today than ever before. Lists of ingredients should, in principle, always be provided on pre-packaged foods. For unpackaged products intended for sale at outlets, to restaurants and the catering sector, lists of ingredients should be provided on the sales documentation. Nutrition labelling (information about fat, protein and carbohydrates) is voluntary today but where it exists it is often difficult to understand. Information about sugar (provided as 'carbohydrates including types of sugar') and sodium (salt) are more seldom included.

Nutrition labelling can function to support and provide information for consumers. Quite extensive knowledge is needed, however, to be able to interpret this kind of information and render it useful. Surveys indicate that many people who read the nutrition labels find them difficult to understand (10). According to a Nordic consumer survey, 79 per cent of those asked would like compulsory nutrition labelling (10). They would also like labels to be readable and easy to understand. American studies show that a significant proportion of consumers read nutrition labelling (11) and it can influence their choice of food products (12-13). Compulsory labelling may also benefit those who do not read the labels. Since compulsory labelling was introduced in the United States, companies have developed many more products with low content of the substances we should eat less of (14-15). This experience reflects the Swedish situation with keyhole labelling. This has also stimulated product development of low-fat and more fibre-rich products. American studies also suggest that compulsory labelling of food products can be cost effective from the point of view of health (16).

A Nordic project drew the following conclusions concerning nutrition labelling of food products: it should be compulsory, standardised, follow a compulsory list of nutrients stated per gram and per portion, and a simple system should be developed and tested for guidance about the product's 'nutritional soundness'. On the other hand, details of recommended daily intake (RDI) should not be used since they were considered too complicated (10).

Within the EU, work is underway to revise the regulations concerning current nutrition labelling from 1990 (17). An initial proposal is expected to be submitted at the beginning of 2005. Sweden should actively promote labelling becoming compulsory and, in addition to energy, protein and carbohydrates, labelling should also include salt, sugar, saturated fat and trans fats (for all relevant products). Exceptions or special regulations for certain product categories may require discussion. It is also important to promote labelling which is clearer and easier to read. Sweden should also encourage investigation into how these regulations can be applied to unpackaged foods and food sold in restaurants and cafeterias.

An enquiry should be carried out on how diet and health issues can be included in the national food safety work and on how food inspection and enforcement activities can be expanded to include nutritional aspects. Such measures could be linked to companies' self-inspection programmes.

Actor: Government

Motivation

The supervisory authorities (primarily the municipal environment and health protection committees, in some cases the National Food Administration) ensure that food companies live up to the demands in food legislation. For this reason the supervisory authority is entitled to have access to food premises for inspection and tests. The authority is also entitled to receive on request the information and documentation necessary for supervision.

A system of self-inspection exists among food companies to ensure that the demands in food legislation are satisfied. Self-inspection should be documented in a self-monitoring programme. Self-inspection can then become a tool for food companies to systematically review their activities, establish a system and follow it to avoid and limit the production of poor quality food or causing illness.

In discussions with the industry in 2003 for a report to the minister of agriculture it became apparent that some companies and industry bodies had formulated different types of policy documents which are either more generally about nutrition and public health or directly focused on the problem of overweight. These efforts on the part of companies are welcomed as a positive and constructive approach. We propose that this principle is compounded and an enquiry initiated into whether companies can be required to produce some kind of action plan and possibly even health impact assessments within the framework of self-inspection activities.

So far it has not been feasible to include nutritional aspects in supervisory work with the exception of checking labelling information and some oriented examinations of the fat content in keyhole-labelled lunches, in other words in the few areas where recommendations exist. The enquiry should establish the extent to which it is feasible to include further nutritional aspects in future food safety work.

The proposal to use public supervision appears to lack any international equivalent and can be expected to attract attention in the EU.

The prerequisites should be investigated for requiring the relevant employers in the food sector to ensure their employees have the necessary training in basic diet and health issues.

Actor: The National Food Administration

Motivation

Important competence would enable the relevant personnel at cafeterias/restaurants to make simple nutritional calculations including a fat/energy estimate, while shop personnel would be able to provide information concerning the principles behind keyhole-labelled products, or production personnel would know about the health impact of different kinds of fats.

An important issue relates to knowledge and attitudes among those concerned within the food sector, from directors of boards to serving personnel at fast food chains. The need for education is considerable but we should point out that some education programmes are conducted by the food sector itself. Among concrete problems that can be mentioned are the very negative attitudes of certain cafeteria/restaurant personnel and obvious difficulties originating from a significant lack of knowledge regarding nutrition, such as when asked to calculate the nutritional value of a meal.

Due to this type of problem there is a need to work out a basic course with some different profiles and encourage the sectors to promote training in various ways through their member organisations. Investigations should also be made into whether it is feasible in food legislation to place demands on competence in nutrition such as the ability to calculate energy and fat content in a portion served. The equivalent demands are currently imposed today on food hygiene.

An examination of this measure could be linked to an enquiry requested by the Government into proof of competence (an occupational 'drivers' license') regarding hygiene criteria.

Data on food supply, food prices and marketing of certain food groups (fruit, vegetables, keyhole-labelled foods, sweets, crisps, soft drinks, cakes, biscuits and ice cream) should be compiled annually in the Statistical Yearbook of Sweden.

Actors: The Swedish Board of Agriculture in cooperation with Statistics Sweden

Motivation

Since the beginning of the 1940s the Swedish Board of Agriculture has been responsible for data of food consumption nationally and for the nutritional content of the diet. The data is included in an integrated section covering total national consumption in the national accounts produced by Statistics Sweden. The consumption data is reported as direct and total consumption of food and as nutritional content in the diet and is compiled by the National Food Administration on the basis of the Board of Agriculture's calculations of quantities consumed.

Direct consumption comprises the total supplies of food products to individual households and catering along with the producers' domestic consumption, known as natural consumption. Direct consumption of various food products is stated both in terms of quantity and nutritional content in the diet. Quantities consumed are reported, as far as possible, in the form in which products reach the consumer, in other words as agricultural products (raw materials), semi-processed, canned, frozen products, processed food and equivalents. The data on quantities consumed is based on several sources and many of the product groups are based on combined sources to achieve the final result. For example, information concerning production of processed food is obtained from Statistics Sweden. Total consumption comprises the total utilisation of different raw materials for human consumption.

The statistical data published annually by the Board of Agriculture does not suffice to be able to track changes in consumption concerning sweetened drinks, different types of confectionery, crisps and cakes and biscuits with other products high in sugar and fat, for different groups of the population. Even for fruit, root vegetables and vegetables, a higher degree of detail is probably needed than is currently made available. Statistics here are complicated by home grown production, mainly of fruit and berries.

There is therefore a need for statistical data with a higher degree of detail and the Board of Agriculture should be requested, in cooperation with Statistics Sweden and the relevant commercial organisations, to develop a method for collecting this data and be responsible for annual reporting.

The work of applying keyhole–labelling should be intensified, particularly regarding labelling of meals and inspection/enforcement of this within the restaurant and large-scale catering sector.

Actor: The National Food Administration

Motivation

The use of the keyhole symbol for labelling has existed since 1989. The symbol is a trademark owned by the National Food Administration and labelling using the keyhole has indicated low fat content and/or high dietary fibre content. The aim of current keyhole labelling on pre-packaged products is to provide guidance for the consumer regarding low-fat and fibre-rich food products. The symbol acts as a simple indication of healthier food products and the choice of keyhole products should be able to contribute to healthy dietary habits and good health.

The National Food Administration proposed revision of the conditions for approval to use the keyhole on pre-packaged food products in the autumn of 2004 (18). The proposal, which is currently submitted for notification to the EU, suggested that naturally low-fat foods and fibre-rich products should also be approved for labelling, such as meat, fruit, berries, vegetables, root vegetables and potatoes. Labelling is also proposed for low-fat and fat fish. It is also suggested that the criteria for fat and dietary fibre for some food groups should be tightened up and that criteria for sugar and salt are introduced for some groups of food products. The keyhole will then provide an indication of which foodstuffs people should eat more from. Studies have shown that the symbol is well-known among consumers and could have some influence over choice of food products (19-20).

Food dishes served at restaurants may be labelled with a keyhole symbol if they fulfil certain criteria regarding fat content and food product components. The symbol is used increasingly these days but controls are unfortunately unsatisfactory. The range offered by restaurants is always changing and menus including drinks and buffets are becoming increasingly common. Apart from the meal itself the nutritional quality of the meal is influenced by additional aspects such as salad dressing, bread, the type of fat used and which drink one chooses. The National Food Administration now intends to review the criteria for keyhole labelling of meals and food served in large-scale catering, restaurants and fast food chains. Supervision of labelling will be particularly examined.

If the proposal for new conditions for keyhole labelling recently submitted is accepted by the EU, an active implementation will ensue with high priority on the new keyhole on food products in shops and in large-scale catering.

In Britain the authorities have recently proposed introduction of an indicator system for food products. The Government and industry wish to develop better nutrition information on packaged foods and also introduce a labelling system as a guide to consumers to choose healthier options. The primary nutritional substances will either be combined in a single indicator or separate information will be given for fat, saturated fat, sugar and salt in an indicator system using green, yellow or red. The British authorities will have worked out the new system by the summer of 2005 to come into force in 2006. A similar Swedish proposal was presented in a government enquiry in 1984 (21).

Measure 44

Nationally representative dietary surveys should be carried out so that different age groups are monitored every 10 years. These surveys should contain validated questions on physical activity and body weight. The surveys should be supplemented with targeted studies on different population groups (in terms of ethnicity, socio-economics, gender), and specific studies on certain food groups.

Actor: The National Food Administration

Cost: EUR 320,000 per year

Motivation

Information concerning how different groups of the population eat, how their dietary habits change, how their nutrition intake agrees with nutrition recommendations and their degree of physical activity is completely decisive for all public health work aimed at healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity. Without such knowledge, it is impossible to identify deciding factors and risk groups, to evaluate and follow-up public health work and to propose targeted measures. Knowledge about the nutrient intake of different groups of the population also provides the basis for enrichment of food products with nutritients and for risk evaluation and limit values for various supplementary substances in food products. Regular dietary surveys including questions about physical activity are therefore absolutely essential for implementation and follow-up of a national action plan for healthy dietary habits and physical activity and for obtaining information about the causes of obesity development. This is something also clearly pointed out by WHO (22) and in the action plans of other countries (23-24).

In Sweden two national dietary surveys have been conducted, one in 1988/89 on people between the ages of 1-74 (25), and another in 1997/8 on people in the age range 18-74 (26). In 2003 a further survey was conducted of children at the ages of 4, 8 and 11 (9). National dietary surveys have not been conducted in a systematic and planned way in Sweden. This leads to a lack of complete and current consumption data and means that it is impossible to develop methods for larger dietary surveys at population level and the nutritional data for food products needed for analysing the results. National dietary surveys should be conducted continuously so that different age groups are followed up every ten years.

In addition to the introduction of representative general dietary surveys, more directed dietary surveys are needed to highlight certain issues. These may include dietary habits and nutrient intake in certain groups of the population as well as socioeconomic and ethnic groups. In a national sample there are generally too few people in certain groups, which renders these samples too small to be studied. For such studies a special sample is required and occasionally a specific method. Knowledge of the existence of considerable inequalities in health and the occurrence of overweight make it especially important to conduct this type of dietary survey.

Measure 45

Information on healthy dietary habits and physical activity should be developed, expanded and made more accessible to different vocational groups (information disseminators).

Actors: The National Food Administration (Dietary guidelines) and National Institute of Public Health (Physical activity)

Cost: EUR 2,1 million over 3 years after which EUR 165,000 each year

Motivation

In a survey of health information about food in Sweden (27), it became apparent that there was great demand among information disseminators such as domestic and consumer science teachers, school nurses, child healthcare nurses, teachers of physical education and health, dieticians, those responsible for school and childcare meals, journalists and nutritionists. These occupational groups felt that there was a shortage of health information independent of producers.

The National Food Administration has relatively extensive health information about healthy dietary habits in paper form (brochures, fact sheets, books) and on its website. Most of this material is directed to information disseminators but there is also information for the general public. The material is not comprehensive and sufficient, however, and there is a considerable need both for more information and more detailed information.

In addition to the National Food Administration, authorities such as the Swedish Consumer Agency and the National Board of Health and Welfare are also responsible for issues related to dietary habits and health and for some information to the public and information disseminators regarding these issues. The National Institute of Public Health has sector responsibility for physical activity although not for information directed to the public. Health information about physical activity directed to vocational groups in the health sector is compiled in the book '*Fysisk aktivitet vid sjukdomsprevention and sjukdomsbehandling*' (Physical activity for disease prevention and treatment of disease) (FYSS) (28) which has been produced on commission for the National Institute of Public Health.

At the regional level some county councils are active in dietary and health issues. The Centre for Applied Nutrition (CTN) at the social medicine division of Stockholm County Council has been working for many decades on the development of strategies, methods and material to promote healthy dietary habits among inhabitants via information disseminators.

Information about food and health is also conveyed by many organisations and associations. As an example we can mention the county agricultural societies. Local, regional and voluntary actors are important and have considerable potential since they

137

reach consumers in a different way than the authorities and often in a more target-group oriented and accessible form.

Information disseminators and consumers turn, for want of other material, to producer information. This is often distributed free of charge and in large editions to information disseminators such as the material from the Milk Marketing Board *'Mjölkspegeln'*, Cerealia 'C', Swedish Meats Information '*Svensk Kött*' and Danisco Sugar '*Perspectiv*'. Swedish Meats, Cerealia and Danisco Sugar invest EUR 320,000-420,000 annually each in these materials.

Measure 46

A national programme should be developed for training of relevant staff within different professional areas such as healthcare, education, elderly care and the food sector. This programme should provide both a common knowledge base as regards diet – physical activity – health and a number of target group-specific applications directed at particular vocational groups.

- Actors: The National Food Administration in cooperation with universities/university colleges, the relevant vocational groups' organisations
- Cost: EUR 210, 000 per year for 3 years after which EUR 53, 000 per year for 5 years

Motivation

Courses about food, physical activity and health should be compulsory elements of basic education leading to vocations in healthcare, school and nursing as well as the food sector. Detailed motivation for this is presented in the section on Education policy, Measure 74. Before this is in place and considering those who are vocationally active today, there is a considerable need for supplementary training. It is important to quickly and on a large scale increase competence so that these vocational groups can be motivated to work with issues, pass on knowledge and have a balanced approach to dietary habits, physical activity and health. These occupational groups have to have basic knowledge of nutrition, its practical application and be able to communicate this. Education programmes can be built on as a base programme adapted to the majority of relevant vocational groups. A number of supplementary programmes can then be designed adapted to different vocational groups. Today there are many techniques applicable such as web-based approaches (29-30) to increase the competence of different personnel categories.

Guidelines for food in the workplace should be developed, disseminated and evaluated.

Actors: The National Food Administration in cooperation with trade union organisations, employer organisations and the Work Environment Agency

Cost: EUR 53, 000 per year for 3 years

Motivation

People who work spend a large proportion of their waking hours at the workplace, which means that most of them eat a main meal and one or two snacks during working time. Hunger, the feeling of satisfaction and the composition of what we eat all affect how alert we are, our reactions and concentration capacity (31). Food intake during working hours is therefore important for both our health in the short and long term, as well as our work performance. Research indicates that lack of available healthy food at the workplace is a significant factor affecting the food intake of the entire day (32).

Guidelines formed and published in cooperation between the authorities and representatives in working life can act as support and advice regarding how a workplace should be designed to promote health from the point of view of healthy dietary habits. The health-promoting intervention programmes conducted at workplaces have focused on dietary counselling and have not offered more healthy meals, while physical activity in practice is always included in healthcare interventions (33). Guidelines would have the effect of strengthening future workplace-based intervention programmes. If the authorities and representatives for working life were to develop these guidelines together it would contribute to increased involvement in such issues among the actors on the labour market. Schools and childcare have similar guidelines that act as support for meals in these activities. Experience from school is that implementation after development of guidelines is decisive for wide dissemination and use.

The food served at lunch restaurants and in personnel canteens is often poorly adapted to nutrition and energy needs. Fatty and energy-dense foods are often provided (34). Vending machines at workplaces are often full of salty, fatty and sugary products. Food at representation meals, conferences and courses are not very well adapted to people's nutritional needs either. Studies have shown that free fruit at workplaces leads to increased fruit consumption and reduced consumption of cakes and pastries, especially among men (35).

Guidelines could include recommendations on:

- Free fruit available for all employees.
- Keyhole-labelled meal options at or in close proximity to the workplace.
- Nutritious snack options. Healthy range in vending machines and on product displays.
- Requirement specifications for procurement and ordering of lunch catering, representation, conferences and courses.

• Education about food, physical activity and health for different personnel categories such as personnel managers and health and safety representatives.

Measure 48

Guidelines for all meals provided in pre-school, school reception class, compulsory school and upper secondary school should be developed, disseminated and evaluated.

Actors: The National Food Administration in cooperation with the relevant authorities and representatives of the occupational groups involved

Cost: EUR 53, 000 per year for two years to develop and implement guidelines

Motivation

There are 'Guidelines for school lunches' available today (7) and 'Guidelines for childcare meals' (8). It is not known how many municipalities and schools follow these guidelines. Different smaller studies indicate that the majority of nutrition managers at the municipal level along with sub-contractors are aware of the guidelines and state that they provide considerable support and that they use them in their work (36). On the other hand, the guidelines appear less familiar to staff in the school canteens, among school managers and civil servants in the municipalities (36). Development of the guidelines and more training and information about them is in demand, both in childcare and in school for different categories of personnel. Special sections should be developed to provide support for procurement of catering activities. Guidelines should also include meals other than school lunches to provide advice about the dining environment in the canteens and attitudes to dietary habits and eating at various occasions.

The significance of schools serving fruit should be included. Children in grade 3 eat an afternoon snack just as often at home as at school (37). Children in grade 5 seldom eat an afternoon snack at school. If pupils eat an afternoon snack, it often consists of fruit (38). A survey of the country's secondary schools demonstrated that over half the schools sold soft drinks or sweets (39). The most common snack among secondary pupils was a chocolate cake and a soft drink (40). Trials at schools to introduce more nutritious snacks illustrated that pupils felt that this gave them more energy and endurance (40). Guidelines can act to support different categories of personnel in schools both regarding what is served and sold in schools and how we should approach different mealtime situations such as outings with packed lunches, Friday treats and birthday parties.

References

- Europeiska kommissionen. Konsoliderade versioner av fördraget om Europeiska unionen och fördraget om upprättandet av Europeiska gemenskapen (2002/C 325/01). Europeiska gemenskapernas officiella tidning; Nr 45: 2002.
- 2. WHO. The World Health Report. Reducing risks, promoting healthy life. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002.
- Dahlgren G, Nordgren P, Whitehead M. Health impact assessment of the EU common agricultural policy. Stockholm: National Institute of Public Health – Sweden; 1997. Rapport 1997:36.
- Schäfer Elinder L. Public health aspects of the EU Common Agricultural Policy: Developments and recommendations for change in four sectors: Fruit and vegetables, dairy, wine and tobacco. Stockholm: National Institute of Public Health – Sweden; 2003. R 2003:18.
- Council of the European Union. Council regulation establishing common rules for direct support schemes under the common agricultural policy and establishing certain support schemes for farmers and amending Regulations (EEC) No 2019/93, (EC) No 1452/2001, (EC) No 1453/2001, (EC) No 1454/2001, (EC) No 1868/94, (EC) No 1251/1999, (EC) No 1254/1999, (EC) No 1673/2000, (EC) No 2358/71 and (EC) 2529/2001. Bryssel; 2003.
- 6. Schäfer Elinder L. Folkhälsoaspekter på EU:s gemensamma jordbrukspolitik (CAP). Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. R 2004:4.
- 7. Riktlinjer för skolluncher råd, tips och mängdtabeller. Livsmedelsverket, Centrum för Tillämpad näringslära, Hälsomålet, Stockholms läns landsting; 2001.
- 8. Riktlinjer för barnomsorgens måltider. Livsmedelsverket, Hälsomålet, Stockholms läns landsting och Svenska Kommunförbundet: 1996.
- 9. Becker W, Enghardt Barbieri H. Svenska barns matvanor 2003 resultat från enkätfrågor. 2004. www.slv.se.
- Nordic Council of Ministers. Food labelling: Nordic Consumers'Proposal for Improvements. A pan –Nordic survey of consumer behaviour and attitudes towards food labelling. TemaNord 2001:573.
- 11. Hawkes C. Nutrition labels and health claims: the global regulatory environment. WHO; 2004.
- Parkwood Research Associates. Shopping for Health 1995: New Labels, Same Eating Habits? Washington (DC): Food Marketing Institute/Prevention Magazine; 1995.
- 13. ADA. 1995 Nutrition Trends Survey. American Dietetic Association; 1995 May.
- 14. Food Labeling for the 21st Century: A global Agenda for Action. Washington (DC): Centre for Science in the Public Interest; 1998. http://www.cspinet.org/reports/coindex.html.
- Aldrich L. Consumer Use of Information: Implications for Food Policy. Washington (DC): United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service-USDA; 1999: http://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/ ah715/.

141

- 16. Zarkin GA, Dean N, Mauskopf JA, Williams R. Potential health benefits of nutritional label changes. Am J Pub Health 1993;83:717-24.
- 17. SLV. 90/496/EEG, SLVFS 1993:21 Livsmedelsverkets föreskrifter om näringsvärdesdeklarationer.
- 18. SLV. Förslaget om Nyckelhålet sänt till EU-kommissionen. Livsmedelsverkets föreskrifter om användning av viss symbol. www.livsmedelsverket.se.
- 19. Svederberg E, Asp N-G, Laser Reuterswärd A, Svensson L. Läser och förstår konsumenter texter och symbolmärkning om näring och hälsa på livsmedelsförpackningar? Pedagogiska rapporter nr 78, 2002.
- 20. Larsson I, Lissner L, Wilhelmsen L. The 'Green Keyhole' revisited: nutritional knowledge may influence food selection. Eur J Clin Nutr 1999 53:776-80.
- 21. 1983 års livsmedelskommitté: Rapport från expertgruppen för kost och hälsofrågor. Ds Jo 1984:9. Jordbruksdepartementet.
- 22. WHO. Global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. Geneva: WHO; 2004. Endorsed by resolution WHA57.17.
- 23. Ministère de l'emploi et de la solidarité, Ministère délégué à la santé. National Nutritional-Health Programme 2001–2005. République Francaise.
- 24. Ministry of Health. Healthy eating healthy action: Oranga Kai Oranga Pumai Implementation plan: 2004–2010. Wellington (NZ): Ministry of health; 2004. www.moh.govt.nz.
- 25. Becker W. Befolkningens kostvanor och näringsintag i Sverige 1989. Metod- och resultatanalys. Uppsala: Livsmedelsverket; 1994.
- 26. Becker W, Pearson M. Riksmaten 1997/98. Kostvanor och näringsintag i Sverige. Metod- och resultatanalys. Uppsala: Livsmedelsverket; 2002.
- 27. Callmer E. Hälsoinformation om mat i Sverige. Behov, kartläggning och visioner. På uppdrag av Statens Folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. (opublicerad)
- Yrkesföreningar för fysisk aktivitet. FYSS Fysisk aktivitet i sjukdomsprevention och sjukdomsbehandling. Stockholm: Statens Folkhälsoinstitut; 2003. Rapport nr 2003:44.
- 29. www.keymeal.com.
- 30. www.meny.se.
- 31. Byström M, Neely G, Landström U, Lennernäs M. Måltidens inverkan på vakenhet och prestation. Arbetslivsinstitutet; 2002. Arbetslivsrapport 2002:10.
- Roos E, Sarlio-Lähteenkorva S, Lallukka T. Having lunch at a staff canteen is associated with recommended food habits. Public Health Nutrition 2004;7(1):53-61.
- 33. Källestål C (red), Bjurvald M, Menckel E, Schaerström A, Schelp L, Unge C. Hälsofrämjande arbete på arbetsplatser. Effekter av interventioner refererade i systematiska kunskapsöversikter och i svenska rapporter. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. R 2004:32.
- 34. Friedl A, Callmer E. Dagens rätt i Sverige. Stockholms läns landsting, Samhällsmedicin, Centrum för Tillämpad näringslära; 2002. Rapport 22.
- 35. Münter D. Effekten af firmafrugt oger tilbud om gratis frugt på arbejdspladsen det samlede forbrug af frugt blandt medarbejderne? Forskningsinstitut for human ernæring. Den Kgl. Veteriner- og Landhöjskole, Danmark, 2002.
- 36. Friedl A, Bonnevier H, Callmer E. Skolluncher i Stockholms l\u00e4n f\u00f6re och efter introduktion av Riktlinjer f\u00f6r skolluncher. Centrum f\u00f6r till\u00e4mpad n\u00e4ringsl\u00e4ra, Samh\u00e4llsmedicin, Stockholms l\u00e4ns lans landsting; 2005. Rapport 35.
- 37. SLL, Centrum för tillämpad näringslära. Jälminger A-K, Marmur A, Callmer E. "Min Matdagbok" – en matvaneundersökning bland barn i årskurs tre från områden med olika socioekonomiska förhållanden i Stockholms län. Samhällsmedicin, Stockholms Läns Landsting; 2003. Rapport nr 27. www.sll.se.
- Ulmander M. Mellanmål vanor och attityder bland barn i årskurs 5. Examensarbete D 10p. Uppsala: Institutionen för Hushållsvetenskap, Uppsala universitet; 2002.
- 39. Sveriges Tandläkarförbund. Kartläggning av läsk- och godisförsäljning på skolorna 2004. www.tandlakarforbundet.se.
- 40. Jacobsson T. Rapport: Mellanmål i skolan. Ett pilotprojekt med mellanmålsförsök i grund- och gymnasieskolan. Svenska Storhushåll; 2004.

Environmental policy

The general aim of environmental policy is to be able to pass on to the next generation a society in which the most urgent environmental problems have been resolved. Fifteen environmental quality objectives, approved by Parliament in 1999, stipulate what should be achieved in a generational perspective and concern areas such as climate, the sea, land and water. The environment is an important aspect of the Government's policy for sustainable development. Environmental policy includes issues related to nature conservation in which outdoor recreation issues are increasingly highlighted.

Nature conservation, outdoor recreation, physical activity and health are closely connected. Outdoor recreation includes adventure and enjoyment and is a sort of 'consumption' which increases the welfare and well-being of the population while at the same time stimulating better environmental awareness. The natural environment also has considerable significance for mental health and stimulates creative processes (1-2).

Outdoor recreation can be defined as: Time spent and physical activity outdoors during leisure for the purpose of recreation, experience of the natural environment, social stimulus and education without the demand to perform or compete (3). Outdoor recreation activities in natural environments and gardens are very important for public health especially among older people (4). Outdoor recreation has the potential to attract new groups, in other words, those who currently lead sedentary lifestyles and such recreation has also proven positive in involving the disabled and older people as well as in the practical application of integration policies.

Measure 49

The National Council for Outdoor Recreation should be given further scope to assist the Environmental Protection Agency in developing access to outdoor recreation, to advise agencies and others on such issues and to strengthen its own research expertise.

Actor: Government

Motivation

The National Council for Outdoor Recreation is a group comprising authorities and national organisations and it was appointed by the Government in 2003 under the Environmental Protection Agency with the aim of enhancing outdoor recreation issues until 2005. Authorities included in the Council other than the Environmental Protection Agency are the National Heritage Board, the National Institute of Public Health, the Swedish Tourist Authority, the County Administrative Board of Östergötland, the National Geotechnical Institute (SGI) and the Swedish Defence Research Agency (FOI). The Council should assist and cooperate with authorities, researchers and organisations working in various ways with outdoor recreation. In 2004, EUR 1,6 million was distributed among the outdoor recreation organisations in the country. In addition, the Environmental Protection Agency distributes financial resources to the county administrative boards for ensuring the conservation and accessibility of

protected natural areas. Around one third of these measures are related to outdoor recreation.

According to the government ordinance (SFS 2003:134), the Council for Outdoor Recreation is commissioned to decide on the distribution of state grants to outdoor recreation organisations in such a way as to: 1) promote information and education for outdoor recreation, 2) promote the coordination of different activities conducted by the authorities related to outdoor recreation and 3) stimulate developmental work and the creation of networks related to outdoor recreation with reference to relevant research.

The Council, in conjunction with the many outdoor recreation organisations, should in different ways enhance and develop outdoor recreation and coordinate outdoor recreation issues, nature conservation and health promotion measures. The Council believes it is important to invest in activities that can develop new forms for outdoor recreation on the basis of the societal developments and needs . Priority projects include those which have clear public health aspects, are targeted at children, young people and immigrants, or the development of outdoor recreation in the vicinity of urban areas (5). The Council therefore has an important coordinating and developmental function regarding outdoor recreation issues and should continue its work after 2005 and strengthen its research competence.

Measure 50

Non-governmental outdoor recreation organisations should, similarly to the sports movement, be given increased economic funding to encourage more people to become physically active. Particular efforts should be made to encourage children and young people, people with immigrant backgrounds, the elderly, the unemployed and the chronically ill to be more physically active outdoors. The National Council for Outdoor Recreation should be responsible for distributing and evaluating such funding.

Actor: Government

Motivation

A lifestyle based on interacting with the natural environment which is established early in life and maintained during adulthood is health-promoting both in terms of physical activity, experiences, a sense of coherence and of exerting personal control as well as a healthier life. As stress and the incidence of burn-out increase and a sedentary lifestyle and obesity become greater social problems, insight grows into how important outdoor recreation is for public health. Public health research has shown that interventions to increase physical activity among the population are effective if aimed at creating a supportive physical environment (6-7). Interventions focusing on social support in local communities such as through club activities, are most successful especially if activities are chosen that are not dependent on facilities, such as walking (8). Club-based outdoor recreation unites these success factors in one and the same concept and should therefore be promoted. Outdoor recreation can take place all year round in areas of wilderness, forest, gardens, allotments, parks and playgrounds. Outdoor recreation can be exercised individually, in organised groups, voluntarily and commercially. It should be stimulated in the home, at school and within clubs and associations and it brings knowledge and awareness of the natural environment. People's need for natural and cultural experiences, recreation and a sense of being close to nature is part of the social dimension of sustainable development.

According to a press release from the Ministry of the Environment on 27 December 2004, a further EUR 1,1 million will be allocated to outdoor recreation organisations in 2005. In total support will amount to EUR 2,6 million in 2005, which is a positive development. Funding creates good opportunities for even more people to develop a lifelong interest in outdoor recreation and nature protection. The Government believes that an interest in outdoor recreation has to be given more weight than previously. Continued funding at least at this level is necessary to reinforce activities and maintain interest among new groups.

Measure 51

Outdoor recreation should be actively encouraged to attract new groups and hence reduce inactivity. County administrative boards should be actively involved and be given extra resources for this.

Actor: County administrative boards

Cost: EUR 2,2 million per year

Motivation

At the regional level the county administrative boards have the general responsibility for regional nature and culture conservation work including regional objectives and follow-up work. The county boards have the role of coordinating and acting as the driving force behind municipalities in the county and should take new initiatives to stimulate and encourage municipal public health activities for increased physical activity.

Nature guides can increase opportunities for attracting new groups to experience the natural environment, to reduce inactivity and increase physical activity. Nature guides, according to the Nordic report Nature Guides in the Nordic Region, should 'convey a feeling for and knowledge about nature' (9) and aim to 'increase understanding of basic ecological and cultural contexts and the role of mankind in the natural environment' and 'contribute to mutual understanding between those who make a living from the natural environment and the general public as well as various recreational users'. Nature guidance can be presented orally, via exhibitions, self-guided footpaths, slide shows, drama performances etc. It could be presented at schools, by commercial tourist companies, by supervisory personnel and voluntary associations for example. The Government intends to involve the county administrative boards more actively in public health efforts in the future and further resources for this purpose would be in line with this intention.

Nature guides have a long and strong tradition in Denmark and were pointed out as a good example in the government document on nature conservation policy (10). Professional nature guides in the service of tourism can improve the quality of various tourist products, reduce the negative effects of tourism on the environment and lead to the tourist returning home with a greater environmental awareness after his/her visit. In the Nordic region, Denmark is a role model with state employed nature guides in every county. The training of guides and guiding activities are provided today at most levels and within different school forms, open-access colleges and labour market training programmes.

Tourist organisations also arrange local and regional courses for their guides. Nature guides could also be used to a greater extent in school outdoor recreation activities.

Umeå University offers a 4-year programme for natural science teachers focusing on outdoor recreation, health promotion and nature guiding (11). Professionals in this field need specialist competence to be able to work with groups and individuals who have a sedentary lifestyle, people with various types of disability, elderly people and immigrants etc. Guides should also have documented knowledge and be familiar with methods within and outside school related to lifestyle issues both from a psycho-social, a physiological and a gender perspective.

Measure 52

A health impact assessment should be included as a criterion when allocating funding to the Government's local nature conservation programmes. The projects should be evaluated from a public health perspective.

Actor: Government

Motivation

To ensure that all groups in society benefit from programmes for nature conservation at municipal level, a health impact assessment should be included as a criterion for allocating funding. It is important that the project is also evaluated from a public health perspective, thereby increasing awareness of the link between outdoor recreation, physical activity and health.

Public nature conservation is a shared responsibility between the state and the municipality. The municipalities have greater and enhanced opportunities, since the Environmental Code came into force, to apply decisions on area conservation. Municipalities also have a key role to play through responsibility for physical planning in planning and building legislation, to ensure that planning promotes the fulfilment of environmental quality targets (10).

A basic element in nature conservation is to maintain good conditions for outdoor recreation and rich experiences of the natural environment in Sweden (10). There is a clear link between proximity to parks, green areas, lakes and forests and the degree of

physical activity (12). If the distance to a park is further than about one kilometre, the likelihood of the park being used regularly is reduced. Ensuring that there are positive conditions for outdoor recreation is a relatively inexpensive way to create societal prerequisites for physical activity and is important for those who are not primarily interested in sport and exercise. The link between environmental policy and public health policy becomes much clearer in this context. For this to be feasible, there must be an area reserved with good qualities for outdoor recreation, administered and developed for this purpose. Nature conservation measures of greatest importance for outdoor recreation include the establishment of nature reserves for recreation purposes, the protection of lakeside and stretches of coast, the protection of landscapes and control of technical exploitation destructive to natural values.

The experience of nature and outdoor recreation and a rich and varied natural landscape is part of welfare for all. The Government has approved investments in local and municipal nature conservation in a programme for 2004/06 amounting to EUR 32 million (13). The basic idea is that the programme should contribute to increased participation and enable more rewarding outdoor recreation in which everyone can take part. The grant amounts to 50 per cent of the costs at most, of the project. The grant can be applied for by municipalities but voluntary organisations and landowners may also benefit. Examples of investments include municipal nature conservation programmes, recreation-directed nature conservation, information and training about outdoor recreation and the build-up of competence. 177 municipalities applied for grants in 2004 for 508 projects which incorporated 1,837 measures at a total of EUR 14 million in state funding. The greater part is for information measures followed by nature conservation projects. The majority of the measures refer to the environmental objectives aimed at promoting outdoor recreation, namely a good urban environment, living forests, rich cultivated landscape and teeming lakes and watercourses.

Measure 53

As a foundation for their overall plans, municipalities should develop nature conservation programmes, e.g. with the aim of preserving and developing outdoor recreation and the scope for physical activity. Health impact assessments should be carried out in parallel with, or as part of, the environmental impact assessments of planned projects.

Actor: Municipalities

Motivation

Municipal general planning is by nature forward looking, intersectoral and holistic in perspective. It is a tool for preventing environmental problems and for assessing the pros and cons between different types of land use, including the need for access to areas for outdoor recreation. The Government believes it is important that outdoor recreation issues, in the same way as environmental issues, are dealt with professionally and with competence. Planning for outdoor recreation should have the explicit purpose of focusing on people's needs and experiences which underlines its significance in health

promotion. Public health aspects have to be reinforced in current compulsory environmental impact assessments to ensure access for all groups in society.

The studies conducted by Statistics Sweden show that the acreage of green areas has successively decreased in all size categories of urban centres between 1980 and 2000, most in larger urban areas (14). This decrease has occurred as the proportion of built-up surface has increased. The studies take into account both the densification and expansion of urban areas on the outskirts of suburbs. Statistics Sweden argues that this trend should be interrupted if Sweden is to achieve the environmental objectives passed in Parliament. Therefore, there is a need to develop methods for taking into account accessibility to and quality of green areas for outdoor recreation in and around urban areas. The Swedish Child Safety Authority writes in its final report that the studies conducted by Statistics Sweden demonstrate that an increasing number of people have to share an increasingly shrinking area of green area to lie within at most one kilometre from their homes, in other words within walking distance. Green areas in the form of parks and gardens, areas of water or watercourses, can have considerable significance from the perspective of nature conservation and public health.

In an attempt to change the direction of development to achieve the objective for a good urban environment, the Government proposes in the document 'A collective policy for nature conservation' (10) that municipal nature conservation programmes should be able to provide suitable material in the general landscape plan to preserve open green spaces and water in and around urban areas. Information material is often produced in conjunction with nature conservation programmes, describing the natural environment in the municipality and this could be greatly appreciated by outdoor recreation organisations. The process of developing general landscape plans and nature conservation programmes could provide an excellent forum for reinforcing the dialogue with citizens in a way conducive to enhancing democracy and participation in municipalities.

One example of how municipalities can establish nature conservation through participation among the population is demonstrated by the City of Stockholm which is conducting a project describing the social value of locations (15). Questionnaires and interviews with people provide the data on qualities different green areas and public spaces have for the inhabitants – including children, young people and adults. It might be a site for downhill sledding, for peace and quiet or for meeting people. These values are then entered on maps and become important material for planning and are potentially part of the implementation of health impact assessments.

References

- 1. Ottosson J, Grahn P. Utemiljöns betydelse för äldre med stort vårdbehov. "Med ögon känsliga för grönt." Alnarp; 1998. Stad & Land 155:1998.
- 2. Ottosson J. Naturens betydelse i en livskris. Stockholm: Movium; 1997. Stad & Land 148:1997.
- Kulturdepartementet. Remissvar. Statens stöd till friluftsliv och främjandeorganisationer (Ds 1999:78). Stockholm: Ekonomistyrningsverket, ESV; 31 maj 2000.
- 4. Norling I, Larsson E-L. Ett gott och friskare liv som äldre. En kunskapssammanställning. Göteborgs botaniska trädgård; 2004.
- 5. Birgitta Boström. Förnyat friluftsliv kan förbättra folkhälsan. Miljöaktuellt december 2003. http://www.naturvardsverket.se/dokument/friluft/friluftsrad/ df/Maktart.pdf
- Kahn EB, Ramsey LT, Brownson RC, Heath GW, Howze EH, Powell KE, et al. The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activity. A systematic review. Am J Prev Med 2002;22(4 Suppl):73-107.
- 7. Sallis JF, Bauman A, Pratt M. Environmental and policy interventions to promote physical activity. Am J Prev Med 1998;15:379-97.
- Hillsdon M, Foster C, Naidoo B, Crombie H. The effectiveness of public health interventions for increasing physical activity among adults: a review of reviews. London: Health Development Agency, NHS; 2004 Feb. Evidence briefing 1st edition.
- 9. Naturvårdsverket. Naturum i Sverige: nationella riktlinjer. Stockholm: Naturvårdsverket; juni 2004. Rapport 5376.
- 10. Regeringens Skr. 2001/02:173 En samlad naturvårdspolitik.
- 11. http://www.ovik.umu.se/utbildning/NO-larare.pdf.
- 12. Nationella folkhälsokommittén. Miljöfaktorer: Rapport från arbetsgruppen Miljöfaktorer till Nationella folkhälsokommittén. 1999. Underlagsrapport nr 5.
- 13. Naturvårdsverket. Satsning på lokal och kommunal naturvård. Stockholm: Naturvårdsverket. www.naturvardsverket.se.
- 14. SCB. Grönytor och deras tillgänglighet kring de 10 största tätorterna. Statistiska centralbyrån; 1994. Statistiska meddelanden Na 12 SM 9401.
- 15. Stockholms stadsbyggnadskontor. Sociotopkarta för parker och andra friytor i Stockholms innerstad – om metoden, dialogen och resultatet. januari 2002.

Tax policy

The aim of this policy area is to safeguard revenue from tax, customs excise and other contributions in a legally secure and economically efficient fashion whilst striving for simplicity and counteracting criminality. A wide number of products and services are currently subject to tax (VAT and excise duty) in Sweden. There are three rates of VAT with 25 per cent being the normal rate. VAT on food, food additives and antiquities is levied at 12 per cent. Due to EU regulations, VAT cannot be removed completely but it could be reduced to 6 per cent on some foodstuffs. Such a reduction would have only a very modest effect on the price of e.g. fruit and vegetables. Excise duty is currently levied on tobacco, alcohol, energy, road tolls for lorries, vehicles and advertising. According to economic welfare theory, it is rational to tax the consumption of products that lead to negative externalities (1) such as medical care costs and costs due to loss of production caused by obesity, diabetes, tobacco, alcohol, etc. Correspondingly, there is also an argument for subsidising products that have positive externalities in the form of e.g. health benefits.

Measure 54

An enquiry should investigate the potential for reducing consumption of chocolate, confectionery and soft drinks using taxation or other economic instruments, and the scope for reducing fat and sugar intake in general through taxation.

Actor: Government

Motivation

According to WHO, there is convincing evidence that high consumption of energydense food products (including confectionery and chocolate) and soft drinks is related to an increased risk of overweight and obesity (2). Evidence has been reinforced during the past year of the causal link between soft drinks, diabetes and obesity (3). There are also studies demonstrating that interventions to reduce soft drink consumption among schoolchildren can reduce the occurrence of obesity (4). The dental health of children and young people is beginning to deteriorate due to increased intake of soft drinks and sweets, causing dentists to react.

WHO in its global strategy mentions the potential use of economic instruments in order to influence dietary habits in a more favourable direction (5). A pan-European study illustrated that price is the most significant factor in the choice of food after quality and freshness (6).

A selective purchase tax, sometimes called a luxury item tax, on sugar confectionery, chocolate, sweet biscuits, cakes and pastries and dessert wafers along with sugar-free confectionery as well as on imports was levied in Sweden until January 1, 1993 (SFS 1994:1564).

Selective taxation of soft drinks and/or sweets is levied today in other countries. These include 19 states and cities in the United States, a number of provinces in Canada and in Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Holland and Norway. The reason for the levy in these countries is not primarily for health reasons and in some cases the tax is so low that demand is not notably affected. In Denmark and Norway, the tax on soft drinks is the highest in Europe (around EUR 0.2 per litre) and here changes in domestic sales occur when tax rates change (7). In several countries throughout the world (US, UK, Australia), taxation of unhealthy food products is under discussion at the top political level.

Selective taxation of soft drinks, confectionery and chocolate would have a beneficial effect on consumption from a health perspective. Price elasticity for chocolate, confectionery and soft drinks has been estimated in different studies at between - 0.3 to -1.0, which is in the same size range as for tobacco, beer and wine. An increase in the price of soft drinks by EUR 0.2 per litre (22 per cent), equivalent to the Danish and Norwegian taxation levels, would reduce consumption by between 7 and 22 per cent.

A tax on chocolate and sweets equivalent to Danish levels would increase the price by around 20 per cent and reduce consumption by around 6 per cent. The introduction of a selective purchase tax would represent a very strong indication from the Government

of the importance of this issue, which would probably contribute to increased awareness of the significance of these food products for health. This may in itself have the effect of reducing consumption.

A Danish study examined the feasibility of VAT differentiation as an instrument of nutrition policy using an econometric method (economic/mathematical model study) (8). The conclusion was that it is theoretically possible to influence dietary habits using price differentiation. The effects vary for different food products and for different social groups. Dietary habits would be improved most among households with lower incomes and among families with children. A Norwegian econometric study of what the impact of raising VAT on soft drinks by 12 per cent and doubling the selective tax would be on sales concluded that the pricing instrument would be especially effective in groups with the highest consumption (9).

The OECD has conducted a systematic review concerning the cost effectiveness of different interventions to prevent or treat overweight and obesity (10). It is concluded that only a few practical studies have been conducted into specific subsidies or taxation of food products as a strategy for influencing consumption in a more healthy direction to prevent overweight. The studies available were performed in controlled environments such as schools and workplaces and not on a national level. They do, however, demonstrate positive effects and price elasticity of between -1 and -2 for the food products tested in these environments. The OECD report concludes that more studies are needed in other countries to be able to generalise these small-scale American investigations. Research is especially needed into the effects of price interventions at national level and how these might affect consumption and overweight.

Meanwhile, problems exist in the introduction of a selective tax. Higher prices in Sweden compared with our neighbouring countries such as the Baltic States, Finland and Germany might contribute to increased import of these products rather than a decrease in consumption. Categorisation issues will arise concerning what is classified as confectionery, chocolate and soft drinks. A tax on chocolate wafers, for example, but not on chocolate biscuits, or on soft drinks but not on lemonade, might send out incorrect signals that certain products are unhealthier than others although the nutritional value may be identical. Moreover, the industry and retail trade might eliminate the effects of a selective tax through increasing marketing or through various sales support measures to affect the end price of a product.

A study would be able to examine the advantages and disadvantages of selective taxation while also considering other significant issues. How large should a selective tax be to have an impact on consumption, contribute to the real price difference for consumers, and not result in unacceptably widespread border trade? How would the border trade be affected at different price levels? How does the pricing of soft drinks vary today based on volume per unit, place of sale etc? What conclusions can be drawn from this in relation to consumption? What are the long-term effects of a selective tax, in other words, for how long does the consumer experience that a price rise has taken place? Should taxation be on raw materials (sugar and fat) or on the food product and what demarcation problems are there in relation to different alternatives? Do other food products exist than those mentioned that should be taxed? What other economic policy instruments are available that could decrease consumption? What can feasibly be done nationally relative to at EU level?

At a seminar in Lund in September 2004, it became evident that the taxation issue is complex and uncertainty considerable concerning the potential effects on sales and consumption. There is virtually a complete absence of Swedish data. All in all, we conclude that the issue of selective taxation should be subject to an interdisciplinary enquiry to assess what health effects can feasibly be achieved.

Measure 55

A European conference should be convened on the scope for tax policy measures within the area of diet and health.

Actor: Government

Cost: EUR 110, 00

Motivation

Top-level discussions concerning tax policy measures to influence the consumption of food products are underway in several countries as well as at WHO and OECD. Considering the significance of this issue in principle and that the relevant expertise exists to a great extent in other countries, it is proposed that Sweden take the initiative to convene a European conference inviting experts and politicians from other Nordic countries, the EU and countries where the issue is topical. Such a conference should devote adequate time to the presentation and analysis of current experiences from other countries regarding taxation and food products as well as usable data from associated areas, primarily taxation of alcohol and tobacco. Other topic areas include legal and tax policy aspects in an EU perspective and the feasibility of coordinating measures. A third area is the demarcation and definition of the products and products areas that would be relevant.

Measure 56

The scope for tax-subsidised keyhole-labelled meals should be investigated. Such an investigation should also determine the prerequisites for a satisfactory level of supervision of the keyhole label, perhaps via an autonomous certification system.

Actor: Government

Motivation

Lunch is important to our health for many reasons in both the short and long term. This meal often provides about one third of the day's energy and nutrient intake and the quality of a lunch often makes a considerable contribution to the total quality of the diet. In the short term this meal is significant for performance at work since hunger, satisfaction and the composition of food affects how alert we feel, along with our reaction and concentration capacities (11).

At the same time as the tempo of working life increases, lunch break time is cut and many personnel canteens are closing down while fast food consumption is increasing (12). Half of those asked in a recent study took a 30 minute lunch break at most. In the survey, the cost was given as the single most common reason for not going out to eat lunch. Employers could sell meal coupons at 50 or 30 per cent of the market price to their employees without incurring any form of benefits taxation (compare earlier conditions for national luncheon vouchers).

Today it is technically possible to work with special subsidies where these are directed towards specific dishes, restaurants and/or time of day. This means that such a system could also be applicable for those who work shifts or others with irregular working hours. It is now possible to issue personal vouchers in the form of a smart card for improved monitoring of use. This type of card could also be used in other contexts such as for adult students, in labour market programmes and so on.

Since the food currently served at lunch restaurants and canteens is often too energy-dense to be healthy, it would be necessary that a tax free subsidy for lunches is only applicable for keyhole-labelled meals. The National Food Administration plans to review the criteria for and monitoring of keyhole labelling of meals and buffets at restaurants and cafeterias in 2005. Keyhole labelling could therefore act as a criterion for the meals covered by tax subsidies. The system would generally be capable of increasing the supply of good meals in the form of keyhole-labelled lunches considerably. Introduction demands education of the relevant personnel which it itself would have a beneficial effect on the general supply.

Studies in the USA from the beginning of the 1990s have demonstrated that health information at workplaces in combination with an improvement in the food available at lunch canteens/cafeterias can result in small reductions in fat intake (13). More recent American studies have shown that changes in the price level of healthy and of unhealthy food at schools and workplaces have a rather large impact on sales (14). On the other hand, there are no studies measuring the effect of changes in terms of body weight.

A significant problem these days is the feasibility of monitoring that subsidies are only used for dishes with nutritional quality and that keyhole labelling actually works. It is unlikely that official food control can take on responsibility for such monitoring and it would probably be achieved through some kind of certification which would mean personnel training and regular inspection. KRAV (the Swedish association responsible for certification of organic food) organisation and labelling of organic products might be an example here. An investigation should include observation of how a tax subsidy of this kind might disadvantage certain socio-economic groups. The investigation could also examine whether the demand for organic food would be feasible for inclusion as a criteria.

A prerequisite for such an extensive measure is that the meals for which subsidies are available can be relatively easily characterised. The Swedish system of keyhole labelling is unique. If public food control could also monitor nutritional aspects this might be something even more unique. This also means that no data is available to document the effectiveness of this measure.

References

- 1. Johansson P-O. An introduction to modern welfare economics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2001.
- 2. WHO. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser 916.
- Schulze MB, Manson JE, Ludwig DS, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, et al. Sugar-sweetened beverages, weight gain, and incidence of type 2 diabetes in young and middle-aged women. JAMA 2004;292:927-34.
- James J, Thomas P, Cavan D, Kerr D. Primary care: Preventing childhood obesity by reducing consumption of carbonated drinks: cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2004;328:1-6.
- 5. WHO. Global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 May. WHA57 17, 22.
- Lennernäs M, Fjellström C, Becker W, Giachetti I, Schmitt A, Remaut de Winter AM, et al. Influences on food choice perceived to be important by nationallyrepresentative samples of adults in the European Union. Eur J Clin Nutr 1997;51(Suppl 2):8-15.
- 7. Danska Skatteministeriet. Rapport om gränsehandel 2001, kap 12. Mineralvandsafgift. Danska Skatteministeriet; 2001. www.skat.dk.
- Smed S, Denver S. Fødevare efter spørgsel på tværs. Sundhed og ernæring: er momsdifferentiering en farbar vej? København: Fødevareøkonomisk Institut, den Kgl. Veterinær- og landbohøjskole, FØI; 2004. Working Paper 08/2004.
- 9. Gustavsen GW. Essays on food demand analysis. Norges Landbrukshøgskole; 2004. Doctor scientiarum thesis 2004:18.
- OECD, red. Cost-effectiveness of interventions to prevent or treat obesity and type 2 diabetes. A preliminary review of the literature in OECD countries. Workshop on the economics of prevention, 15 October 2004. Ad Hoc Group on the OECD Health Project. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development; 2004.
- 11. Byström M, Neely G, Landström U, Lennernäs M. Måltidens inverkan på vakenhet och prestation. Arbetslivsinstitutet; 2002. Arbetslivsrapport 10.
- 12. Ström M. Undersökning av lunchbeteende hos yrkesverksamma. Beställt av Lunchfrämjandet. LUI. Rapport 2003-10-28.
- Roe L, Hunt P, Brandshaw H, Rayner M. Health promotion interventions to promote healthy eating in the general population: a review. England: Health Development Agency; 1997. 0752108271.
- 14. French SA, Story M, Jeffery RW. Environmental influences on eating and physical activity. Annu Rev Public Health 2001;22:309-35.

Transport policy

Transport policy is an important area for public health in general and for physical activity in particular. The transport policy objectives emphasise that all means of transport should be accessible and secure for all groups of the population and especially highlights the needs of weaker transport users such as children, the disabled and the elderly. One transport policy objective concerns gender equality in the transport system and in the planning of the transport system, the design and administration and that the values of both men and women should be accorded equal weighting. Transport policy is of great importance for sustainable development which is expressed in terms of increasing active (walking and cycling) and collective transport. Transport policy is also being regarded in public health policy. One indicator for physical activity is proposed as 'the number of people walking and cycling compared with total passenger transport'.

Several countries have recently identified transport policy as a key area for encouraging and enabling people to become more physically active in their daily routines, especially those who have sedentary lifestyles. More active transport and less motorised traffic would also contribute to sustainable development.

Measure 57

The National Cycle Strategy should be expanded and implemented. Cycling should be included in the National Road Database to allow resource inputs to be evaluated. Planning of public roads should include a good infrastructure for safe cycle ways and footpaths. Decisions should be based on social impact assessments. A manual/handbook should be produced to reinforce assessment of the economic benefits for society of investments in the local cycling infrastructure.

Actor: The Swedish Road Administration

Cost: EUR 220, 000 (for the road database)

Motivation

Physical activity as a means of transport (active transport) has considerable potential and constitutes a time-efficient form of exercise, for example, walking and cycling (1-2). Walking and cycling are activities that everyone has access to independent of social class, age and level of education (3), and are clearly the most common forms of activity. Around 60 per cent of Swedes report that they walk and 40 per cent report that they cycle regularly (3-4). Measures ensuring a sound and secure infrastructure for walking and cycling should also be seen from an equality perspective since women walk, cycle and use public transport more than men in everyday life (5-6). There is considerable potential for increasing active transport for the journeys adults make to and from work and for children to and from school and between recreation activities since a large proportion comprise shorter journeys. Almost 45 per cent of the work force has a travel time of 10 minutes or less to work, although the variation is large between different parts of the country (6). Around half of all car trips and 30 per cent of all journeys to

157

work are less than 5 kilometres. The National Road Administration calculates that 10-48 per cent of these trips could be made by bicycle.

According to the Government, journeys by foot or bicycle have remained largely unchanged during the last 20 years at the same time as car travel has increased by around 50 per cent (7). The National Road Administration estimates that walking and cycling will decrease by 4 per cent by 2010 while car travel is expected to increase by 29 per cent during the same period (8). The latest statistics from the National Road Administration indicate that total cycling has decreased from around 2.0 billion kilometres to around 1.7. Walking has increased from around 2.5 kilometres to around 3.2. Car travel has increased from around 81 billion kilometres to around 90 between 1999 and 2003 (9). More and safer cycle transport calls for multifaceted measures to improve traffic safety, accessibility and security within the existing cycleway network.

In an effort to promote active transport, the Road Administration initiated a national cycle strategy (4) with the aim of increasing the proportion of journeys by cycle and making cycling safer. A number of measures were proposed including the building of more cycle ways separate from motorised transport, better infrastructure with wider cycle paths and information signs for cyclists, and better locking facilities and cycle parking at relevant destination points. Increased use of cycle helmets with legislation for children and young people, along with the introduction of speed reductions and a speed limit of 30 kilometres per hour for car drivers on some roads were presented as important measures to facilitate more cycling. A follow-up in 2003 (10) indicated that the national cycle strategy lacked 'organisational backbone' at the Road Administration and therefore had not been implemented in full. An evaluation suggested a number of new measures and the introduction of a cycle coordinator at the Road Administration. The cycle coordinator should produce an annual report to provide background material for decisions regarding future activities. This project has to be provided with the necessary economic resources. We find these measures to be extremely important.

To follow up the cycle strategy it is important that the cycle infrastructure is incorporated into the National Road Database (11). The National Institute for Communication Analysis, SIKA, states that information and statistics at regional and national levels concerning the quality and standard of footpaths and cycle ways are scarce which makes follow-up towards improving the existing infrastructure for active transport much more difficult (6). Both national and municipal investments in the cycle infrastructure should be reported to allow the extent of the infrastructure to be estimated. This should also include resources for administration and maintenance. All this should be reported in such a way as to facilitate the assessment of resource allocation and future planning. A study commissioned by the Road Administration (11) identified a number of cycle way properties relevant for the National Road Database including the existence of cycle ways, the degree of separation from motorised traffic, the volume of traffic, the condition of the cycling surface, signal regulation and crossings.

Social impact assessment means that accessibility for all groups of users should be analysed. Special consideration should be taken to vulnerable groups in traffic such as children, the elderly and people with physical and mental disabilities. The National Road Administration, in cooperation with the Institute of Public Health and the Swedish Association of Municipalities, should produce a manual/handbook to strengthen the analysis of cost-benefits of investments in the cycle infrastructure at local level. This would motivate municipalities to increase their efforts to improve the local cycling infrastructure. Two Nordic research reports conclude that investment in infrastructure for increased and safer cycling is cost-effective. A Norwegian report has calculated that the societal economic gain from cycling to around EUR 2.5 per person per day. The economic gain arising from the health benefits expected from the change from inactivity to moderate physical activity amounts to EUR 930 per person per year (12). In the report the societal gain from increased cycling is estimated to be 4-5 times higher than the investment costs for cycle ways which makes it more profitable than other investments in transportation. A Swedish report on the health and societal benefits of cycling and investments in cycling has been produced on the initiative of the Nature Protection Agency, the Road Administration and the Council of Nordic Ministers (13). The report indicates that it is possible to develop methods for cost-benefit analysis concerning cycling. The report states that extensive investments in cycling can generate considerable societal benefits and improvements in comfort and security, especially if consideration is taken of the cost of such a programme being moderate in relation to other infrastructure measures. The report concludes that investments in the cycling infrastructure most likely are justified from a societal perspective.

To realise the full health potential of cycling, it is important that the use of cycle helmets is encouraged.

Measure 58

Measures for pedestrians and cycle traffic should be included in county transport plans and contain social impact assessments.

Actors: County administrative boards in conjunction with municipalities and voluntary organisations

Motivation

The county or region is responsible for regional transport plans. There is considerable variation in investments in pedestrian and cycle traffic in the county transport plans where some counties aim to invest in active transport and thereby in increased physical activity. Many county transport plans, on the other hand, lack detailed information on how this issue should be addressed (14). To be able to assess the benefits of investments in pedestrian and cycle paths, the needs in the municipality and county have to be listed and included in the county transport plans. Kågeson (14) states that the proposals for county or municipal plans vary so much in quality that the Government should consider providing clearer and more binding instructions, in relation for instance to reporting and presenting more details of resources for investments into pedestrian and cycle paths, and the extent to which work will lead to the fulfilment of transport policy objectives for increased pedestrian and cycle traffic. The plan proposals from, for example, the

159

counties of Gotland, Skåne and Halland illustrate that it is possible to report investments to enable follow-up and evaluation of cycle and pedestrian investments to be made.

Measure 59

A state programme for co-funding infrastructure for walking and cycling should be established.

Actor: Government

Cost: EUR 11 million per year

Motivation

The Government states that cooperation between state agencies, municipalities and voluntary organisations regarding the infrastructure for footpaths and cycle ways should be developed and intensified (7). According to the Government's bill, one option is to provide a state grant to facilitate what is known as 50/50 funding, in which many municipalities have expressed interest. The National Road Administration reports that via a state grant municipal road providers could be stimulated to build more footpaths and cycle ways (4). The state currently invests EUR 6.3 - 7.4 million each year in cycle ways which many believe is insufficient to achieve the targets set (14-15). Kågeson believes that in order to break the negative trend for cycling, measures for increased pedestrian and cycle traffic will have to be provided with more investment funding than the current proportion of investments in road traffic. At least 4 -5 per cent of state funding for 2004-2015 should be allocated to pedestrian and cycle measures according to Kågeson (14). This is equivalent to EUR 0.36 - 0.43 billion in total. Depending on local needs, 8-10 per cent of the regional frameworks should be allocated for pedestrian and cycle way investments.

Investment costs for creating a pedestrian and cycling network with high demands on safety and accessibility for all towns in Sweden with more than 20,000 inhabitants is estimated at a total of just over EUR 1.1 billion according to SIKA (15).

Measure 60

To increase the scope for active transport, speed restriction measures should be adopted in residential areas. Different categories of road-users should be separated as far as possible. Local infrastructure should be adapted to the needs of pedestrians, cyclists and individuals with disabilities.

Actors: Municipalities in cooperation with the National Society for Road Safety

Motivation

The infrastructure for walking and cycling is currently inadequate with regard to the needs of pedestrians, cyclists and disabled people, which leads to a high risk of accidents (16). Experience of the road environment as dangerous and insecure represents a considerable obstacle for increasing active transport especially among vulnerable groups. The risk of pedestrians being badly injured is four times as high compared to car drivers, while the risk of cyclists being injured is seven times as high (6). During the last 20 years cycle ways have been extended and other measures have also been implemented for cycle traffic, but this is far from the extent justifiable considering the development of car traffic and society's objectives for the environment, public health and transport. SIKA's follow-up of transport policy objectives (6) reports a number of worrying trends for road safety during the period 1990-2002 including more motorised vehicles on the roads, heavier vehicles and a dramatic increase in the engine power of vehicles.

According to a survey conducted by the National Society for Road Safety in the county of Stockholm, women are clearly underrepresented in the committees making decisions on municipal transport issues which according to National Society for Road Safety, would explain why road safety has not increased and why speed has not decreased (18). The majority of motorised traffic in Sweden exceeds the applicable speed regulations which increases the risks especially for those unprotected in traffic such as pedestrians and cyclists (9,17). A report commissioned by SIKA of the representation of women and men in decision-making bodies in the national transport sector revealed a clear male dominance especially among managing directors and chairpersons (19). The latest statistics published by the National Road Administration (9) shows that women walk and cycle more, use public transport to a greater extent, and drive cars less than men. The Road Administration's regular road safety questionnaire indicated that women are more positive to 30 km zones where cars and pedestrians meet in traffic, more women than men report that they always or almost always use a seatbelt and women believe to a greater extent that it is reasonable to reduce speed to increase road safety.

All things considered there is cause to assume that a more equal distribution of the sexes in the transport sector at all levels would favour pedestrian and cycle traffic since women use these types of transport to a greater extent, are more positively inclined towards road safety. Women in general are more positive towards active and public transport than men. In addition to stimulating physical activity, reduced car travel would reduce air and noise pollution which comprise a threat to health (20).

It is well-established that many different methods can be used to reduce traffic speed and the risk of collisions with pedestrians and cyclists, including better signalling systems at crossings, the construction of roundabouts and separate pedestrian and cycle paths, street notices encouraging caution among pedestrians, speed bumps and narrower lanes (21). A review of attitudes to 30 km zones and road safety in the Stockholm region indicated that a large majority of those asked were in favour of the introduction of 30 km zones in residential areas and that it was important to take measures to improve safety for pedestrians and cyclists even if this meant narrower lanes and slower speeds for car users. In the City of Stockholm there are plans to implement 30 km zones throughout the inner city area apart from major through-roads.

Measure 61

The work of the Swedish Road Administration with children and young people in traffic should be given a high priority.

Actors: The Swedish Road Administration in cooperation with the Institute of Public Health and the Swedish Association of Municipalities

Motivation

A supportive environment for physical activity is especially important for children and young people. For many children who are not interested in sports active transport to and from school is an extra important opportunity for physical activity. Children are especially vulnerable in traffic since, compared to adults, they have less experience of coping with traffic, they are less visible and they do not have such a good overview of their surroundings (23). The distance a child travels to and from school/pre-school and recreation activities represents good opportunities for spending time outdoors and being physically active, but developments in society have meant that fewer children walk or cycle to school and that children increasingly are being transported to schools by their parents by car (16, 24). The helmet legislation introduced at the turn of the year 2004/ 2005 for children up to 15 years is an important step in reducing serious cycle accidents but is in itself insufficient to prevent accidents if many more people take up cycling.

A comparative study indicated that seven year-olds in a completely traffic separated area had greatest freedom of movement while children in areas with traffic in or close by had limited freedom of movement to school, green areas and to friends (24). As the sector authority responsible, the Swedish Road Administration should create the best long-term conditions for children's freedom of movement, accessibility and safety in physical planning and transport work by, for instance, creating safer and more secure local environments and transport routes to schools and recreation facilities (25).

The Road Administration's strategy for children and young people (25) has several general objectives including halving the number of people killed and seriously injured by the year 2007, to increase children's accessibility to school and recreation facilities and knowledge about children in the road transport system. The strategy stresses that children should be able to move around in society without being dependent on adults and that children's outdoor environment should be seen as a developmental and educational environment. The strategy states that comprehensive measures are needed to achieve these objectives.

A number of other policy documents emphasise children's needs and conditions as the highest priority in decisions regarding the design of the transport system and its function including the government bill on 'Transport policy for sustainable development' (26), the government report on children and young people's welfare (27), environmental quality objectives (28) and the fourth WHO Council of Ministers Conference on environment and health in Budapest in June 2004 (29). The area has also been highlighted by the Institute of Public Health following up public health policy through the indicator 'the number of children who can get to school on their own' included in the forthcoming public health policy report.

References

- 1. Craig CL, Brownson RC, Cragg SE, Dunn AL. Exploring the effect of the environment on physical activity: A study examining walking to work. Am J Prev Med 2002;23(2S):36-43.
- Hillsdon M, Foster C, Naidoo B, Crombie H. The effectiveness of public health interventions for increasing physical activity among adults: a review of reviews. London: Health Development Agency, NHS; 2004. Evidence briefing 1st edition.
- The Institute of European Food Studies. A Pan-EU Survey on Consumers Attitudes to Physical Activity, Body-Weight and Health. Dublin (Ireland): Trinity College; 1998.
- 4. Vägverket. Nationell strategi för ökad och säker cykeltrafik. Borlänge: Vägverket; 2000. Nr 2000:8.
- 5. Trafikutskottets betänkande 2001/02:TU2 Infrastruktur för ett långsiktigt hållbart transportsystem.
- 6. SIKA. Uppföljning av det transportpolitiska målet och dess delmål. Statens institut för kommunikationsanalys; 2004. SIKA rapport 2004:3.
- 7. Regeringen proposition 2001/02:20 Infrastruktur för ett långsiktigt hållbart transportsystem.
- 8. Vägverket. Förslag till nationell plan för vägtransportsystemet. Vägverket; 2004. Nr 2004-2015.
- 9. Vägverket. Fickfakta 2004 Vägverket, vägar och trafik. 2004. Publikation 2004:30.
- Spolander K, Dellensten B. Mer cykeltrafik på säkrare vägar: Uppföljning av Vägverkets nationella strategi, avsiktsförklaring och handlingsplan. Vägverket; 24 juni 2003. Slutrapport.
- 11. Spolander K, Dellensten B. Cykelvägar och den nationella vägdatabasen NVDB. 2004. Slutrapport 2004-07-01.
- 12. Saelensminde K. Gang- och sykkelvegnett i norske byer. Nytte-kostnadsanalyser inkludert helseeffekter og eksterne kostnader av motoriseert vegtrafikk. 2002. TOI rapport 567/2002.
- Naturvårdsverket. Vilken är den samhällsekonomiska nyttan av cykeltrafikåtgärder? Försök till förbättring av beslutsunderlaget. Stockholm: Utkast. November 2004.
- Kågeson P. Gång- och cykelvägsinvesteringar i förslag till nationell plan för vägtransportsystemet 2004-2115 samt förslag till länstransportplaner. Stockholm: Nature Associates; 2003. 2003-03-19.
- 15. SIKA. Den nationella reseundersökningen. Stockholm: Statens institut för kommunikationsanalys och Statistiska centralbyrån; 2002. Res 2001.
- Ahlström I. På cykel för miljö och hälsa. Länsstyrelsen i Stockholms län; 2004. Rapport 2004:21.
- 17. Vägverket. Regional statistik: Olycksfallsutvecklingen i Stockholms län 1998–2002. Borlänge: Vägverket; 2003. www.vv.se.
- 18. Hallenberg L. Jämställdhet i trafiknämnder. Nationalföreningen för trafiksäkerhetens främjande. Stockholms län; 2004 notat 0408.

- 19. Markör. Representation av kvinnor och män i beslutande organ inom transportsektorn. En kartläggning på uppdrag av SIKA. Örebro: Markör; 2004.
- 20. WHO, UNECE. Transport-related health effects with a particular focus on children. Towards an integrated assessment of their costs and benefits. State of the art knowledge, methodological aspects and policy directions. Topic report Physical Activity. World Health Organization/Europe & UNECE; 2003. Transport, Health and Environment Pan-European programme – The PEP.
- Retting RA, Ferguson SA, Hakkert AS. A review of evidence-based traffic engineering measures designed to reduce pedestrian-motor vehicle crashes. Am J Publ Health 2003;93(9):1456-63.
- 22. Gustavsson H-Å. 30 km på bostadsgator: Kunskapsöversikt om attityder till 30zoner, trafiksäkerhet m m. Stockholm: Utrednings- och statistikkontoret; 2004.
- 23. Frank LD, Engelke PO, Schmid TL. Health and Community Design: The Impact of the Built Environment on Physical Activity. London: Island Press; 2003.
- 24. Björklid P. Children's outdoor environment: a study of children's outdoor activities on two housing estates from the perspective of environmental and developmental psychology. Lund, Stockholm: LiberGleerup, Stockholm Institute of Education, Department of Educational Research; 1982.
- 25. Vägverket. Kundgruppsdokument. Barn och unga. Borlänge: Vägverket; 16 juli 2004.
- 26. Regeringens proposition 1997/98:56 Transportpolitik för en hållbar utveckling.
- 27. SOU 2001:55 Hälsa och välbefinnande. Barns och ungdomars välfärd. Forskarantologi från kommittén Välfärdsbokslut.
- 28. SOU 2000:52 Betänkande från Miljömålskommittén.
- 29. WHO. Fourth Ministerial Conference on Environment and Health. 2004. http://www.euro.who.int/document/e83338.pdf.

Education policy

Education policy incorporates the education of children and young people, adult education, higher education and study grants. According to the objective for education policy, Sweden should be a leading knowledge-based nation characterised by highquality education and lifelong learning.

School activities are ruled by school legislation and work environment legislation. The job of schools regarding knowledge objectives has been established in the national curricula and course plans while the basic legislation regarding employer responsibility for the working environment can be found in the Work Environment Act (Chapter 3, Sections 2 and 2a). Together the regulations should ensure that schools provide a good environment for work and study. The school principal should conduct work environment activities in cooperation with personnel and pupils.

In the current national curriculum for compulsory school (Lpo 94), it is stated that 'The school is responsible for ensuring that every pupil having completed compulsory education should have basic knowledge of the determinants for good health and an understanding of the significance of individual lifestyle on health and the environment' (1). An addendum to the curriculum states that school should strive to offer all pupils daily physical activity, but nothing is included regarding the importance of dietary habits to health.

In the latest national curriculum for pre-schools (2), there are documented indications of the significance of physical activity and time spent outdoors. However, nothing in the documents refers to food and the importance of dietary habits for health.

In the curriculum for voluntary school forms, it states that the school should be aware of health and lifestyle issues and strive to provide upper secondary pupils the conditions for regular physical activity. The importance of healthy dietary habits is not mentioned.

The statements included in the curriculum regarding health and lifestyle could quite simply be formulated to include the importance of dietary habits to health. Otherwise there is a risk that diet and health could disappear among the more established lifestyle issues.

Schools (pre-school, school reception classes, compulsory school, upper secondary school and after school activities) play a central role in health promotion with children and young people since they spend such a large proportion of their time at school and everyone can be reached regardless of social background. Efforts in schools can therefore have an equalising effect on social inequalities in health. School is important because it can provide knowledge concerning dietary habits, physical activity and health but also because the environment at school can convey a health-promoting lifestyle. Children learn both from their environment, from school activities are permeated by the same message about what is meant by healthy dietary habits and a physically active lifestyle. It is possible by using broad school-based measures, to reduce the development of obesity among children and young people (3). It demands investment in both knowledge acquisition and supportive environments to be effective. School healthcare also has an important function in this respect. Measures related to this can be found in the section on health care policy, Measure 19.

Vocational training courses at upper secondary school, colleges and universities which lead to professions in healthcare, nursing and child care, and the food sector are especially important since these professional groups act as health educators regarding food, physical activity and health.

In this section, measures will be presented related primarily to school and are organised so that measures which have the Government as principle actor come first, those which have an authority as principle actor come second, followed by those measures with municipalities/schools as actors. Finally, measures are presented related to education leading to occupations within healthcare, school and nursing and child care at upper secondary schools and colleges/universities. In the section on food policy, there are measures related to guidelines for food in schools (Measure 48) and supplementary training of teachers and other personnel (Measure 46)

Measure 62

The new Education Act should include the concept of 'health' in its opening paragraph. Under the Act, meals served in pre-school, compulsory school and upper secondary school should be in line with national nutrition recommendations.

Actor: Government

Motivation

Good health is a prerequisite for learning (4). Recent Swedish and international research has increasingly underlined the central role played by schools in the health of children and young people. If society is to live up to the third public health objective approved by Parliament, namely, secure and favourable conditions during childhood and adole-scence, support should be provided to promote the health of pupils in the form of a more prominent place in modern education legislation. The Education Act is currently under revision and the National Institute of Public Health has included in its consultation response (5) that health should be introduced in the opening paragraph Chapter 1 Section 3 with the following wording: 'The purpose of education is to provide knowledge and skills, to promote *health* and general personal development and lifelong enthusiasm for learning.' (The addendum is in italics.) This wish is consistent with the widely held conviction in society that school has an important role to play in promoting health, including dietary habits and physical activity among children and young people.

Children who seldom eat school lunch, eat more sweets, feel more fatigue, suffer from more headaches, nausea and stomach ache and have worse marks. Characteristic for upper secondary pupils who feel fatigue, suffer lack of energy and perform worse in tests are those who have poor breakfast habits (6).

Schools are obliged to serve lunch free of charge to all children at compulsory schools in accordance with the Education Act. On the other hand, there is no legislated minimum quality requirement for school lunch, nor any requirements regarding the length of the break, the time of the lunch or the canteen environment. If school is to contribute to a health-promoting lifestyle, it is obvious that the food served should be

nutritious. The Education Act is currently under revision and this is therefore an excellent opportunity to introduce the proposal above. We propose that guidelines for food in school should be formulated by the National Food Administration – see Measure 48 in the section on food policy.

Measure 63

Domestic and Consumer Science should be introduced as a core subject in upper secondary school.

Actor: Government

Motivation

Domestic and Consumer Science is not available at upper secondary school. Today, upper secondary pupils receive virtually no instruction on the issue of food and health or lifestyle issues generally. A new subject should be introduced at upper secondary school preparing pupils for the future as active and informed consumers with a sustainable lifestyle in focus. The commercial pressure on children and young people has increased which also demands greater knowledge. A functioning market requires informed consumers who make conscious choices of goods and services. Young consumers must be able to make conscious choices which are beneficial to health, both in shops and in restaurants.

Measure 64

Funding should be distributed by the Swedish National Agency for School Improvement to schools wishing to develop pilot projects on healthy dietary habits and physical activity.

Actor: Government

Cost: EUR 2.2 million per year

Motivation

School-based programmes, including also after school care, about dietary habits and physical activity should be developed. There are a number of ideas and considerable interest at many schools to work more actively, innovatively and in an integrated way with activities related to these issues. Starting up such work often requires material, acquisition of knowledge and opportunities to benefit from the experience of others. Not least, opportunities are needed for different categories of school personnel to develop cooperation and consensus regarding dietary habits and physical activity. Evaluation and documentation of a consistently high scientific quality, for example through cooperation with universities and university colleges, should be part of these projects. A study of four Stockholm suburbs demonstrated that children in grade 6 were knowledgeable about the link between diet, physical activity and health (18). Children

167

from socio-economically strong areas also experienced that they had the chance to make conscious choices themselves, something which was not as apparent among children from socio-economically weaker areas. Schools in poorly resourced areas therefore have an especially important task to create greater awareness of attitudes to diet, physical activity and health so that knowledge and actions can interface more consistently. There is positive experience both from Sweden and abroad that education in diet and physical activity, in combination with increased accessibility to fruit, better school meals and the involvement of parents, can lead to better dietary habits and increased physical activity (7-11). The National Centre for the Promotion of Physical Activity among Children and Young People (NCFF) has an important function for this type of development in schools through its agenda to support schools in health promo-tion activities. The NCFF should work to integrate diet and physical activity into its activities.

Measure 65

Issues of diet and physical activity should be integrated with, and occupy a central role in sustainable development education in schools and higher education.

Actor: Government

Motivation

The UN has decided that education for sustainable development should become a priority area for the period 2005-2014. The Government has, in response to this, investigated the ways in which the education system at all levels can work towards economic, social and environmental sustainable development (12). Against the background of this overriding priority and considering the close link between environmental and public health objectives, it is important that dietary habits and physical activity are integrated and made a central part of the development of curricula in schools towards sustainable development.

In the government document 'A Swedish Strategy for Sustainable Development' (2003/04:129), sustainable dietary habits from a health perspective are presented as an important aspect of sustainable consumption. Eating in accordance with the currently applicable recommendations for nutrition can contribute to the achievement of a number of the objectives. The choice of food products can be adapted to better contribute to public health while at the same time generating as little negative environmental impact as possible. That these aspects are feasibly compatible has been illustrated in several reports (13-16).

Increased physical activity among the population can also be seen as an important component in sustainable development. More or less all the measures towards increasing people's levels of physical activity contribute to sustainable development and many of the environmental quality objectives can contribute to improving conditions for people to engage in physical activity.

Increased physical activity and healthy dietary habits can contribute to economic sustainability. Partly, physical activity and changes in diet can replace or complement

elements of pharmaceutical treatments and, partly, physical activity and healthy dietary habits can also prevent many widespread diseases among the population. In this way the cost of medical care is reduced as well as loss of productivity.

The enquiry regarding learning for sustainable development (12) concludes that the steering system for the school sector and higher education sector promotes education for sustainable development but that the necessary integration of economic, social and environmental dimensions is lacking. In most activities the focus continues to be exclusively on environmental issues. Teachers express uncertainty about how the perspective for sustainable development should be made more concrete in pedagogical activities and request supplementary courses. This might explain why the learning that actually takes place, required by education for sustainable development, appears to be inadequate with scope for a greater degree of inter-disciplinary cooperation. The enquiry (12) proposes, in this context, that the Education Act and Higher Education Act should be amended so that it becomes more apparent that activities should promote all dimensions of sustainability, which would include a holistic perspective on environment and health, economic and social welfare and justice.

Measure 66

Continued funding and an extended mandate should be given to the National Centre for the Promotion of Physical Activity in schools so that it can work towards the integration of healthy dietary habits and physical activity and also include pre-schools.

Actor: Government Cost: EUR 630, 000 per year

Motivation

According to an addendum to the Education Act of 2003 (17-18), schools should strive to offer all pupils daily physical activity within the framework of the entire school day. The Government would like to establish a broad general perspective on physical activity and for this reason it is not just an issue for the subject area physical education. It is up to each school, however, to find ways of offering pupils some form of physical activities on the basis of local conditions. Schools need support and ideas for how they could work to stimulate increased physical activity. In 2004 the National Centre for the Promotion of Physical Activity for Children and Young People NCFF (19) was established for this purpose. The NCFF consists of a national board, an office based at Örebro University, and a science council. The NCFF on the basis of schools' general objectives and guidelines, should support schools in their work to increase physical activity and other health-promoting activities. This centre could serve as a model for a setting-oriented resource centre within a specific area of health.

Current tasks are primarily supervision and guidance, method support, knowledge support, evaluation and follow-up. The Swedish Agency for School Improvement

169

regularly reports to the Government the extent to which schools succeed in realising this objective.

Experience so far suggests that the principals' and/or school governors' interest and support for physical activity are decisive in whether or not a school is successful in implementing this in everyday activities. A political base and support in the local school plan and among administration managers are also factors for success. Schools that have adopted a holistic approach to the concept 'health-promoting school' (WHO-concept) have often also had more success with physical activity (J. Transqvist, NCFF, personal communication).

NCFF resources are currently focused on compulsory school and upper secondary school. In the future the centre could also contribute to the integration of physical activity and dietary habits as well as including the activities of pre-schools, and should therefore have an extended mandate and the necessary economic resources for the task.

Measure 67

The school subject Sport and Health (physical education) should be further developed and quality assured. The needs of low-activity children should be given particular consideration, as should the gender perspective in education.

Actor: Swedish National Agency for Education

Motivation

The school subject Sport and Health has undergone considerable changes in focus and content but is one of the subjects most appreciated by pupils year after year. An evaluaion of Sport and Health in 2002 (17) pointed out both the positive and negative aspects. Among the positive aspects were the emphasis of the subject having been shifted towards physical activity and play. A majority of both pupils and PE teachers enjoy the subject and the pupils who take part reported that they learnt a lot while teachers reported that the time and space for the subject is relatively constant and that absentee-ism has not increased. On the other hand there were a number of problems. A significant number of pupils felt that they did not participate or were active enough in the subject with negative consequences for learning and attitudes to physical activity. They also felt that they were clumsy and bad at the subject and were not given the same chance as some more active pupils to show what they could do. The subject appears to meet the needs and interests of boys to a large extent and the wishes of girls were often overshadowed.

Absenteeism from upper secondary schools and the fact that private schools do not have Sport and Health to the same extent as municipal schools, are other problems highlighted in the report. The evaluation indicated that there was a need for quality development in the subject to ensure that everyone feels satisfied and experience that they are participating in the instruction provided – girls and boys, those interested in sports and those who are less active. Official statistics indicate a difference in participation between the sexes and grades in Sport and Health.

During the academic year 2001/02, 7.3 per cent of pupils in grade 9 (6.2 per cent boys, 8.5 per cent girls) did not achieve a pass in the subject. This is the only school subject in which girls to a larger extent than boys, fail in grade 9 (17). Girls are also less active during lessons. Almost seven of ten boys in grade 9 always attend lessons and exert themselves physically. For girls barely half as many, three out of ten, always attend lessons in Sport and Health, get out of breath and sweaty. Thirty-five per cent of the girls do not exercise much compared with 14 per cent of the boys. There is a considerable need therefore to observe the needs and interests of girls to a greater extent, for instance by introducing dance, music and physical activity.

Outdoor recreation is a form of physical education that could potentially interest children and young people who are not interested in sports and this should therefore be given higher priority. According to Lpo94, outdoor recreation activities are a central part of the subject Sport and Health. The course plan makes the link between outdoor recreation and an interest in nature and environmental issues. Through instruction pupils should acquire knowledge and skills in pursuing outdoor recreation. The aim is to awaken interest for outdoor recreation, nature and the environment and to stimulate an awareness of protecting and conserving nature and the environment. At compulsory school there were 3.75 whole days and 2.34 half days of outdoor recreation activities on average during the academic year 2000/01. At upper secondary school there were somewhat fewer days with 2.42 whole days and 1.75 half days during the same year. There is considerable variation between schools. Outdoor recreation days are characterised by sports activities rather than outdoor recreation and the PE teachers assess pupil's knowledge of outdoor recreation to be lacking. Compulsory school does not appear to be fulfilling its function in offering all young people the same conditions for participating in outdoor recreation thereby counteracting social stratification (18).

Another component that should have greater scope in physical education is the training of motor skills. As the motor capacities are developed the ability to feel a sense of security and self-confidence is also reinforced (8). Motor skills can therefore have considerable significance for how play and sport are experienced and appreciated (20). If children acquire basic motor skills there are better chances that they will also experience joy in movement and feel the desire to engage in physical activity both as young people and later in life (21). Adequate motor skills are a prerequisite for being able to take part in organised physical activity (22). This indicates how important it is that the exercise of basic motor skills is given adequate time for training movement and that this training is provided specifically during the early years. Observation of motor skills in the Bunkeflo project demonstrated that only 43 per cent of pupils had good motor skills when they started school equivalent to what can be expected of 6-7 yearolds (8). Four out of ten pupils in grade 6 had minor or major motor deficiencies, and boys in grades 6 and 9 were assessed to have better motor skills than girls of the same age (23). Several studies have shown that children with deficient motor skills when they start school have problems with reading and writing later on at school. The results of the Bunkeflo project demonstrate that the degree of motor skill deficiency is associated with school performance in Swedish and maths (8). According to the national curriculum, Lpo94 (24), school has a special responsibility for pupils who have deficiencies in motor skills or other difficulties in conjunction with body movement and outdoor recreation

Measure 68

Quality indicators for education as regards healthy dietary habits, physical activity and health and for health-promoting environments with respect to diet and physical activity in pre-schools and schools should be developed and included in inspection, assessment and evaluation activities.

Actor: Swedish National Agency for Education

Measure 69

The quality audits of the work of pre-schools and schools performed by municipalities should include a report on how the environment promotes healthy dietary habits and physical activity. Teaching on healthy dietary habits and health should also form one of the indicator domains.

Actor: Municipalities

Motivation

The activities of schools are evaluated and followed regularly partly through the quality audits conducted by the municipalities and partly through National Agency for Education inspections. The audits are primarily an aid for the school's own work with quality development. Quality audits for schools are currently under investigation and will in the future be controlled to a greater extent nationally by the National Agency for Education (25). It is important to pay attention to indicators for teaching of dietary habits and physical activity and to ensure that health-promoting environments are developed with regard to food and physical activity and are included in the reporting from municipal and/or national level.

Measure 70

The subject Domestic and Consumer Science should be reinforced. Particular emphasis should be placed on the importance of diet and health and knowledge of food marketing. The gender perspective in teaching should be considered.

Actor: Municipalities/principals

Motivation

Subject areas are described in the course plan which establishes the objectives for teaching in each separate subject. Teaching about food and health takes place within the subject Domestic and Consumer Science and to some extent within Sport and Health. In the course plans for social sciences, Swedish, biology and natural sciences at compulsory and upper secondary school level there is a possible interpretation open to the inclusion of food and health. However, only in Domestic and Consumer Science and in sport and health does it specifically state that this has to be included. Domestic and

consumer science includes food, meals, nutrition and health. In addition, the subject should also teach pupils to critically examine the range of food products and make sound choices for their own health and the health of others. An important aspect of consumer science is learning to evaluate messages, handle marketing and become critical consumers. Within the subject domestic and consumer science there is also scope to practically apply knowledge about what is healthy food by cooking and tasting the food. The subject is compulsory at compulsory school but represents only 0.75 per cent of the total teaching in compulsory school and is in terms of time the school's most minor subject. It would seem unrealistic with so little time available to take up all the aspects the subject incorporates. The subject should focus on the significance to health of dietary habits and on examination of the marketing of food products. It should be a goal that all teachers are qualified and that the premises are adequate and well equipped.

Domestic and consumer science has recently been evaluated (26). The evaluation indicates that both parents and pupils are positive to the subject and that it is useful and valuable for everyday life. On the other hand, the subject displays shortcomings regarding equality objectives. Of all subjects taught this subject displays the greatest difference in results between boys and girls. Those who conducted the study summarise that domestic and consumer science has considerable development potential by taking up issues such as the environment, food, meals, health and consumption.

Measure 71

After-school care that includes physical activity should be developed and quality assured within the education system.

Actors:

Municipalities and principals in cooperation with the National Sports Confederation

Motivation

As part of the drive to stimulate more children to be physically active and develop skills on equal terms, so called sports schools were established in the 1980s which were also taken up by the National Sports Confederation's School for Sports (Sportis) as a noncompetitive recreation activity based in the local community and primarily directed to children up to 12 years old (27). Sports school should be seen as an opportunity for children, especially the most sedentary, to reach the recommended 60 minutes of physical activity per day. The objectives for sports school are:

- to provide all children with opportunities to train movement which is adapted to individual development levels and which enhances self-esteem and self-confidence.
- To provide girls and boys equal opportunities to engage in sport.
- To offer children fun and varied training such as creating a lasting interest for physical activity through challenges and stimulus.
- To allow children to try out and learn the basics of different sports so that they can make their own choices of sports activities later on.

Instructors are largely parents to children in the groups who work in an instructor team comprising 2-4 instructors for a group of around 15-20 children. In the context of the state allocating just over EUR 110 million extra to sports, known as the Handshake with Sport, the money can now be applied for by sports clubs for organised sports activities in school and after school hours. Through the sports schools, children are provided with motor training, a taste for physical activity and a good environment in which to increase their self-confidence and self-esteem.

Measure 72

Work on healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity in schools should be integrated with the efforts to strengthen social relationships and mental health.

Actor: Municipalities/school principals

Motivation

Social skills and competence (such as a positive self image) are important protective factors to combat risk behaviours or which contribute to a healthier lifestyle and better mental health (28). The psycho-social working environment in school is important for children's health. Social support and social integration appears to have a positive effect on both mental and physical health partly because it promotes self-esteem, self-confidence and develops social competence. Earlier research has shown that there is a link between mental ill-health and low self-esteem (29) and several studies indicate also that there is a link between overweight and low self-esteem (30-31). In a recent Swedish study (31) the self-esteem of young people was linked to lifestyle. Young people with low self-esteem ate unhealthy food more often and had more irregular meal patterns than others. Boys with low self-esteem also had a higher BMI and larger waist circumference than those with high self-esteem. Young people with low self-esteem were more sedentary and less physically active than those with high self-esteem. In another Swedish study (32) it was shown that training and exercise affected young people's self image and body image in a positive way. It was also shown that among girls who became inactive at an early age as teenagers, structured exercise and training programmes over a six month period were able to reduce a special type of worry/anxiety that others would judge their bodies negatively. It is also worth noting that low self-esteem is often followed by other symptoms and problems among young people such as loneliness, depression, cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption (33).

Friendships at school are related to mental health among Swedish children and young people (34). The link between good social relations and mental well-being is clear at individual level and has also been seen at school class level (35). In school classes where there are marginalised children the pupils generally were less happy than in other school classes which indicates that the existence of marginalised children is an indication that there are problematical relationships in the group as a whole.

Health promoting school-based programmes including school healthcare, personnel courses, pedagogical measures in the classroom and special measures for groups of high-risk pupils should be developed (36). It is also of great importance to

continually follow up indicators in this field in Sweden in the same way as welfare surveys among children and young people are conducted for example by Barn-ULF (*Children – survey on living conditions*). Integrated measures against overweight and eating disorders should be developed so that pupils should not be confronted with contradictory messages (37). It is especially important that self-esteem is enhanced, by strengthening social relationships. There is good potential that this measure could prevent eating disorders and create conditions for pupils to develop healthy dietary habits and increased physical activity.

Vocational programmes at upper secondary school and university colleges/universities

Measure 73

Vocational upper secondary school programmes leading to jobs in healthcare, preschool, the food sector and social services, such as nursing assistants, catering staff and child carers, should contain the core subjects of diet, physical activity and health.

Actors: Government and the Swedish National Agency for Education

Measure 74

University/university college programmes on healthy dietary habits, physical activity and health education should be developed. These could be included as optional or compulsory components of vocational programmes aimed at jobs within education, social services, healthcare and food inspection.

Actors: Universities and university colleges

Motivation

Many occupational groups, especially within the caring professions, schools and nursing and childcare, provide in their professional capacity, advice about food and physical activity and also have to take a position on these factors in their occupations. Environmental and health inspectors, restaurant personnel and people with personnel responsibilities are groups which have influence on the food served in different contexts. The public, parents and patients have considerable confidence in the occupations within childcare, school and nursing. Furthermore, often they find themselves meeting these professionals in life situations when they are strongly receptive to advice and information. This is the case especially for pregnant women, parents of young children and patients. People in lower socio-economic groups especially seem to have confidence in these professions (38). At the same time these professions meet large parts of the population. Personnel at pre-school and school meet all children for long periods and act as conveyors of health-promoting lifestyles in their attitudes to and knowledge about dietary habits and physical activity. Personnel within maternity and child healthcare meet all pregnant women and parents of young children. Personnel within the dental services meet all children annually and 80 per cent of the adult population over a two-year period (R. Svensson. Swedish Dental Association, personal communication).

Many of these professional groups lack or have inadequate competence regarding food, physical activity and the link with health and especially the way in which this knowledge is passed on to motivate changes in behaviour. The latter is not least important with regard to vulnerable groups and groups with different ethnic back-grounds. In a recent survey considerable deficiencies were found in the teaching of diet and nutrition in education, care and nursing programmes (39). Nutritional science and dietetics was not part of the course plan on the childcare, after-school care or on the teacher training programmes. The same applied to nursing programmes and care programmes in which nutritional science was not offered as an independent subject. Nutrition recommendations for healthy and ill people including the special needs of the elderly should be a priority subject on these programmes. On programmes for chefs and cooks there was no extensive teaching of nutritional science. Teacher training programmes did not include or had very limited courses on food, physical activity and health (1).

All trainee teachers take a general education course comprising 60 points. Since the Government wants to highlight the concept of sustainable development the teacher training programmes should emphasise the significance of dietary habits and physical activity to health and to sustainable development more. The training of principals does not include any aspects of food, physical activity and health. In interviews with principals in four Stockholm suburbs it was found that the principals act on the basis of the social conditions in the areas in which they work when they identify what is the school's responsibility and what is the home's responsibility for children's food habits. Within the framework of the forthcoming review of training programmes for principals which the Agency for School Improvement will be conducting, the authority should observe these issues with the aim of reinforcing them in the training programme. Different training programmes in the care sector include nutrition in some programmes although to a very limited extent. A condition for school personnel to be able to convey an attitude to food and physical activity in a health-promoting way, and that care personnel should be able to talk to patients and promote changes in behaviour, is that they have better knowledge of the importance of diet and physical activity to health and methods of health communication.

Training programmes for occupational groups in the education sector (child carers, pre-school teachers, teachers of younger and older children, upper secondary teachers, principals, after-school care personnel and social pedagogues) should include aspects of the significance of diet and activity to health, how to promote a healthy environment regarding diet and physical activity, along with elements about outdoor recreation, outdoor pedagogy and consumer science.

Training programmes for occupational groups in the healthcare sector (nursing assistants, nurses, doctors, physiotherapists, dentists, dental nurses, dental hygienists, nursing personnel) should include courses in nutrition, the significance of diet and physical activity to health, course on how to successfully convey and communicate messages concerning changes in dietary habits and other lifestyle habits, especially to socially exposed groups, through motivational interviews along with pedagogical methods for enhancing positive interplay between parents and children.

Training for personnel in the food sector (environmental and health inspectors, restaurant personnel) should include courses in nutrition, basic nutrition calculations of meals and regulations for symbol labelling.

177

Measure 75

The number of places on teacher-training programmes in Domestic and Consumer Science should be increased, as should the scope for students on teacher training programmes at other universities/university colleges to supplement their studies with such courses.

Actors: University/university colleges

Motivation

There are too few domestic and consumer science teachers in schools today. Only 42 per cent of the posts are filled by qualified teachers. It is not possible to strengthen this subject without more qualified teachers. The average age is high and the need for qualified teachers in this subject will increase in the next few years.
References

- 1. Rosén M. Mat och hälsa i undervisningen Skolan och lärarutbildningen. Livsmedelsverkets rapport 13/2004.
- 2. Utbildningsdepartementet; 1998. Läroplan för förskolan, Lpfö 98.
- 3. SBU. Förebyggande åtgärder mot fetma. En systematisk litteraturöversikt. Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering; november 2004.
- 4. Bremberg S. Att minska sociala skillnader i hälsa bland barn och unga underlag till en nationell strategi. Socialmedicinsk Tidskrift. In press.
- 5. Dnr 21-03-0153. Remissvar till SOU 2002:121.
- Nordlund, G, Jacobsson T. Gymnasieelevernas matvanor. Del 2. Om gymnasieelevers matvanor och attityder till skolmåltider och måltidssituationer i skolan och hemma samt konsekvenser av skolmåltidsavgifter. Pedagogiska institutionen, Umeå universitet; 1999. Pedagogisk rapport nr 57.
- Boström M, Garback A, Nyberg G, Wikzén M, Karpmyr M, Marcus M. STOPP: Stockholm Obesity Prevention Project: A school-based obesity prevention among 6–10 year old children. International Journal of Obesity 2004;28(Supp 1):189.
- 8. Ericsson I. Motorik, koncentrationsförmåga och skolprestationer: en interventionsstudie i skolår 1–3. Malmö: Malmö högskola; 2003.Doktorsavhandling.
- 9. UK Department of Health. The National School Fruit Scheme. NHS and Healthy Schools 2002. www.dod.gov.uk/schoolfruitscheme.
- Gortmaker SL, Peterson K, Wiecha J, Sobal AM, Dixit S, Fox N. Reducing obesity via a school-based interdisciplinary intervention among youth: Planet Health. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine 1999:153;409-18.
- 11. Northern Rivers Area Health Service Health Promotion. The Tooty Fruity Vegie (TFV) Project. Report posted on NSW Health Promoting Schools website http://www.health.nsv.gov.au/public-health/health-promotion/settings/schools/case-studies.html.
- 12. SOU 2004:104. Att lära för en hållbar utveckling.
- 13. Naturvårdsverket. Att äta för en bättre miljö. Naturvårdsverket; 1997. Rapport 4830.
- 14. Nordic Council of Ministers. Factor 4 and 10 in the Nordic Countries, the Transport Sector – the Forest Sector – the Building and real Estate Sector – the Food Supply Chain. Nordic Council of Ministers; 1999. Tema Nord Environment.
- Swedish Environmental Protection Agency. A Sustainable Food Supply Chain

 A Swedish Case Study. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency; 1999.
 Report 4966.
- 16. Pimentel D, et al., red. Ecological integrity; integrating environment, conservation and health. Washington (DC): Island Press; 2000.
- 17. SKOLFS 2003:17 Förordning om ändring i förordningen (SKOLFS 1994:1) om läroplan för det obligatoriska skolväsendet, förskoleklassen och fritidshemmet, 2003-02-27.
- 18. SKOLFS 2003:18 Förordning om ändring i förordningen (SKOLFS 1994:2) om 1994 års läroplan för de frivilliga skolformerna, 2003-02-27.
- 19. SFS 2003:305 Förordning om Nationellt centrum för främjande av fysisk aktivitet hos barn och ungdom, 2003-05-22.

179

- 20. Åhs O. Utveckling genom lek och idrott. Stockholm: Natur och Kultur; 1986.
- Nyberg M, Tidén A. "Flå katt" är det något att kunna? Håkan Larsson och Karin Redelius (red). I: Mellan Nytta och Nöje. Bilder av ämnet idrott och hälsa. Stockholm: Idrottshögskolan i Stockholm, IHS; 2004. s. 189-204.
- 22. Okely AD, Booth ML, Patterson JW. Relationship of physical activity to fundamental movement skills among adolescents. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001;33:1899-904.
- Nyberg M, Tidén A. Bilder av ämnet idrott och hälsa. Håkan Larsson och Karin Redelius (red). I: Mellan Nytta och Nöje. Stockolm: Idrottshögskolan i Stockholm, IHS; 2004. s. 189-204.
- 24. Utbildningsdepartementet 1994 Läroplan för det obligatoriska skolväsendet, förskoleklassen och fritidshemmet, Lpo94.
- 25. Regeringsbeslut 2004-07-08, nr 7.
- 26. Skolverket. Nationella utvärderingen av grundskolan 2003. Sammanfattande huvudrapport. Dnr. 75-2001:04045.
- 27. RF. Sportis Idrottsskola med barn i centrum. RF broschyr: Riksidrottsförbundet; 2004. http://www.rf.se/files/%7BCABF29F3-6018-4D2A-B4DA-2880C9DA29B7%7D.pdf.
- 28. Ogden T. Social kompetens och problembeteende i skolan kompetensutvecklande och problemlösande arbete. Stockholm: Liber AB; 2003.
- 29. Guillon MS, Crocq MA, Bailey PE. The relationship between self-esteem and psychiatric disorders in adolescents. Eur Psychiatry 2003;18:59-62.
- 30. French SA, Story M, Perry CL. Self-esteem and obesity in children and adolescents: a literature review. Obesity Reviews 1995;3:479-90.
- Rasmussen F, Eriksson M, Bokedal C, Schäfer Elinder L. COMPASS en studie i sydvästra Storstockholm. Fysisk aktivitet, matvanor, övervikt och självkänsla bland ungdomar. Stockholm: Samhällsmedicin och Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2004. R 2004:1.
- Lindwall M. Exercising the Self: On the Role of Exercise, Gender and Culture in Physical Self-Perceptions. Stockholm: Department of Psychology, Stockholm University; 2004.
- 33. Strauss RS. Childhood obesity and self-esteem. Pediatrics 2000;105(1):e15.
- 34. SOU 2001:55. Hälsa och välbefinnande. Barns och ungdomars välfärd. Forskarantologi från kommittén Välfärdsbokslut.
- 35. Östberg V. Children in classrooms: peer status, status distribution and mental wellbeing. Social Science & Medicine 2003;56:17-29.
- 36. Neumark-Sztainer D. School-based programs for preventing eating disturbances. J Sch Health 1996;66:64-71.
- 37. Neumark-Sztainer D. Obesity and eating disorder prevention: An integrated approach? Adolescent Medicine 2003;14:159-173.
- 38. Karlsson G, Hammers L, Jakobsson A. Rapport: Kommunikation av kostråd. LUI Univero. Nov 2004-11-11.
- 39. Svensk dietist och kostekonomförening. Är kunskap i näringslära viktig inom skola, vård och omsorg? 2004.

Policy for the elderly

The national objective for policy for the elderly states that older people should be able to live active lives. For older people, physical activity, training and a healthy diet is an especially important part of preventing ill health, improving physical and mental capacities and thereby maintaining both a sense of well-being and a high degree of personal independence. Four pillars have been seen to be decisive for better health among the elderly: physical activity, healthy dietary habits, social support and having a meaningful task/to feel needed (1).

Sixteen per cent of those over 65 have contact with care services or home help services, of which 7 per cent (118,600) live in sheltered housing. For those over 85 the equivalent figures are 38 and 33 per cent. Older people dependent on help and support represent a group identified at an early stage as a risk group in terms of nutrition problems (2). This is due to many different factors and problems associated with the individual such as low energy expenditure, little appetite or difficulties eating. It may also be due to problems more related to the organisation which manages meals and mealtimes for care-takers within the framework of care services. In relation to this, deficient knowledge among personnel and inappropriate meal arrangements have been found to be a problem (2). The enquiry 'Health on equal terms' states that elderly people in sheltered housing should be encouraged to engage in physical activity (3).

Measure 76

An enquiry should be set up to analyse how meals/mealtimes are organised within the elderly care service.

Actors: The National Board of Health and Welfare in cooperation with the National Food Administration, Swedish municipalities and county councils.

Cost: EUR 53, 000

Motivation

In a study into the meal activities of elderly care (4), it was found that the organisation of meals and mealtimes was unclear, both in what actually should be offered to the elderly people and who was responsible for them having the opportunity to have an adequate nutrition intake during worthy mealtimes. It is also clear that politicians and different personnel groups within the organisation were fairly dissatisfied with the food and the mealtimes offered to the elderly. At the same time they felt powerless regarding the issue and referred to someone else who they felt had more responsibility. The fact that the problems around food can be seen in both purely health and nutrition terms as well as a problem of meeting people with integrity and social needs is also a complex area difficult to handle in elderly care. Due to the complicated nature of the issues, it is considered justified to propose a special enquiry. Such an enquiry should establish:

- Any need for legislation to secure adequate dietary provision (including demands for the nutritional quality of food and the distribution of mealtimes throughout the day) in municipal elderly care.
- Responsibility at authority level.
- Criteria to be used for supervision which incorporate both food, meals and social care.
- Requirement specifications with subsequent quality follow-up in the context of procurement of meals.
- The need for a central post at the relevant authority to be responsible for issues concerning the dietary provisions for care-takers.
- Dietary competence used both in organisational issues and to support and assist personnel, the elderly and disabled and their relatives.
- Opportunities for elderly people living at home to regularly receive preventive home visits with advice concerning healthy food for elderly people.
- Forms for supporting pensioners' organisations and other voluntary associations' initiatives and efforts.

Measure 77

Guidelines and quality indicators for food and physical activity should be developed within elderly care.

Actors: Municipalities in consultation with the National Food Administration and the Institute of Public Health

Motivation

Even though the state, the county councils and the municipalities are all responsible for the care provided to the elderly, the municipalities are responsible according to the law, for healthcare and nursing provision. This responsibility encompasses also the food and meals served within activities for which the municipality is responsible. How the municipalities organise this and what resources they allocate to these activities varies considerably. This means that both the organisation of municipal care and food provision within the care service varies both in terms of form and content. There are no surveys of how Swedish municipalities organise activities concerning food and meals for those dependent on care for the elderly. In a survey of the work of municipalities/ district on diet and nutrition within elderly care, 251 questionnaires were completed of the 418 sent out (5). Of these 251 responses, only 80 municipalities/districts stated that they included diet and nutrition in their quality work.

Even though a general enquiry it is proposed at national level, municipalities should start work now on improving the meal situation and opportunities for physical activity for the elderly by working out a guide and quality indicators for food and physical activity in care of the elderly. This might include:

- Instructions that the meal provision activities of the municipality should meet national nutrition recommendations.
- Procurement of meal provision activities should be conducted with requirement specifications and quality follow-up regarding nutritional quality.
- Dietary competence should exist and be used in relation to the organisational issues and to support personnel, the elderly, the disabled and their relatives. Clarification of distribution of responsibility for diet in municipal elderly care. How access to food and drink of good quality can be secured for those who are dependent on support for this.
- How elderly people can be assured appropriate physical activity and daily time spent outdoors.

Measure 78

Elderly people should have the option of daily physical activity that is appropriate with respect to their age and health status and daily outdoor activity to improve strength, mobility, fitness, coordination and balance. Exercise programmes adapted to the needs of the elderly should be developed. Elderly people living at home should receive preventive home visits including advice on appropriate diet and physical activity.

Actors: Municipalities in cooperation with the relevant associations.

Motivation

A review of the available evidence (6) asserts factors that provide the basis for time spent outdoors having significance for health among the elderly. The positive health effects from sunlight, air and temperature, from the outdoor environment itself as well as the positive health effects of outdoor physical activities. Nine out of ten people in the age range 55-64 feel that good footpaths without large height differences and with plenty of benches at various points mean that even less mobile elderly people can get out on their own, enjoy sunshine and the natural environment, meet acquaintances and feel a sense of community (8).

From a scientific point of view, it is clear that regular physical activity and training can reduce and prevent different age-related changes (1). Men and women can improve their fitness and endurance, as well as balance, strength and mobility up to a relatively high age. Endurance training and training of strength have beneficial effects on risk factors for cardio-vascular disease, affect balance, muscle strength, function capacity and coordination which reduces the risk of falling accidents and fractures.

Physical activity also appears to be able to affect various pathological factors among elderly people. In general, available research supports the claim that physical activity among the elderly is an effective way of maintaining a high level of activity and a high degree of independence among older men and women. Fitness and strength have to be maintained, however, and the effects disappear faster for elderly than for younger people.

183

Research indicates that elderly people who change from a passive lifestyle with low daily physical activity to become active can extend independence and manage to cope on their own for a further eight to ten years, halve the risk of suffering a stroke, reduce the risk of several forms of cancer, high blood pressure and other problems. Training provides a series of positive effects on conditions such as rheumatic pain, osteoporosis, stress and body weight which is too high or too low (9).

Suitable activities include walking, dancing, gymnastics and swimming. It is never too late to start with physical activity. Older people can and have the right to develop and learn new skills.

Experience from outreach work to healthy older people living at home conducted by the home help services illustrates how important it is to have support and encouragement.

Physical activity is, along with home visits to correct dangers in the home, the most important measure to prevent fall accidents among the elderly (10). The Nordmaling project demonstrates that the preventive home visits to pensioners living at home is an efficient measure for helping the elderly to maintain good health (11).

Measure 79

Municipalities should create meeting places in the local environment that promote physical activity and healthy dietary habits among the elderly and that reduce isolation and inactivity.

Actors: Municipalities in cooperation with relevant voluntary organisations

Motivation

Aging in itself, disease and the loss of those close to us can mean a reduced social network and need for extra support to recreational activities (1).

Many elderly people need support related to their dietary habits to ensure they eat enough nutritious food, and to acquire knowledge about how to cook food themselves. Study organisations and pensioners' associations offer activities and expertise such as gymnastics for the elderly. Access to premises and cost are decisive for taking the initiative and getting people to participate.

According to the National Organisation for Pensioners and the Swedish Pensioners' Association, there are not enough meeting places for elderly people. These premises should be free or subsidised so that the elderly feel they can afford to take part in activities. Many associations for immigrants conduct activities and day centres where older people can meet. Experience indicates that the associations that have language and cultural competence are quick to recruit many elderly people to their activities. This suggests that the need is great and that meeting places fill an important function for older people (9).

The role of municipalities is to create good conditions for the volunteers and also for organisations for the elderly. Efforts were made within the framework for the Residential Services Authority set up by the Government in 1985, with the aim of stimulating cooperation at local level between the elderly and associations for older people and public and commercial services. An underlying idea was to make it easier for the elderly to remain in their homes. One experience is that municipalities can play a role as coordinators providing support and creating the necessary conditions (6).

In Älmhult, the municipality contributes to an active lifestyle and a broad network among pensioners. Cooperation takes place between the district committee for culture and that of recreation and the older people can test what voluntary organisations have to offer. The project had initial support from the Ministry of Social Affairs and is now being run by the municipality in a cross-sectoral cooperation between the county council and associations (1).

'Loket' is an open house run by elderly care services in Emmaboda municipality. It has a stated public health aim to increase people's quality of life, make it easier for elderly people to remain in their own homes and to prevent ill health and the need for care (1). Cooperation occurs between the municipality, the county council and associations. The activities have been evaluated and the results show that the development of meeting places have led to reaching people with weak networks and that this gave personnel more time for providing individual support.

Another successful example of how municipalities can create meeting places for elderly immigrants is the Bozorgan association which started a day centre in Gottsunda (Uppsala municipality) in 1996 with the aid of a grant from the Ministry for Social Affairs. The association directs attention primarily to older people from Iran and today a hundred or so women are involved in different group activities. The activities are run by Uppsala Municipality in broad cooperation with different care units and grant assessment officers. An evaluation demonstrated that the number of doctor's visits in the group has decreased by more than half (12).

References

- 1. Thille A, Hamerslag A. Folkhälsoarbete för äldre varför och hur? Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2003. R 2003:63.
- 2. FHI och SLV. Nationella mål och strategier för nutrion 1999–2004. Stockholm: Folkhälsoinstitutet och Livsmedelsverket. Rapport 1999:19.
- 3. SOU 2000:91 Hälsa på lika villkor. Nationella mål för folkhälsan.
- 4. Mattsson Sydner Y. Den maktlösa måltiden om mat inom äldreomsorgen. Uppsala: Institutionen för hushållsvetenskap, Uppsala universitet; 2002.
- 5. Socialstyrelsen. Kommunernas kost- och nutritionsarbete. Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen; 2003.
- 6. Wånell SE. Bostaden och bostadsområdets betydelse för äldres hälsa och välbefinnande. Stockholm: Stiftelsen Stockholms Läns Äldrecentrum; 2000. No. 2002:9.
- 7. SOU 2002:29 Riv ålderstrappan, delbetänkandet från Senior 2005, bilaga D, tillgänglighet och boende.
- Agahi N, Lagergren M, Thorslund M, Wånell S-E. Hälsoutveckling och hälsofrämjande insatser på äldre dar – en kunskapssammanställning. Stockholm: Stiftelsen Stockholms Läns Äldrecentrum; oktober 2004.
- 9. Wånell SE. PLUS en utvärdering av ett projekt för stöd till ledare i föreningar med verksamheter för äldre med utländsk bakgrund. Stockholm: Stiftelsen Stockholms Läns Äldrecentrum; 2002. No. 2002:6.
- Skelton D, Todd C. What are the main risk factors for falls amongst older people and what are the most effective interventions to prevent these falls? WHO Europe Health Evidence Network; 2004. http://www.euro.who.int/eprise/main/ WHO/Progs/HEN/Syntheses/Fallsrisk/20040318 1.
- 11. Sahlén KG. Effekter av förebyggande hembesök hos pigga pensionärer i Nordmaling. Umeå universitet; 2002. Cerum Working Paper 53:2002.
- 12. Berleen G. Bättre hälsa hos äldre. Stockholm: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2003. R 2003:41.